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Safe Harbor Statement Under The Private Securities Litigation Act Of 1995

The Company cautions that any forward-looking statements (as such term is defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995) contained in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q ("Report") or made by management of the Company involve risks and uncertainties and are subject to change based on various
important factors, many of which may be beyond the Company's control. Accordingly, the Company's future performance and financial results may differ
materially from those expressed or implied in any such forward-looking statements. Words such as "estimate," "project," "plan," "believe," "expect," "anticipate,"
"intend," and similar expressions may identify forward-looking statements. The following factors, among others, in some cases have affected and in the future
could affect the Company's financial performance and actual results and could cause actual results for 2001 and beyond to differ materially from those expressed
or implied in any forward-looking statements included in this Report or otherwise made by management: changes in consumer spending patterns, consumer
preferences and overall economic conditions; the potential impact of national and international security concerns on the retail environment; the impact of
competition and pricing; changes in weather patterns; political stability; postal rate increases and charges; paper and printing costs; risks associated with the
seasonality of the retail industry; risks related to consumer acceptance of the Company's products and the ability to develop new merchandise; the ability to retain,
hire and train key personnel; risks associated with the possible inability of the Company's manufacturers to deliver products in a timely manner; risks associated
with relying on foreign sources of production and availability of suitable store locations on appropriate terms. See the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K
for a more detailed discussion of these matters and other risk factors. The Company does not undertake to publicly update or revise its forward-looking statements
even if experience or future changes make it clear that any projected results expressed or implied therein will not be realized.
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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
THE LIMITED, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(Thousands except per share amounts) 
(Unaudited) 

 
    Thirteen Weeks Ended      Thirty-nine Weeks Ended

 

    November 3, 
2001  

    October 28, 
2000  

    November 3, 
2001  

    October 28, 
2000

Net sales     $ 1,906,484      $ 2,168,375      $ 6,225,440      $ 6,582,678 
Costs of goods sold, buying and occupancy      (1,339,899)       (1,448,820)      (4,296,341)       (4,422,658)

Gross income     566,585      719,555      1,929,099      2,160,020 
General, administrative and store operating expenses     (583,127)      (615,095)     (1,805,868)      (1,771,437)
Special and nonrecurring item     170,000      —      170,000      — 

 
Operating income     153,458      104,460      293,231      388,583 
Interest expense     (8,674)      (14,826)     (25,370)      (41,505)
Other income, net     2,631      4,508      15,682      25,343 
Minority interest     1,736      (6,911)     (15,253)      (33,667)
Gains on sale of stock by investees     —      —      62,102      — 

 
Income before income taxes     149,151      87,231      330,392      338,754 
Income tax expense     59,000      38,000      138,000      149,000 

Net income     $       90,151      $       49,231      $    192,392      $     189,754 
 
Net income per share:                    
Basic     $           0.21      $           0.12      $           0.45      $           0.44 

Diluted     $           0.21      $           0.11      $           0.44      $           0.42 

Dividends per share     $         0.075      $         0.075      $        0.225      $ 0.225

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

4

THE LIMITED, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 



(Thousands)

 

    November 3, 
2001

    February 3, 
2001

     October 28, 
2000

    (Unaudited)          (Unaudited)
ASSETS             

                  
Current assets:             
          Cash and equivalents     $     317,867     $     563,547     $         6,174 
          Accounts receivable     127,152     93,745     122,359 
          Inventories     1,343,329     1,157,140     1,581,682 
          Other     304,605     253,366     348,809 

Total current assets     2,092,953     2,067,798     2,059,024 
Property and equipment, net     1,391,215     1,394,619     1,352,563 
Deferred income taxes     79,433     132,028     95,572 
Other assets     593,140     493,677     509,092 

Total assets $ 4,156,741     $ 4,088,122     $ 4,016,251 

 
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

                  
 
Current liabilities:             
          Accounts payable     $   386,772     $     273,021     $     411,359 
          Commercial paper     —     —     124,080 
          Current portion of long-term debt     150,000     —     150,000 
          Accrued expenses     550,113     581,584     512,162 
          Income taxes     13,847     145,580     7,220 

Total current liabilities     1,100,732     1,000,185     1,204,821 
Long-term debt     250,000     400,000     400,000 
Other long-term liabilities     235,581     228,397     222,070 
Minority interest     142,355     143,085     101,558 
Shareholders’ equity:
          Common stock     216,096     216,096     215,817 
          Paid-in capital     60,923     83,503     75,166 
          Retained earnings     2,253,657     2,167,869     1,963,890 

     2,530,676     2,467,468     2,254,873 
          Less: treasury stock, at average cost     (102,603)     (151,013)     (167,071)

         
Total shareholders’ equity 2,428,073 2,316,455 2,087,802

  
            
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $  4,156,741 $ 4,088,122 $    4,016,251

 

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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THE LIMITED, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Thousands)

(Unaudited)

  Thirty-nine Weeks Ended

     
  November 3, 

2001

 

October 28, 
2000

Operating activities:    
 Net income $ 192,392 $ 189,754
 Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash    

provided by (used for) operating activities



Special and nonrecurring item (170,000) —
 Gains on sale of stock by investees   (62,102)   —
 Depreciation and amortization 211,614 198,544
 Minority interest, net of dividends paid (961) 16,717
 Change in assets and liabilities (net of effects from    

    sale of subsidiary):
         Accounts receivable (32,238) (13,565)
         Inventories (295,058) (530,769)
         Accounts payable and accrued expenses 

        Income taxes 
        Other assets and liabilities

117,916 
(79,138 
(29,926

  
) 
)

129,755 
(140,256

(51,899
) 
)

   
Net cash used for operating activities (147,501) (201,719)
   
Investing activities:    
 Proceeds from sale of subsidiary 280,000 —
 Capital expenditures (299,814) (318,968)
 Net expenditures related to Easton real estate investment (9,319) (20,149)
   
Net cash used for investing activities (29,133) (339,117)
   
Financing activities:    
 Net proceeds from commercial paper borrowing — 124,080
 Repayment of long-term debt — (100,000)
 Repurchase of common stock, including transaction costs 

Repurchase of Intimate Brands, Inc. common stock 
Dividends paid 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and other

— 
(7,794 

(96,798 
35,546

  
) 
)

(199,985 
(31,391 
(95,421 

32,459

) 
) 
)

   
Net cash used for financing activities (69,046) (270,258)
   
Net decrease in cash and equivalents (245,680) (811,094)
Cash and equivalents, beginning of year 563,547 817,268
   
Cash and equivalents, end of period $ 317,867 $ 6,174

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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THE LIMITED, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

1. Basis of Presentation
  
 The Limited, Inc. (the "Company") sells women's and men's apparel, women's intimate apparel and personal care products under various trade names

through its specialty retail stores and direct response (catalog and e-commerce) businesses.
  
 The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries, including Intimate Brands, Inc. ("IBI"), an 84%-owned

subsidiary. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
  
 Investments in unconsolidated entities over which the Company exercises significant influence but does not have control are accounted for using the equity

method. The Company's share of the net income or loss of those unconsolidated entities is included in other income (expense).
  

 

The consolidated financial statements as of and for the thirteen and thirty-nine week periods ended November 3, 2001 and October 28, 2000 are unaudited
and are presented pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. Accordingly, these consolidated financial statements
should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto contained in the Company's 2000 Annual Report on Form 10-K. In
the opinion of management, the accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments (which are of a normal recurring nature) necessary
for a fair statement of the results for the interim periods, but are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations for a full fiscal year.

  

 
The consolidated financial statements as of and for the thirteen and thirty-nine week periods ended November 3, 2001 and October 28, 2000 included herein
have been reviewed by the independent public accounting firm of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and the report of such firm follows the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP is not subject to the liability provisions of Section 11 of the Securities Act of 1933 for its
report on the consolidated financial statements because that report is not a "report" within the meaning of Sections 7 and 11 of that Act.

  
 Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.
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2. Special and Nonrecurring Item
  
 On August 16, 2001, the Company sold one of its apparel businesses, Lane Bryant, to Charming Shoppes, Inc. for $280 million of cash and 8.7 million

shares of Charming Shoppes, Inc. common stock valued at $55 million. On December 12, 2001, the Company received additional Charming Shoppes, Inc.



common stock valued at $4.3 million based on a final determination of Lane Bryant's net tangible assets at closing. The transaction resulted in a third quarter
pretax gain of $170 million (net of $24 million of transaction costs) and a $68 million tax provision.

  

 
As a result of the transaction, the Company owns approximately 8% of Charming Shoppes, Inc. outstanding common stock, and is prohibited from selling
the stock until August 16, 2002. The investment is accounted for using the cost method and is classified in the consolidated balance sheet as an available-for-
sale security. The market value of our investment holdings at November 3, 2001 was $41.3 million.

  
 The Company will continue to provide certain corporate services to Lane Bryant through a transition period under services agreements.
  
3. Gains on Sale of Stock by Investees
  

 

During the thirteen week period ended August 4, 2001, the Company recognized $62.1 million of pretax gains as a result of the initial public offerings
("IPO's") of Alliance Data Systems Corp. ("ADS") and Galyan's Trading Company, Inc. ("Galyan's"). ADS is a provider of electronic transaction services,
credit services and loyalty and database marketing services. Galyan's is a specialty retailer that sells outdoor and athletic equipment, apparel and footwear
and accessories. Prior to the IPO's, the Company's ownership interest in ADS and Galyan's was 31% and 37%, respectively. As of November 3, 2001, the
Company owns 14.7 million shares of ADS common stock, representing a 20% ownership interest, and 4.2 million shares of Galyan's common stock,
representing a 24% ownership interest. Deferred taxes were provided on the gains using the Company's effective tax rate. The investments are accounted for
using the equity method.

  
 The market values of the Company's investments in ADS and Galyan's common stock at November 3, 2001 were $234 million and $46 million, respectively.
  
4. Earnings Per Share and Shareholders' Equity
  

 
Earnings per basic share is computed based on the weighted average number of outstanding common shares. Earnings per diluted share includes the
weighted average effect of dilutive options and restricted stock on the weighted average shares outstanding. Additionally, earnings per diluted share includes
the impact of the dilutive options and restricted stock at IBI, which resulted in a $0.01 reduction to earnings per diluted share for the thirty-nine week period
ended October 28, 2000, but had no impact to any other reported periods.

8

Weighted average common shares outstanding (millions):

 Thirteen Weeks Ended Thirty-nine Weeks Ended
 
 

 
November 3, 

2001
October 28, 

2000
November 3, 

2001
October 28, 

2000

 
 Common shares issued 432 432 432 432
 Treasury shares (3) (7) (4) (4)

 
 Basic shares 429 425 428 428
 Dilutive effect of stock
 options and restricted shares 4 16 7 16

 
 Diluted shares 433 441 435 444

 

 
The quarterly computation of earnings per diluted share excludes options to purchase 17.8 million and 0.6 million shares of common stock at
November 3, 2001 and October 28, 2000, and the year-to-date computation of earnings per diluted share excludes options to purchase 10.8 million
and 0.8 million shares, because the options’ exercise prices were greater than the average market price of the common shares during the period.

 
5. Inventories
 

 
The fiscal year of the Company and its subsidiaries is comprised of two principal selling seasons: spring (the first and second quarters) and fall
(the third and fourth quarters). Inventories are principally valued at the lower of average cost or market, on a first-in first-out basis, using the
retail method. Inventory valuation at the end of the first and third quarters reflects adjustments for inventory markdowns for the total selling
season.

 
6. Property and Equipment, Net
 
 Property and equipment, net, consisted of (millions):

 
November 3, 

2001
February 3, 

2001
October 28, 

2000

 
 Property and equipment, at cost $ 3,092 $ 3,145 $ 3,101
 Accumulated depreciation and



    amortization (1,701) (1,750) (1,748)

               
 Property and equipment, net $ 1,391 $ 1,395 $ 1,353
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7. Income Taxes
  

 
The provision for income taxes is based on the current estimate of the annual effective tax rate. Income taxes paid during the thirty-nine weeks ended
November 3, 2001 and October 28, 2000 were $205.9 million and $268.0 million. Other current assets included net current deferred tax assets of $24.6
million at October 28, 2000. Income taxes payable included net current deferred tax liabilities of $11.1 million and $14.1 million at November 3, 2001 and
February 3, 2001.

  

 

The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has assessed the Company for additional taxes and interest for the years 1992 to 1998 relating to the undistributed
earnings of foreign affiliates for which the Company has provided deferred taxes. On September 7, 1999, the United States Tax Court sustained the position
of the IRS with respect to the 1992 year. In connection with an appeal of the Tax Court judgment, in 1999 the Company made a $112 million payment of
taxes and interest for the years 1992 to 1998 that reduced deferred tax liabilities. The Company continues to provide deferred taxes on the undistributed
earnings of foreign affiliates, and management believes the ultimate resolution of this matter will not have a material adverse effect on the Company's results
of operations or financial condition.

  
8. Long-Term Debt
  
 Unsecured long-term debt consisted of (millions):

  November 3,  February 3,  October 28,
  2001  2001  2000

 
7 1/2% Debentures due March 2023 $ 250 

 
$ 250 $ 250

 7 4/5% Notes due May 2002 150  150  150
 9 1/8% Notes due February 2001 — — 150

400  400  550
 Less: current portion of long-term debt 150 — 150

$ 250 $ 400 $ 400

  
 The 7 ½% debentures may be redeemed, in whole or in part, at the option of the Company at any time on or after March 15, 2003, at declining premiums.
  

 
On July 13, 2001, the Company entered into a $1.25 billion unsecured revolving credit facility (the "Facility"). The Facility is comprised of a $500 million
364-day agreement and a $750 million 5-year agreement. Borrowings outstanding under the Facility, if any, are due July 13, 2002 and July 13, 2006,
respectively. The Facility has several borrowing and interest rate options, both fixed and variable rate. Fees payable under the Facility are based on the
Company's long-term credit ratings, and are 0.1% (for the 364-day agreement) and 0.125% (for the 5-year agreement) of the committed amount per year.
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 The Facility requires the Company to maintain certain specified fixed charge and debt to capital ratios. The Company was in compliance with these
requirements at November 3, 2001.

  

 
The Facility supports the Company's commercial paper and letter of credit programs, which are used from time to time to fund working capital and other
general corporate requirements. Commercial paper outstanding at October 28, 2000 was $124.1 million. No commercial paper or amounts under the Facility
(or the previous credit facility) were outstanding at November 3, 2001 or February 3, 2001.

  
 The Company has a shelf registration statement under which up to $250 million of debt securities and warrants to purchase debt securities may be issued.
  
 Interest paid during the thirty-nine weeks ended November 3, 2001 and October 28, 2000 was $27.9 million and $48.8 million, respectively.
  
9. Segment Information
  

 
The Company identifies operating segments based on a business's operating characteristics. Reportable segments were determined based on similar
economic characteristics, the nature of products and services and the method of distribution. The apparel segment derives its revenues from sales of women's
and men's apparel. The Intimate Brands segment derives its revenues from sales of women's intimate and other apparel, and personal care products and
accessories. Sales outside the United States were not significant.

  

 
The Company and IBI have entered into intercompany agreements for services that include merchandise purchases, capital expenditures, real estate
management and leasing, inbound and outbound transportation and corporate services. These agreements specify that identifiable costs be passed through to
IBI and that other service-related costs be allocated based upon various methods. Costs are passed through and allocated to the apparel businesses in a
similar manner. Management believes that the methods of allocation are reasonable.

  



 As a result of the transaction discussed in Note 2, the operating results of Lane Bryant are included in the "Other" category for all periods presented.
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Segment information as of and for the thirteen and thirty-nine weeks ended November 3, 2001 and October 28, 2000 follows (in millions):

2001 
Apparel 

Businesses     
Intimate 
Brands     Other (A)     

Reconciling 
Items Total

         
Thirteen weeks:                     
                  
Net sales     $   965     $   906     $      35     —     $1,906
Intersegment sales     185     —     —     ($185) (B)     —
Operating income (loss)     2     (13)     (6)     170  (D)     153
 
Thirty-nine weeks:                     
                  
Net sales     $2,620     $3,084     $    521     —     $6,225
Intersegment sales     553     —     —     ($553) (B)     —
Operating income (loss)     (60)     165     18     170  (D)     293
                  
Total assets     1,063     1,725     1,866     (497) (C)    4,157

(A) Included in the “Other” category are Lane Bryant (through August 16, 2001), Henri Bendel, non-core real estate and corporate activities, including equity
investments. None of the businesses included in “Other” are significant operating segments.

  
(B) Represents intersegment sales elimination.
  
(C) Represents intersegment receivable/payable elimination.
  
(D) The 2001 special and nonrecurring item represents a $170 million gain from the sale of Lane Bryant (see Note 2).

2000   
Apparel 

Businesses     
Intimate 
Brands     Other (A)     

Reconciling 
Items     Total

      
Thirteen weeks:                     

            
Net sales     $   998    $   944    $    226    —     $2,168
Intersegment sales     221    —    —    ($221) (B)     —
Operating income     23    80    1    —     104
 
Thirty-nine weeks:                     

            
Net sales     $2,707    $3,180    $    696    —     $6,583
Intersegment sales     567    —    —    ($567) (B)     —
Operating income     11    367    11    —     389
            
Total assets     1,087    1,685    1,824    (580) (C)     4,016

(A)—(C) See description under 2001 table.
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Report of Independent Accountants

To the Board of Directors and 
Shareholders of 
The Limited, Inc.:

We have reviewed the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Limited, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the "Company") as of November 3, 2001 and October
28, 2000, and the related consolidated statements of income for each of the thirteen and thirty-nine week periods ended November 3, 2001 and October 28, 2000
and the consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the thirty-nine week periods ended November 3, 2001 and October 28, 2000. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company's management.

We conducted our reviews in accordance with standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. A review of interim financial
information consists principally of applying analytical procedures to financial data and making inquiries of persons responsible for financial and accounting
matters. It is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, the
objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

Based on our reviews, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the accompanying consolidated interim financial statements for
them to be in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.



We previously audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, the consolidated balance sheet as of February 3,
2001, and the related consolidated statements of income, of shareholders' equity, and of cash flows for the year then ended (not presented herein), and in our
report dated March 1, 2001 we expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements. In our opinion, the information set forth in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of February 3, 2001 is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the consolidated balance sheet from which it
has been derived.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Columbus, OH 
November 20, 2001
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Item 2.  MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL CONDITION

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Net sales for the third quarter of 2001 were $1.906 billion compared to $2.168 billion in 2000. Excluding Lane Bryant's net sales in both periods (Lane Bryant
was sold to Charming Shoppes, Inc. on August 16, 2001), net sales decreased 4% to $1.879 billion for the third quarter of 2001. Operating income increased to
$153.5 million from $104.5 million in 2000. Net income increased to $90.2 million from $49.2 million in 2000, and earnings per share increased to $0.21 from
$0.11 in 2000.

Net income in the third quarter of 2001 included an after-tax special and nonrecurring gain of $102 million related to the sale of Lane Bryant. Excluding this gain,
the Company incurred a net loss for the third quarter of 2001 of $11.8 million or $.03 per share.

Net sales for the thirty-nine weeks ended November 3, 2001 were $6.225 billion compared to $6.583 billion in 2000. Excluding Lane Bryant's net sales in both
periods, net sales decreased 3% to $5.730 billion for the thirty-nine weeks ended November 3, 2001. Operating income decreased to $293.2 million from $388.6
million in 2000. Net income increased to $192.4 million from $189.8 million in 2000, and earnings per share increased to $0.44 from $0.42 in 2000.

Net income for the thirty-nine weeks ended November 3, 2001 included: 1) after-tax non-operating gains totaling $37.1 million as a result of the initial public
offerings of Alliance Data Systems Corp. and Galyan's Trading Company, Inc., companies in which the Company has a non-controlling ownership interest and 2)
the special and nonrecurring gain from the sale of Lane Bryant. Excluding these gains, net income and earnings per share for the thirty-nine weeks ended
November 3, 2001 were $53.3 million and $0.12.
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Financial Summary

The following summarized financial and statistical data compares reported results for the thirteen week and thirty-nine week periods ended November 3, 2001 to
the comparable periods for 2000 (millions):

 Third Quarter
 

Year-to-Date

 2001
 

  2000   Change
 

2001
  

2000   Change

Net Sales:                 
Express $            389   $ 419  (7%)  $ 1,059  $ 1,090  (3%)
Lerner New York              220  237  (7%)  642  666  (4%)
Limited Stores              152  163  (7%)  428  465  (8%)
Structure              120  142  (15%)  336  378  (11%)
Other (principally Mast)                84 37            127% 155 108 44%

          Total apparel businesses $            965   $ 998  (3%)  $ 2,620  $ 2,707  (3%)
   
  
Victoria's Secret Stores $            457  $ 462  (1%)    $           1,500   $ 1,510  (1%)
Bath & Body Works              301  313  (4%)  979  964                2%
Victoria's Secret Direct              148  159  (7%)  603  684  (12%)
Other (principally Gryphon)              —  10  N/M  2  22  N/M
 
          Total Intimate Brands $            906   $ 944  (4%)  $ 3,084  $ 3,180  (3%)
 
             
Lane Bryant (through August 16, 2001)                27  216  N/M  495  668  N/M
Henri Bendel                  8  10  (20%)  26  28  (7%)
   
Total net sales $         1,906   $ 2,168  (12%)  $ 6,225  $ 6,583  (5%)
   
Operating Income (Loss):             
Apparel businesses $                2   $ 23  (91%)   ($60) $ 11  N/M
Intimate Brands  (13)  80  (116%)             165  367  (55%)
Other  (6)  1  N/M               18  11  N/M
   
  



Sub-total  (17)                   104  (116%)  123                 389  (68%)
Special and nonrecurring item (a)              170  —  N/M  170  —  N/M
   
  
Total operating income $            153  $ 104  47%  $ 293  $ 389  (25%)
 

N/M - Not meaningful

(a) 2001 special and nonrecurring item: a $170 million gain resulting from the sale of Lane Bryant, which relates to the "Other" category.
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    Third Quarter

    
Year-to-Date

 
    2001

    
2000

    
2001

    
2000

Comparable Store Sales:                 
Express     (4%)     18%     (2%)     16%
Lerner New York     (5%)     7%     (2%)     2%
Limited Stores     (3%)     4%     (3%)     4%
Structure     (10%)     2%     (9%)     (2%)
                  
          Total apparel businesses     (5%)     10%     (3%)     7%
                  
Victoria’s Secret Stores     (5%)     8%     (5%)     11%
Bath & Body Works     (16%)     5%     (11%)     5%
                  
          Total Intimate Brands     (10%)     6%     (7%)     9%
                  
Lane Bryant (through August 16, 2001)     N/M     5%     3%     4%
Henri Bendel     (17%)     (5%)     (8%)     0%
                  
Total comparable store sales increase (decrease)     (7%)     8%     (5%)     7%
                  
 
N/M—not meaningful
 

 
    

Third Quarter     Year-to-Date

 
    

2001     2000     Change    2001     2000     Change

Store Data:
Retail sales increase (decrease) attributable 
to net new (closed) and remodeled stores:
          Apparel businesses     (4%)     (3%)         (2%)     (4%)     

          Intimate Brands     8%     8%         7%     8%     

Retail sales per average selling square foot:     

          Apparel businesses     $    71     $    73     (3%)     $  195     $  193     1%
          Intimate Brands     $    98     $  112     (13%)     $  328     $  366     (10%)
Retail sales per average store (thousands):
          Apparel businesses     $  430     $  444     (3%)     $1,192     $1,187     0%
          Intimate Brands     $  296     $  341     (13%)     $  993     $1,113     (11%)
Average store size at end of quarter (selling 
          square feet):

    

          Apparel businesses     6,081     6,104     0%             

          Intimate Brands     3,023     3,026     0%             

Selling square feet at end of quarter 
          (thousands):

    

          Apparel businesses     12,454     13,155     (5%)             

          Intimate Brands     7,872     7,072     11%             
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    Number of Stores:  

 

    Third Quarter     Year-to-Date

 
    

2001     2000     2001     2000

Apparel and Other Businesses     

Beginning of period     2,697     2,833     2,739     2,913 
     Opened     20     10     28     16 
     Closed     (17)     (24)     (67)     (110)
     Sale of Lane Bryant     (651)     —     (651)     — 
                  



End of period     2,049     2,819     2,049     2,819 
                  
Intimate Brands     

Beginning of period     2,521     2,205     2,390     2,110 
     Opened     86     136     220     238 
     Closed     (3)     (4)     (6)     (11)
                  
End of period     2,604     2,337     2,604     2,337 
                  

 

 
    

Number of Stores     Selling Sq. Ft. (thousands)

 

    
November 3, 

2001     
October 28, 

2000     Change    
November 3, 

2001     
October 28, 

2000     Change

Express     669    677    (8)     4,291    4,342    (51)
Lerner New York     543    579    (36)     3,978    4,349    (371)
Limited Stores     382    418    (36)     2,359    2,547    (188)
Structure     454    481    (27)     1,826    1,917    (91)
                  
Total apparel businesses     2,048    2,155    (107)     12,454    13,155    (701)
                  
Victoria’s Secret Stores     1,003    927    76     4,437    4,094    343 
Bath & Body Works     1,601    1,410    191     3,435    2,978    457 
                  
Total Intimate Brands     2,604    2,337    267     7,872    7,072    800 
                  
Lane Bryant (sold on August 16, 2001)     —    663    (663)     —    3,216    (3,216)
Henri Bendel     1    1    —     35    35    — 
                  
Total stores and selling square feet     4,653    5,156    (503)     20,361    23,478    (3,117)
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Net Sales

Net sales for the third quarter of 2001 were $1.906 billion compared to $2.168 billion for the same period in 2000. Excluding Lane Bryant's net sales in both
periods, net sales decreased 4% to $1.879 billion due to a 7% comparable store sales decrease and a 7% decrease in sales at Victoria's Secret Direct. The events of
September 11th and the overall economic environment negatively impacted sales for the quarter. These declines were partially offset by an increase in sales from
the net addition of 267 stores (800,000 selling square feet) at Intimate Brands, Inc. ("IBI").

At IBI, net sales for the third quarter of 2001 decreased 4% to $905.6 million from $944.0 million for the same period in 2000. The net sales decline was
primarily due to a 10% comparable store sales decrease and a sales decline at Victoria's Secret Direct, partially offset by an increase in sales from the net addition
of 267 new stores (800,000 selling square feet). Victoria's Secret Stores' sales decreased 1% to $457.0 million due to a 5% decrease in comparable store sales,
partially offset by the net addition of 76 stores (343,000 selling square feet). Bath & Body Works' sales decreased 4% to $300.6 million due to a 16% decrease in
comparable store sales, partially offset by the net addition of 191 new stores (457,000 selling square feet). Net sales at Victoria's Secret Direct decreased 7% to
$148.0 million due to unfavorable results in the clothing categories and a 5% decrease in the number of books mailed, partially offset by an increase in e-
commerce sales.

At the apparel businesses, net sales for the third quarter of 2001 decreased 3% to $964.8 million from $998.1 million in 2000. The net sales decrease was
primarily due to a comparable store sales decrease of 5%, partially offset by an increase in Mast third party sales as a result of sales to Lane Bryant, which
became a third party subsequent to August 16, 2001.

The 2001 year-to-date net sales were $6.225 billion compared to $6.583 billion in 2000. The sales decrease was due to a comparable store sales decrease of 5%
and the loss of Lane Bryant sales after the August 16, 2001 sale of the business, partially offset by an increase in sales from the net addition of 267 stores at IBI.

Gross Income

For the third quarter of 2001, the gross income rate (expressed as a percentage of net sales) decreased to 29.7% from 33.2% for the same period in 2000. The
gross income rate decreased both at IBI and, to a lesser extent, at the apparel businesses.

At IBI, the decrease in the gross income rate was due to an increase in the buying and occupancy expense rate and a lower merchandise margin rate. The
increased buying and occupancy expense rate was due to the inability to achieve leverage on store-related costs as comparable store sales decreased 10%. In
addition, the buying and occupancy expense rate increase was due to the expansion of Bath & Body Works' stores into non-mall locations, which, although
profitable, typically have higher occupancy costs as a percentage of net sales. The decrease in the merchandise margin rate was primarily due to higher
markdowns resulting, in part, from the difficult economic environment.
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At the apparel businesses, the decrease in the gross income rate was primarily due to a lower merchandise margin rate and an increase in the buying and
occupancy expense rate, resulting from the inability to achieve leverage as comparable store sales decreased 5%. The merchandise margin rate improved at
Lerner New York, Limited Stores and Structure, but decreased at Express. Additionally, Mast had an unfavorable impact on Apparel merchandise margins due to
an increase in third party sales, which earn a lower merchandise margin than retail sales. The increase in Mast third party sales resulted from sales to Lane Bryant,
which became a third party subsequent to August 16, 2001.

The 2001 year-to-date gross income rate decreased to 31.0% from 32.8% in 2000. The decrease was principally driven by an increase in the buying and
occupancy expense rate due to the inability to achieve leverage as comparable store sales decreased 5%. The merchandise margin rate was relatively flat



compared to 2000.

General, Administrative and Store Operating Expenses

For the third quarter of 2001, the general, administrative and store operating expense rate (expressed as a percentage of net sales) increased to 30.6% from 28.4%
last year. The increase was driven primarily by a rate increase at IBI, which resulted from the 10% decrease in comparable store sales. Additionally, store selling
expenses increased at IBI as a result of the net addition of 267 new stores (800,000 selling square feet).

The 2001 year-to-date general, administrative and store operating expense rate increased to 29.0% from 26.9% in 2000. The rate increase was primarily due to
increases in store selling expenses and the inability to achieve leverage due to the decrease in comparable store sales.

Special and Nonrecurring Item

On August 16, 2001, the Company sold one of its apparel businesses, Lane Bryant, to Charming Shoppes, Inc. for $280 million of cash and 8.7 million shares of
Charming Shoppes, Inc. common stock valued at $55 million. On December 12, 2001, the Company received additional Charming Shoppes, Inc. common stock
valued at $4.3 million based on a final determination of Lane Bryant's net tangible assets at closing. The transaction resulted in a third quarter pretax gain of $170
million (net of $24 million of transaction costs) and a $68 million tax provision.

Operating Income

The third quarter operating income rate (expressed as a percentage of net sales) was 8.0% in 2001, including $170 million, or 8.9% of special and nonrecurring
income. The third quarter operating income rate in 2000 was 4.8%. Excluding the special and nonrecurring item in 2001, the decrease in the operating income
(loss) rate from 4.8% to (0.9%) was due to the 3.5% decrease in the gross income rate and the 2.2% increase in the general, administrative and store operating
expense rate.
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The year-to-date operating income rate was 4.7% in 2001, including $170 million, or 2.7% of special and nonrecurring income. The year-to-date operating
income rate in 2000 was 5.9%. Excluding the special and nonrecurring item in 2001, the decrease in the operating income rate from 5.9% to 2.0% was due to the
1.8% decrease in the gross income rate and the 2.1% increase in the general, administrative and store operating expense rate.

Interest Expense

 Third Quarter

 

Year - to - Date

 2001

 

2000

 

2001

 

2000

        
Average borrowings (millions) $ 400.0  $ 741.4  $ 400.3  $ 690.1
Average effective interest rate 7.61%  8.00% 7.61% 8.02%

The company incurred $8.7 million in interest expense for the third quarter of 2001 compared to $14.8 million for the same period in 2000. Year-to-date interest
expense decreased to $25.4 million in 2001 from $41.5 million in 2000. The decreases were primarily the result of decreased borrowing levels.

Other Income, Net

For the third quarter of 2001, other income, net was $2.6 million versus $4.5 million in 2000. The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in the average
effective interest rate, which more than offset higher invested cash balances resulting from the $280 million in cash proceeds from the sale of Lane Bryant.

Year-to-date other income, net was $15.7 million versus $25.3 million in 2000. The decrease was due to lower average effective interest rates and lower invested
cash balances during the first half of the year as a result of debt repayments and stock repurchases in 2000.

Gains on Sale of Stock by Investees

During the thirteen week period ended August 4, 2001, the Company recognized $62.1 million of pretax gains as a result of the initial public offerings ("IPO's")
of Alliance Data Systems Corp. ("ADS") and Galyan's Trading Company, Inc. ("Galyan's"). ADS is a provider of electronic transaction services, credit services
and loyalty and database marketing services. Galyan's is a specialty retailer that sells outdoor and athletic equipment, apparel and footwear and accessories. Prior
to the IPO's, the Company's ownership interest in ADS and Galyan's was approximately 31% and 37%, respectively. As of November 3, 2001, the Company owns
approximately 14.7 million shares of ADS common stock, representing a 20% ownership interest, and 4.2 million shares of Galyan's common stock, representing
a 24% ownership interest. Deferred taxes were provided on the gains using the Company's effective tax rate. The investments are accounted for using the equity
method.
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FINANCIAL CONDITION

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash provided from operating activities and funds available from commercial paper backed by bank credit agreements provide the resources to support current
operations, projected growth, seasonal funding requirements and capital expenditures. A summary of the Company's working capital position and capitalization
follows (millions):

 November 3, 
2001

 February 3, 
2001

 October 28, 
2000



      
Working capital $ 992 $ 1,068 $ 854

      
Capitalization:      
        Long-term debt $ 250 $ 400 $ 400
        Shareholders' equity 2,428 2,316 2,088

      
Total capitalization $ 2,678 $ 2,716 $ 2,488

 
      
Additional amounts available under      
        credit agreements $ 1,250 $ 1,000 $ 876

In addition, the Company may offer up to $250 million of debt securities and warrants to purchase debt securities under its shelf registration statement.

The Company's operations are seasonal in nature, leading to significant fluctuations in certain asset and liability accounts between fiscal year-end and subsequent
interim periods. Consequently, the Company analyzes operating cash flows by comparing the current interim period changes to the prior interim period changes.

Net cash used for operating activities was $147.5 million for the thirty-nine weeks ended November 3, 2001 versus $201.7 million for the same period in 2000.
The decrease in cash used for operating activities compared to a year ago was primarily driven by a decrease in inventory purchases, partially offset by lower net
income (excluding the gain on the sale of Lane Bryant and the gains on sale of stock by investees).

Investing activities in 2001 primarily included cash proceeds of $280 million from the sale of Lane Bryant, offset by $300 million in capital expenditures.
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Financing activities in 2001 primarily consisted of the quarterly dividend payments of $0.075 per share. Further, IBI repurchased 0.8 million shares of common
stock from its public shareholders for $7.8 million.

Financing activities in 2000 primarily included net proceeds of $124.1 million from commercial paper borrowing, the repayment of $100 million Series C floating
rate notes and the quarterly dividend payments of $0.075 per share. In addition, the Company repurchased 8.7 million shares of common stock for $200.0 million.
Also, in 2000, IBI repurchased 1.4 million shares from its public shareholders for $31.4 million and 7.4 million shares from The Limited, Inc. for $166.5 million,
which had no cash flow impact to The Limited, Inc.

Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures amounted to $299.8 million for the thirty-nine weeks ended November 3, 2001 compared to $319.0 million for the same period in 2000. The
decrease in 2001 is primarily related to a decrease in the number of new and remodeled stores, partially offset by increased investments in information
technology.

The Company anticipates spending approximately $435 million for capital expenditures in 2001, of which approximately $290 million will be for new stores and
for the remodeling of and improvements to existing stores. Remaining capital expenditures are primarily related to information technology and distribution
centers. The Company expects that 2001 capital expenditures will be funded by net cash provided by operating activities.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") Issue No. 00-14, "Accounting for Certain Sales Incentives," will be effective in the first quarter of 2002 and addresses the
accounting for, and classification of, various sales incentives. The Company has determined that adopting the provisions of this EITF Issue will not have a
material impact on its results of operations or financial position.

On June 29, 2001 the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 141, "Business Combinations,"
and No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets." SFAS No. 141 requires that the purchase method of accounting be used for all business combinations
initiated after June 30, 2001, and also addresses the accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets. SFAS No. 142 addresses the accounting for goodwill and
other intangible assets subsequent to their acquisition, and will be effective in the first quarter of 2002. The Company is assessing the provisions of SFAS No. 141
and SFAS No. 142 and does not expect the adoption of these statements to have a material impact on its results of operations or its financial position.
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In August 2001 the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets". This statement establishes a single
accounting model for long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale and resolves significant implementation issues related to SFAS No. 121, "Accounting for the
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and For Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of" and is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. The
Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS No. 144.

Impact of Inflation

The Company's results of operations and financial condition are presented based on historical cost. While it is difficult to accurately measure the impact of
inflation due to the imprecise nature of the estimates required, the Company believes the effects of inflation, if any, on the results of operations and financial
condition have been minor.

Item 3.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The market risk of the Company's financial instruments as of November 3, 2001 has not significantly changed since February 3, 2001. Information regarding the
Company's financial instruments and market risk as of February 3, 2001 is disclosed in the Company's 2000 Annual Report on Form 10-K.



23

PART II - OTHER INFORMATION
  
Item 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
  
 The Company is a defendant in a variety of lawsuits arising in the ordinary course of business.
  

 

On January 13, 1999, two lawsuits were filed against the Company, as well as other defendants, including many national retailers. Both lawsuits relate
to labor practices allegedly employed on the island of Saipan, Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands, by apparel manufacturers unrelated to
the Company (some of which have sold goods to the Company) and seek injunctions, unspecified monetary damages, and other relief. One lawsuit, on
behalf of a class of unnamed garment workers, was filed in the United States District Court for the Central District of California, Western Division and
subsequently transferred to the United States District Court for the Northern Mariana Islands. It alleged violations of federal statutes, the United States
Constitution, and international law. A first amended complaint was filed on April 28, 2000, which added additional defendants but did not otherwise
substantively alter either the claims alleged or relief sought. On November 26, 2001, a motion to dismiss the first amended complaint for failure to
state a claim upon which relief can be granted was granted in part and denied in part. The second lawsuit was filed by a national labor union and other
organizations in the Superior Court of the State of California, San Francisco County, and alleges unfair business practices under California law. A
motion for summary judgment on that complaint was filed on October 30, 2001, and remains pending.

  

 

In May and June 1999, purported shareholders of the Company filed three derivative actions in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware,
naming as defendants the members of the Company's board of directors and the Company, as nominal defendant. The actions thereafter were
consolidated. The operative complaint generally alleged that the rescission of the Contingent Stock Redemption Agreement previously entered into by
the Company with Leslie H. Wexner and The Wexner Children's Trust (the "Contingent Stock Redemption Agreement") constituted a waste of
corporate assets and a breach of the board members' fiduciary duties, and that the issuer tender offer completed on June 3, 1999 was a "wasteful
transaction in its own right." On July 30, 1999, all defendants moved to dismiss the complaint, both on the ground that it failed to allege facts showing
that demand on the board to institute such an action would be futile and for failure to state a claim. Plaintiffs did not respond to that motion, but on
February 16, 2000, plaintiffs filed a first amended consolidated derivative complaint (the "amended complaint"), which makes allegations similar to
the first complaint
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concerning the rescission of the Contingent Stock Redemption Agreement and the 1999 issuer tender offer and adds allegations apparently intended to
show that certain directors were not disinterested in those decisions. Defendants moved to dismiss the amended complaint on April 14, 2000. The
motion has been fully briefed, oral argument was heard on March 28, 2001 and the motion is now under consideration by the Court.

  
 Although it is not possible to predict with certainty the eventual outcome of any litigation, in the opinion of management, the foregoing proceedings are

not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial position or results of operations.
  
Item 6. EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
  
(a) Exhibits.
  

*10. Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of July 9, 2001 among Charming Shoppes, Inc., Venice Acquisition Corporation, LFAS, Inc. and The Limited, Inc.
related to the Purchase and Sale of 100% of the Common Stock of LBH, Inc.

  
11. Statement re: Computation of Per Share Earnings.

  
15. Letter re: Unaudited Interim Financial Information to Securities and Exchange Commission re: Incorporation of Report of Independent Accountants.

  
(b) Reports on Form 8-K.
  
 None.
  
* Schedules omitted. The Registrant will furnish a supplementary copy of any omitted schedule to the Commission upon request.
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

THE LIMITED, INC. 
(Registrant)

   
 By /s/ V. Ann Hailey

   

  
V. Ann Hailey, 
Executive Vice President and Chief 
Financial Officer*

   



Date: December 14, 2001   
   
*Ms. Hailey is the principal financial officer and has been duly authorized to sign on behalf of the Registrant.
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                           STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT 
 
     AGREEMENT dated as of July 9, 2001 among CHARMING SHOPPES, INC., a 
Pennsylvania corporation ("Parent"), VENICE ACQUISITION CORPORATION, a Delaware 
corporation ("Buyer"), LFAS, INC., a Delaware corporation ("Seller"), and THE 
LIMITED, INC., a Delaware corporation ("The Limited"). 
 
                             W I T N E S S E T H: 
 
     WHEREAS, Seller is the record and beneficial owner of the Shares (as herein 
defined); and 
 
     WHEREAS, each of The Limited and Seller desires that Seller sell the Shares 
to Buyer, and Buyer desires to purchase the Shares from Seller, in each case, 
upon the terms and subject to the conditions hereinafter set forth. 
 
     NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree as follows: 
 
                                   ARTICLE 1 
                                  Definitions 
 
     Section 1.01. Definitions. (a) The following terms, as used herein, have 
the following meanings: 
 
     "Affiliate" means, with respect to any Person, any Person directly or 
indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under common control with such other 
Person.  For purposes of this definition, "control" when used with respect to 
any Person means the power to direct the management and policies of such Person, 
directly or indirectly, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by 
contract or otherwise, and the terms "controlling" and "controlled" have 
meanings correlative to the foregoing.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, for 
purposes of this Agreement, neither the Company nor any Subsidiary shall be 
considered an Affiliate of Seller or The Limited. 
 
     "Audited Financial Statements" means the audited consolidated balance 
sheets of the Company and the Subsidiaries as of February 3, 2001 and January 
29, 2000 (including the notes thereto), and the related consolidated statements 
of income and cash flows for the three fiscal years ended February 3, 2001, 
January 29, 2000 and January 30, 1999, together with the reports thereon by 
PriceWaterhouseCoopers, LLP, independent accountants ("PriceWaterhouseCoopers"). 



 
 
     "Balance Sheet" means the audited consolidated balance sheet of the Company 
and the Subsidiaries as of February 3, 2001, including all notes thereto, 
included in Section 3.08 of the Disclosure Schedule. 
 
     "Balance Sheet Date" means February 3, 2001. 
 
     "Business Day" means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on 
which commercial banks in New York, New York or Columbus, Ohio are authorized or 
required by law to close. 
 
     "Closing Date" means the date of the Closing. 
 
     "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the rules 
and regulations promulgated thereunder. 
 
     "Combined Tax" means any state, local or foreign income or franchise Tax 
with respect to which The Limited or any of its Affiliates files Returns on a 
consolidated, combined or unitary basis with the Company or any Subsidiary. 
 
     "Common Stock" means the common stock, no par value per share, of the 
Company. 
 
     "Company" means LBH, Inc., a Nevada corporation. 
 
     "Disclosure Schedule" means the Disclosure Schedule attached as Attachment 
A to this Agreement. 
 
     "Environmental Laws" means any and all Laws concerning or relating to the 
protection of the environment. 
 
     "Federal Tax" means any Tax imposed under Subtitle A of the Code with 
respect to which the Company or any Subsidiary has filed or will file a Return 
with a member of the Limited Tax Group on a consolidated basis. 
 
     "GAAP" means United States generally accepted accounting principles. 
 
     "HSR Act" means the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, 
as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. 
 
     "Indemnified Tax" means (i) Federal Tax, (ii) Combined Tax, (iii) with 
respect to each state, local or foreign taxing jurisdiction, any income, 
franchise or similar tax payable to such state, local or foreign taxing 
jurisdiction in which the Company or any Subsidiary files a separate tax return, 
(iv) personal property tax, and (v) sales and use tax other than sales tax 
collected by the Company or any Subsidiary from its customers. 
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     "Intellectual Property" means each material (1) fictitious business name, 
tradename, registered and unregistered trademark, service mark and related 
application, logo, brand name, slogan, trade dress, packaging, product design or 
configuration and the goodwill associated therewith, (2) patent, patent right 
and patent application, (3) copyright and copyright application in works, (4) 
internet domain name registration and related applications, (5) trade secret and 
(6) computer software, in each case owned, used or held for use by or licensed 
or granted to the Company or any Subsidiary. 
 
     "Knowledge of The Limited and Seller" or any other similar knowledge 
qualification in this Agreement means that (1) any director or officer of the 
Company or any Subsidiary, (2) any officer of The Limited or Seller who is 
reported to directly by any officer or employee of the Company or any 
Subsidiary, or (3) the Chief Financial Officer, the General Counsel or the Vice 
President Treasury, Mergers and Acquisitions of The Limited is actually aware of 
a fact or other matter. 
 
     "Laws" means any law, statute, regulation, rule, permit, license, 
certificate, judgment, order, award or other legally binding decision or 
requirement of any arbitrator, court, government or governmental agency or 
instrumentality (domestic or foreign). 
 
     "Lien" means, with respect to any property or asset, any mortgage, lien, 
pledge, charge, claim, option, security interest, encumbrance or restriction of 
any kind in respect of, binding upon or applicable to such property or asset. 
 
     "Limited Tax Group" means, with respect to federal income Taxes, the 
affiliated group of corporations (as defined in Section 1504(a) of the Code) of 
which The Limited is the common parent and, with respect to any Combined Tax, 
the applicable consolidated, combined or unitary group of which The Limited or 
any of its Affiliates is a member. 
 
     "Material Adverse Effect" means a material adverse effect on the business, 
properties, assets, results of operations, prospects or condition (financial or 
otherwise) of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as whole, except any such 
effect resulting from (1) this Agreement or the transactions specifically 
contemplated hereby, (2) changes or conditions in either the women's apparel 
sector or retail sector generally or (3) changes or conditions in economic, 
market, regulatory or political conditions generally. 
 
     "1933 Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and 
regulations promulgated thereunder. 
 
     "1934 Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the 
rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. 
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     "Permits" means all governmental licenses, permits, certificates, consents, 
approvals, or other governmental authorizations owned or held by, granted to, or 
held for the benefit of, any Person. 
 
     "Permitted Liens and Exceptions" means (1) Liens disclosed in the 
Disclosure Schedule; (2) Liens disclosed on the Balance Sheet or notes thereto 
or securing liabilities reflected on the Balance Sheet or notes thereto; (3) 
Liens for Taxes, assessments and similar charges that are not yet due and 
payable; (4) mechanic's, materialman's, carrier's, repairer's and other similar 
Liens arising or incurred in the ordinary course of business or that are not yet 
due and payable; (5) Liens incurred in the ordinary course of business 
consistent with past practice since the Balance Sheet Date; or (6) other Liens 
that do not secure payment of indebtedness for borrowed money, capitalized 
leases or the deferred purchase price of property or services (other than 
accounts payable in the ordinary course) and that are not material. 
 
     "Person" means an individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability 
company, association, trust or other entity or organization, including a 
government or political subdivision or an agency or instrumentality thereof. 
 
     "Pre-Closing Tax Period" means (1) any Tax period ending on or before the 
Closing Date; and (2) with respect to a Straddle Period, the portion of such 
period ending on the Closing Date. 
 
     "Reference Rate" means the rate per annum equal to the "Prime Rate" as 
published in The Wall Street Journal, Eastern Edition. 
 
     "Shares" means 100 shares of Common Stock. 
 
     "Straddle Period" means any Tax period that begins on or before the Closing 
Date and ends after the Closing Date. 
 
     "Subsidiary" means any entity of which securities or other ownership 
interests having ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the board of 
directors or other persons performing similar functions are at the time directly 
or indirectly owned by the Company. 
 
     "Tax" means (1) any tax, governmental fee or other like assessment or 
charge of any kind whatsoever; including, but not limited to, withholding on 
amounts paid to or by any Person, federal and state income taxes, real property 
gains taxes, sales and use taxes, ad valorem taxes, excise taxes, franchise 
taxes, gross receipts taxes, business license taxes, capital stock taxes, real 
and personal property taxes, environmental taxes, transfer taxes, severance 
taxes, alternative or add-on minimum taxes, and custom duties, together with any 
interest, penalty, addition to tax or additional amount imposed by any 
governmental authority (whether federal, state, local, municipal, foreign or 
otherwise) responsible for the 
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imposition of any such tax (a "Taxing Authority") and (2) any liability for the 
payment of any amount of the type described in the immediately preceding clause 
(1) as a result of the Company or any Subsidiary being a member of an 
affiliated, consolidated or combined group with any other corporation at any 
time on or prior to the Closing Date. For the avoidance of doubt, it is 
confirmed that the term "Tax" does not include any escheat liabilities or 
similar items under state unclaimed property laws. 
 
     "Tax Asset" means any net operating loss, net capital loss, investment tax 
credit, foreign tax credit, charitable deduction or any other credit or tax 
attribute that could be carried forward or back to reduce income or franchise 
Taxes (including, without limitation, deductions and credits related to 
alternative minimum Taxes) and losses or deductions deferred by the Code or 
other applicable law. 
 
     "Transaction Documents" means this Agreement and any and all other 
agreements and documents required to be delivered by any party hereto prior to 
or at the Closing pursuant to this Agreement. 
 
Each of the following terms is defined in the Section set forth opposite such 
term: 
 
 
         Term                                               Section 
         Access and Waiver Agreement                          7.10 
         Accounting Referee                                   8.02 
         Adjustment Closing Date                              2.04 
         Adjustment Price                                     2.04 
         Adjustment Stock Consideration                       2.04 
         Allocation Statement                                 8.02 
         Banks                                                5.02 
         Base Net Tangible Assets                             2.04 
         Base Price                                           2.01 
         Buyer                                              Preamble 
         Calculation Date                                     2.04 
         Cash Payment                                         2.01 
         Claim                                               11.03 
         Closing                                              2.02 
         Closing Net Tangible Assets                          2.03 
         Closing Price                                        2.01 
         Closing Statement of Net Tangible Assets             2.03 
         Commission                                           4.10 
         Commission Reports                                   4.10 
         Commitment Letter                                    4.05 
         Company Account                                      3.20 
         Company Proprietary Information                      7.16 
         Company Securities                                   3.05 
         Confidentiality Agreement                            6.02 
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         Term                                               Section 
         Covenant Agreement                                   7.11 
         Credit Card Litigation                               6.08 
         Damages                                             11.02 
         Database Services Agreement                          3.19 
         Delinquent Payments                                  7.16 
         Domain Names                                         3.19 
         Facilities                                           5.04 
         Final Net Tangible Assets                            2.04 
         Financial Support Arrangements                       6.05 
         HQ Lease                                             7.08 
         Indemnified Party                                   11.03 
         Indemnifying Party                                  11.03 
         Key Trademark                                        3.19 
         Large Size Women's Clothing                          5.04 
         Lease                                                3.15 
         Limited Confidentiality Agreement                    5.13 
         Marks                                                3.19 
         Mast                                                 5.08 
         Master Sublease                                      7.12 
         Other Taxes                                          8.02 
         Parent                                             Preamble 
         Parent Commission Reports                            4.10 
         Parent Common Stock                                  2.01 
         Parent Material Adverse Effect                       4.01 
         Parent Shares                                        3.25 
         Payment Date                                         6.06 
         Post-Closing Invoices                                6.06 
         Potential Contributor                               11.05 
         Price Allocation                                     8.02 
         Purchase Price                                       2.01 
         Real Property                                        3.15 
         Registration Agreement                               7.09 
         Related Party Agreements                             3.13 
         Renewal Leases                                       3.15 
         Retained Landlord Claims                             7.16 
         Retained Litigation                                 11.02 
         Returns                                              8.01 
         Section 338(h)(10) Election                          8.02 
         Seller                                             Preamble 
         Services Agreement                                   7.05 
         Shelf Registration Statement                         6.10 
         Stock Consideration                                  2.01 
         Store Leases Agreement                               7.06 
         Subsidiary Securities                                3.07 
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         Term                                               Section 
         Survival Period                                     11.01 
         Target Group                                         8.01 
         Tax Allowance                                        8.04 
         Tax Loss                                             8.04 
         Termination Date                                    12.01 
         The Limited                                        Preamble 
         Third Party Claim                                   11.03 
         Transfer Taxes                                       8.02 
         Warranty Breach                                     11.02 
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                                   ARTICLE 2 
                               Purchase and Sale 
 
     Section 2.01.  Purchase and Sale. (a) Upon the terms and subject to the 
conditions of this Agreement, Seller shall sell, transfer and deliver to Buyer 
and Buyer shall purchase from Seller, the Shares at the Closing. The purchase 
price for the Shares (the "Purchase Price") is (1) $280,000,000 in cash (the 
"Cash Payment") and (2) the Stock Consideration. The Purchase Price shall be 
paid as provided in Section 2.02 and shall be subject to adjustment as provided 
in this Section 2.01 and Section 2.04. 
 
     (b)  "Stock Consideration" means that number of shares of the common stock, 
par value $0.10 per share, of Parent (including the associated preferred stock 
purchase rights, the "Parent Common Stock") determined by dividing $55,000,000 
by the Closing Price. "Closing Price" means the average closing price per share 
of the Parent Common Stock on the Nasdaq National Market for the five trading 
days ending on and including the second trading day prior to the Closing Date; 
provided that if such average closing price (1) exceeds 115% of the Base Price, 
the Closing Price will be deemed to be 115% of the Base Price or (2) is less 
than 85% of the Base Price, then the Closing Price will be deemed to be 85% of 
the Base Price. The "Base Price" means $6.168 per share. 
 
     (c)  Adjustments. If, during the period between the date of this Agreement 
and the Closing, any change in the outstanding shares of Parent Common Stock 
shall occur by reason of any reclassification, recapitalization, stock split or 
combination, exchange or readjustments of shares, any stock dividend or similar 
transaction with a record or effective date during such period, the Stock 
Consideration or Base Price, as applicable, shall be appropriately adjusted. 
 
     Section 2.02. Closing. The closing (the "Closing") of the purchase and sale 
of the Shares hereunder shall take place at the offices of Davis Polk & 
Wardwell, 450 Lexington Avenue, New York, New York, as soon as possible, but in 
no event later than two Business Days, after satisfaction (or, to the extent 
permitted under law, waiver) of the conditions set forth in Article 10, or at 
such other time or place as Buyer and The Limited may agree. The Closing shall 
be deemed to occur at the closing of business on the Closing Date. At the 
Closing: 
 
     (a)  Buyer shall deliver to Seller the Cash Payment in immediately 
available funds by wire transfer to an account of Seller designated by The 
Limited, by notice to Buyer, which notice shall be delivered not later than two 
Business Days prior to the Closing Date (or if not so designated, then by 
certified or official bank check payable in immediately available funds to the 
order of Seller in such amount). 
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     (b)  Buyer shall deliver to Seller a certificate representing the Stock 
Consideration. 
 
     (c)  Seller shall deliver to Buyer certificates for the Shares duly 
endorsed or accompanied by stock powers duly endorsed in blank, with any 
required transfer stamps affixed thereto. 
 
     (d)  The Limited, Seller, Parent and Buyer shall each deliver such other 
documents, instruments and agreements as are required to be delivered by such 
party at the Closing pursuant to this Agreement. 
 
     Section 2.03. Closing Net Tangible Assets. (a) As promptly as practicable, 
but no later than 60 days, after the Closing Date, The Limited will cause to be 
prepared and delivered to Buyer the Closing Statement of Net Tangible Assets 
(the "Closing Statement of Net Tangible Assets"). The Closing Statement of Net 
Tangible Assets will be accompanied by a certificate of the Chief Financial 
Officer of The Limited specifying that the Closing Statement of Net Tangible 
Assets was prepared in accordance with the provisions of this Section 2.03(a). 
The Closing Statement of Net Tangible Assets shall include only those categories 
of assets and liabilities and line items included in, and be in form consistent 
with, the Base Statement of Net Tangible Assets set forth in Appendix 2.03(a). 
The determination of the Closing Net Tangible Assets shall be made by applying 
the principles, policies and practices used in connection with the preparation 
of the relevant portions of the Balance Sheet, but shall be subject to the 
adjustments and clarifications set forth in Appendix 2.03(a). Except for those 
matters that, on their face, are not relevant to the Balance Sheet, The Limited 
and Seller hereby represent that the accounting principles, policies and 
practices set forth in Appendix 2.03(a) were used in connection with the 
preparation of the relevant portions of the Balance Sheet, except for gift 
certificates (as to which differences in accounting principles, policies and 
practices are set forth in Appendix 2.03(a)). "Closing Net Tangible Assets" 
means total tangible assets minus total liabilities of the Company and the 
Subsidiaries as shown on the Closing Statement of Net Tangible Assets, 
determined as set forth in this Section 2.03(a). 
 
     (b)  If Buyer disagrees with The Limited's calculation of the Closing Net 
Tangible Assets delivered pursuant to Section 2.03(a), Buyer may, within 20 days 
after delivery of the certificate referred to in Section 2.03(a), deliver a 
notice to The Limited disagreeing with such calculation and setting forth 
Buyer's calculation of such amount. Any such notice of disagreement shall 
specify those items or amounts as to which Buyer disagrees, and Buyer shall be 
deemed to have agreed with all other items and amounts contained in the Closing 
Statement of Net Tangible Assets delivered pursuant to Section 2.03(a). 
Notwithstanding anything in this Section 2.03 to the contrary, Buyer shall not 
contest any item for which the amount in disagreement is less than $50,000. 
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     (c)  If a notice of disagreement shall be duly delivered pursuant to 
Section 2.03(b), Buyer and The Limited shall, during the 30 days following such 
delivery, use their reasonable best efforts to reach agreement on the disputed 
items or amounts of Closing Net Tangible Assets, which amount shall not be more 
than the amount thereof shown in The Limited's calculations delivered pursuant 
to Section 2.03(a) nor less than the amount thereof shown in Buyer's calculation 
delivered pursuant to Section 2.03(b). If, during such period, Buyer and The 
Limited are unable to reach such agreement, they shall promptly thereafter cause 
independent accountants of nationally recognized standing reasonably 
satisfactory to Buyer and The Limited (who shall not have any material 
relationship with Buyer or The Limited), promptly to review this Agreement and 
the disputed items or amounts for the purpose of calculating the Closing Net 
Tangible Assets. In making such calculation, such independent accountants shall 
consider only those items or amounts in the Closing Net Tangible Assets as to 
which Buyer has disagreed. Such independent accountants shall deliver to Buyer 
and The Limited, as promptly as practicable, a report setting forth such 
calculation. Such report shall be final and binding upon the parties hereto. The 
cost of such review and report shall be borne by The Limited if the difference 
between the Final Net Tangible Assets and The Limited's calculation of the 
Closing Net Tangible Assets delivered pursuant to Section 2.03(a) is greater 
than the difference between the Final Net Tangible Assets and Buyer's 
calculation of the Closing Net Tangible Assets delivered pursuant to Section 
2.03(b), by Buyer if the first such difference is less than the second such 
difference and otherwise equally by Buyer and The Limited. 
 
     (d)  Buyer and The Limited agree that they will, and agree to cause their 
respective independent accountants and the Company and each Subsidiary to, 
cooperate and assist in the preparation of the Closing Statement of Net Tangible 
Assets and the calculation of the Closing Net Tangible Assets and in the conduct 
of the audits or reviews referred to in Section 2.03(c), including without 
limitation, the making available to the extent necessary of books, records, work 
papers and personnel. 
 
     Section 2.04. Adjustment To Purchase Price. (a) If Base Net Tangible 
Assets exceeds Final Net Tangible Assets, The Limited shall pay to Buyer, as an 
adjustment to the Purchase Price, in the manner and with interest as provided in 
Section 2.04(b), the amount of such excess. If Final Net Tangible Assets exceeds 
Base Net Tangible Assets, Buyer shall pay to The Limited, in the manner and with 
interest as provided in Section 2.04(b), the amount of such excess. "Base Net 
Tangible Assets" means $141,000,000. "Final Net Tangible Assets" means Closing 
Net Tangible Assets as shown in The Limited's calculation delivered pursuant to 
Section 2.03(a), if no notice of disagreement with respect thereto is duly 
delivered pursuant to Section 2.03(b); or if such a notice of disagreement is 
delivered, as agreed by Buyer and The Limited pursuant to Section 2.03(c) or in 
the absence of such agreement, as shown in the independent accountant's 
calculation delivered pursuant to Section 2.03(c); provided that, in no event 
shall 
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Final Net Tangible Assets be more than The Limited's calculation of Closing Net 
Tangible Assets delivered pursuant to Section 2.03(a) or less than Buyer's 
calculation of Closing Net Tangible Assets delivered pursuant to Section 
2.03(b). 
 
     (b)  Any payment made by The Limited pursuant to Section 2.04(a) shall be 
made at a mutually convenient time and place within five days after such 
calculation has been determined (the "Calculation Date") by delivery by The 
Limited in immediately available funds by wire transfer to an account of Buyer 
or by causing such payment to be credited to such account of Buyer as may be 
designated by Buyer. Any payment made by Buyer pursuant to Section 2.04(a) shall 
be paid in the form of Adjustment Stock Consideration, with such other documents 
as set forth in Section 2.04(d), delivered to The Limited at a mutually 
convenient time and place within five days (the "Adjustment Closing Date") after 
the Calculation Date. Any amount payable shall bear interest from and including 
the Closing Date to but excluding the actual date of payment at the Reference 
Rate. Such interest shall be payable at the same time as the payment to which it 
relates and shall be calculated daily on the basis of a year of 365 days and the 
actual number of days elapsed. 
 
     (c)  "Adjustment Stock Consideration" means the number of shares of Parent 
Common Stock determined by dividing (1) the amount of the payment to be made by 
Buyer to The Limited pursuant to this Section 2.04 by (2) the Adjustment Price. 
"Adjustment Price" means the average closing price per share of the Parent 
Common Stock on the Nasdaq National Market for the five trading days ending on 
and including the second trading day prior to the Adjustment Closing Date. If, 
after the date hereof but prior to such date, any change in the outstanding 
shares of Parent Common Stock shall occur by reason of any reclassification, 
recapitalization, stock split or combination, exchange or readjustment of 
shares, stock dividend or similar transaction with a record or effective date 
prior to the Adjustment Closing Date, the Adjustment Stock Consideration or 
Adjustment Price, as applicable, shall be appropriately adjusted. 
 
     (d)  To the extent that any payment pursuant to Section 2.04 is required to 
be made in Parent Common Stock, on the Adjustment Closing Date, (i) Buyer shall 
deliver to The Limited (1) a certificate representing the shares of Parent 
Common Stock constituting the Adjustment Stock Consideration, (2) a certificate 
signed by an executive officer of Parent stating that the representations 
contained in Section 4.12 hereof are accurate as of the Adjustment Closing Date, 
substituting the words "Adjustment Stock Consideration" for "Stock 
Consideration", and (3) evidence that the shares of Parent Common Stock 
constituting the Adjustment Stock Consideration have been approved for listing 
on the Nasdaq Stock Market, subject to official notice of issuance and (ii) from 
and after such date, for all purposes of this Agreement the term "Stock 
Consideration" shall automatically be deemed amended to include the Adjustment 
Stock Consideration. 
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     Section 2.05. Additional Understanding. It is understood and agreed that 
the establishment of $141,000,000 as the amount of Base Net Tangible Assets (i) 
was a negotiated result to establish the base from which any adjustment to the 
Purchase Price is to be calculated, (ii) differs from the amount that would be 
calculated simply by adding the amounts shown on the Base Statement of Net 
Tangible Assets included in Appendix 2.03(a) and, therefore, (iii) will not 
influence or affect in any respect the calculation of Closing Net Tangible 
Assets. 
 
     Section 2.06. No Fractional Shares. Parent shall not be obligated to issue 
fractional shares of Parent Common Stock pursuant to this Article 2. Instead, 
all fractional shares of Parent Common Stock that Seller would otherwise be 
entitled to receive pursuant to this Article 2 shall be rounded up or down, as 
appropriate, to the nearest whole number of shares. 
 
                                   ARTICLE 3 
            Representations and Warranties of The Limited and Seller 
 
     The Limited and Seller represent and warrant to Buyer and Parent, as of the 
date hereof and as of the Closing, that, except as set forth on the Disclosure 
Schedule attached hereto: 
 
     Section 3.01. Corporate Existence and Power. Each of The Limited, Seller 
and the Company is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in good 
standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation and has all 
necessary corporate power and authority, and all material Permits, required to 
carry on its business as now conducted, to own and lease the assets which it 
owns and leases and to perform all of its obligations under each agreement to 
which it is a party or by which it is bound. The Company is duly qualified to do 
business as a foreign corporation and is in good standing in each jurisdiction 
identified in Section 3.01 of the Disclosure Schedule, which includes each 
jurisdiction in which its ownership or leasing of assets or properties or the 
nature of its activities requires such qualification, except for those 
jurisdictions where the failure to be so qualified would not, individually or in 
the aggregate, have, or be reasonably likely to have, a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
     Section 3.02. Corporate Authorization. The execution, delivery and 
performance by each of The Limited and Seller of the Transaction Documents to 
which it is a party and the consummation of the transactions contemplated 
thereby are within the corporate powers and authority of each of The Limited and 
Seller and have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the 
part of The Limited and Seller. To the extent a party thereto, each of the 
Transaction Documents constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of The 
Limited and Seller, as applicable, and is enforceable against each of The 
Limited and Seller, as applicable, in accordance with its respective terms, (1) 
except as enforcement may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, 
reorganization, moratorium or 
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similar laws now or hereafter in effect relating to or affecting creditors' 
rights generally, including the effect of statutory and other laws concerning 
fraudulent conveyances and preferential transfers, and (2) subject to the 
limitations imposed by general equitable principles (regardless of whether such 
enforceability is considered in proceeding at law or in equity). 
 
     Section 3.03. Governmental Authorization. To the extent a party thereto, 
the execution, delivery and performance by The Limited and Seller, as 
applicable, of each of the Transaction Documents and the consummation of the 
transactions contemplated thereby require no material action, consent or 
approval by or in respect of, material filing with or material notice to, any 
governmental body, agency or official other than: (1) compliance with any 
applicable requirements of the HSR Act; and (2) compliance with any applicable 
requirements of the 1933 Act and the 1934 Act. 
 
     Section 3.04. Noncontravention. The execution, delivery and performance by 
The Limited and Seller, as applicable, of any of the Transaction Documents to 
which it is a party, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated 
thereby do not and will not (1) violate or conflict with the certificate of 
incorporation or bylaws (or other organizational documents) of The Limited or 
Seller, or the Company or any Subsidiary, (2) assuming compliance with the 
matters referred to in Section 3.03, contravene or conflict with or constitute a 
violation of any provision of any Law binding upon or applicable to The Limited 
or Seller, or the Company or any Subsidiary, (3) with or without the giving of 
notice or the lapse of time, or both, constitute a default under or give rise to 
any right of termination, cancellation or acceleration of any right or 
obligation of The Limited or Seller, or the Company or any Subsidiary, or to a 
loss of any benefit to which The Limited or Seller, or the Company or any 
Subsidiary is entitled, under any provision of any agreement, contract or other 
instrument to which The Limited or Seller, or the Company or any Subsidiary is a 
party or by which any of them or their respective properties or assets is bound, 
or give to others any rights (including rights of termination, foreclosure, 
cancellation or acceleration) in or with respect to the Company, any Subsidiary 
or any of their respective properties or assets, except for any such default, 
termination, cancellation, acceleration or loss that would not be material, or 
(4) result in, require or permit the creation or imposition of any Lien (other 
than Permitted Liens and Exceptions) upon or with respect to the Company, any 
Subsidiary, any of their respective properties or assets or the Shares. 
 
     Section 3.05. Capitalization. (a) The authorized capital stock of the 
Company consists of 2,500 shares of Common Stock, of which 100 shares are issued 
and outstanding (which 100 issued and outstanding shares constitute all of the 
Shares). 
 
     (b)  The Shares have been duly authorized and validly issued and are fully 
paid and non-assessable, and have been issued in compliance with all 
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securities and other Laws. Except for the Shares, there are no (1) outstanding 
shares of capital stock or voting securities of the Company, (2) securities of 
the Company convertible into or exchangeable for shares of capital stock or 
other securities of the Company, (3) options or other rights to acquire from the 
Company, or other obligation of the Company to issue, any capital stock, other 
securities or securities convertible into or exchangeable for capital stock or 
other securities of the Company, or (4) stock appreciation rights or similar 
rights or securities of the Company (the items in clauses (1), (2), (3) and (4) 
being referred to collectively as the "Company Securities"). There are no 
outstanding obligations of The Limited, Seller, the Company, any Subsidiary or 
any other Person to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any Company 
Securities. Except for this Agreement, there are no agreements or other 
instruments relating to the issuance, sale or transfer of the Shares or any 
Company Securities. 
 
     Section 3.06. Ownership and Transfer of Shares. Seller is the record and 
beneficial owner of the Shares, free and clear of any Lien. Subject to 
compliance with the matters referred to in Section 3.03, Seller has the absolute 
right, authority and power to sell, assign and transfer the Shares to Buyer free 
and clear of any Lien. Upon delivery to Buyer of the certificate for the Shares 
at the Closing, Buyer will acquire good, valid and marketable title to the 
Shares, free and clear of any Lien, other than as a result of any action by 
Parent or any of its Affiliates. 
 
     Section 3.07. Subsidiaries. (a) The Company has four Subsidiaries. Each 
Subsidiary is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in good 
standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation and has all 
necessary corporate power and authority, and all material Permits required to 
carry on its business as now conducted, to own and lease the assets which it 
owns and leases and to perform all of its obligations under each agreement to 
which it is a party or by which it is bound. The name and jurisdiction of 
incorporation of each Subsidiary is identified in Section 3.07 of the Disclosure 
Schedule. Each subsidiary is duly qualified to do business as a foreign 
corporation and is in good standing in each jurisdiction identified in Section 
3.07 of the Disclosure Schedule, which includes each jurisdiction in which its 
ownership or leasing of assets or properties or the nature of its activities 
requires such qualification, except for those jurisdictions where the failure to 
be so qualified would not, individually or in the aggregate, have, or be 
reasonably likely to have, a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
     (b)  All of the outstanding capital stock and other securities of each 
Subsidiary, and the record and beneficial owners thereof, is set forth in 
Section 3.07 of the Disclosure Schedule. All such shares of capital stock or 
voting securities are owned free and clear of any Lien. Except for the 
outstanding shares of capital stock of each Subsidiary identified in Section 
3.07 of the Disclosure Schedule, there are no (1) outstanding shares of capital 
stock or other securities of any Subsidiary, (2) securities of the Company or 
any Subsidiary convertible into or exchangeable for shares of capital stock or 
other securities of any Subsidiary, (3) options or other rights to acquire from 
the Company or any 
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Subsidiary, or other obligation of the Company or any Subsidiary to issue, any 
capital stock, other securities or securities convertible into or exchangeable 
for capital stock or other securities of any Subsidiary or (4) stock 
appreciation rights or similar rights or securities of any Subsidiary (the items 
in clauses (1), (2), (3) and (4) being referred to collectively as the 
"Subsidiary Securities"). There are no outstanding obligations of the Company or 
any Subsidiary or any other Person to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire 
any Subsidiary Securities. There are no agreements or other instruments relating 
to the issuance, sale or transfer of any Subsidiary Securities. All of the 
issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of each Subsidiary have been duly 
authorized and are validly issued and outstanding, fully paid and nonassessable, 
and have been issued in compliance with applicable securities and other Laws. 
 
     (c)  Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary directly or indirectly owns, 
controls or has any investment or other interest in any corporation, 
partnership, joint venture, business trust or other Person (or has any 
obligation or express contractual right to acquire any such investment or other 
interest) and neither the Company nor any Subsidiary has agreed, contingently or 
otherwise, (1) to share any of its profits with any Person, (2) other than in 
ordinary course commercial transactions, to share any losses, costs or 
liabilities of any Person or (3) to guaranty the obligations of any Person other 
than the Company or any Subsidiary. 
 
     Section 3.08. Financial Statements. The Audited Financial Statements fairly 
present in all material respects the consolidated financial condition, cash 
flows and results of operations of the Company and the Subsidiaries as at the 
respective dates thereof and for the periods therein referred to, all in 
accordance with GAAP, as consistently applied by the Company. The Balance Sheet 
reflects in all material respects all liabilities of the Company and its 
Subsidiaries, whether absolute, accrued or contingent, as of the date thereof 
which are required to be accrued or disclosed in a balance sheet (or the notes 
thereto) prepared in accordance with GAAP, as consistently applied by the 
Company. 
 
     Section 3.09. Accounts Receivable. All accounts and notes receivable of the 
Company and each Subsidiary represent valid obligations from sales made or 
services rendered in the ordinary course of business and are not subject to any 
right of set-off or any agreements or understandings (oral or written) that 
would permit any payor to reduce or satisfy any portion of an obligation by 
return of goods or any means other than the payment of cash in the face amount 
thereof. 
 
     Section 3.10. Inventory. Subject to any reserve therefor included in the 
Balance Sheet, at the Balance Sheet Date, all inventories of the Company and its 
Subsidiaries (including inventory ordered but not yet received) consisted of 
items of a quality usable or saleable in the normal course of the business of 
the Company consistent with past practices and were in quantities sufficient for 
the normal operation of the business of the Company in accordance with past 
practices. The values at which inventories are shown on the Balance Sheet have 
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been determined in accordance with the customary valuation policy of the Company 
(which is the lower of average cost or market) and in accordance with GAAP, as 
consistently applied by the Company. Since the Balance Sheet Date, the Company 
has continued to replenish its inventory and to dispose of out-of-season and 
slow-moving inventory in a normal and customary manner consistent with past 
practices prevailing in the business of the Company. 
 
     Section 3.11. Absence of Certain Changes. Except as set forth in Section 
3.11 of the Disclosure Schedule and except as expressly contemplated by the 
Transaction Documents, since the Balance Sheet Date, the business of the Company 
and its Subsidiaries has been conducted in the ordinary course consistent with 
past practices and there has not been: 
 
          (i)   any event, occurrence or development which has had or is 
     reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect; 
 
          (ii)  any declaration, setting aside or payment of any dividend or 
     other distribution with respect to any shares of capital stock of the 
     Company or by any Subsidiary to any Person other than a Subsidiary or the 
     Company, or any repurchase, redemption or other acquisition by the Company 
     or any Subsidiary of any outstanding shares of capital stock or other 
     securities of the Company, any Subsidiary or any other entity; 
 
          (iii) any amendment of any term of any outstanding security of the 
     Company or any Subsidiary; 
 
          (iv)  any incurrence, assumption or guarantee by the Company or any 
     Subsidiary of any indebtedness for borrowed money other than in the 
     ordinary course of business consistent with past practice; 
 
          (v)   any making of any loan, advance or capital contributions to or 
     investment in any Person by the Company or any Subsidiary other than loans, 
     advances or capital contributions to a Subsidiary or investments made in a 
     Subsidiary in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice 
     and other than travel, relocation and similar advances to employees in the 
     ordinary course of business and in an amount less than $25,000 for any 
     employee; 
 
          (vi)  any change in any method of accounting or accounting practice by 
     the Company or any Subsidiary (except for any such change required by 
     reason of a concurrent change in required GAAP), or any change in any of 
     the principles underlying, or methods of calculating, any bad debt, 
     contingency or other reserve; 
 
          (vii) any (1) employment, deferred compensation, severance, retirement 
     or other similar agreement entered into with any director, 
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     officer or employee of the Company or any Subsidiary (or any amendment to 
     any such existing agreement), (2) grant of any severance or termination pay 
     to any director, officer or employee of the Company or any Subsidiary, or 
     (3) change in compensation or other benefits payable to any director, 
     officer or employee of the Company or any Subsidiary; 
 
          (viii) any adoption of or change in any Employee Plan or Benefit 
     Arrangement maintained by the Company or any Subsidiary or any compensation 
     or labor policy; 
 
          (ix)   any entry into, material amendment, termination or receipt of 
     notice of termination of any Lease of Real Property or any other agreement 
     or commitment required to be disclosed in Section 3.12 of the Disclosure 
     Schedule; 
 
          (x)    any sale (other than sales of inventory in the ordinary course 
     of business), assignment, conveyance, lease or other disposition of any 
     material asset or property of the Company or any Subsidiary or imposition 
     of any Lien on any material asset or property of the Company or any 
     Subsidiary; 
 
          (xi)   any write-down or write-off of the value of any material asset 
     except for write-downs or write-offs of accounts receivable and inventory 
     in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice; 
 
          (xii)  any other material transaction or commitment made, or any 
     material contract or agreement entered into, by the Company or any 
     Subsidiary relating to its assets or business, other than transactions and 
     commitments in the ordinary course of business and those contemplated by 
     any of the Transaction Documents; or 
 
          (xiii) any agreement, whether or not in writing, to do any of the 
     foregoing by the Company or any Subsidiary. 
 
     Section 3.12. Material Contracts. (a) Except as expressly provided by any 
of the Transaction Documents, none of the Company nor any Subsidiary has or is 
bound by: 
 
          (i)    any agreement, indenture or other instrument relating to the 
     borrowing of money (other than any such agreement with The Limited or any 
     of its Affiliates), other than in connection with the issuance of letters 
     of credit in the ordinary course of business; 
 
          (ii)   any agreement, license, contract or commitment pursuant to 
     which any trade secret, confidential or other proprietary information, or 
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     any customer information of the Company or any Subsidiary may be 
     transferred, disclosed to or used by any third party; 
 
          (iii)  any agreement, contract or commitment, or group of related 
     agreements, contracts or commitments, relating to a single capital 
     expenditure of greater than $250,000; 
 
          (iv)   any loan or advance to, or investment in, any Person or any 
     agreement, contract or commitment relating to the making of any such loan, 
     advance or investment, other than travel, relocation and similar advances 
     to employees in the ordinary course of business and in an amount less than 
     $25,000 for any employee; 
 
          (v)    any guarantee or other contingent liability in respect of any 
     indebtedness or obligations of any Person (other than in connection with 
     relocation of employees in the ordinary course of business and in an amount 
     less than $25,000 for any employee or the endorsement of negotiable 
     instruments for collection in the ordinary course of business); 
 
          (vi)   any management service, sales agency, sales representative, 
     distributorship or any other similar type contract, except for any such 
     agreements with The Limited or any of its Affiliates; 
 
          (vii)  any agreement, contract or commitment limiting the freedom of 
     the Company or any Subsidiary to engage in any line of business or to 
     compete with any Person except for customary exclusives and restrictions as 
     may be contained in leases or other occupancy contracts that relate to a 
     certain shopping center and not the business generally; 
 
          (viii) except for contracts, agreements, purchase orders or other 
     commitments of a type referred to in any of the other clauses of this 
     Section 3.12, any contract, agreement, purchase order or other commitment, 
     or related group of contracts, agreements, purchase orders or other 
     commitments involving the performance of services or delivery of goods or 
     materials, other than inventory, by or to the Company or any Subsidiary of 
     an aggregate amount in excess of $250,000; 
 
          (ix)   any contract, agreement or commitment to which the Company or 
     any Subsidiary is a party or is otherwise bound (other than customary 
     "percentage rent" provisions contained in Leases for Real Property) 
     providing for payments to or by any person or entity based on sales, 
     purchases or profits, other than direct payments for goods; 
 
          (x)    any contract, agreement or commitment to which Seller, the 
     Company or any Subsidiary is a party or is otherwise bound providing for 
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     change in control, severance, retention or related payments and/or benefits 
     to directors, officers or employees of the Company or any Subsidiary; or 
 
          (xi)   any other material contract, agreement or commitment, to which 
     the Company or any Subsidiary is a party or by which any of them or their 
     assets are otherwise bound which is entered into outside the ordinary 
     course of business of a type that is not referred to in any of the other 
     clauses of this Section 3.12. 
 
     The Limited has furnished or made available to Buyer true and complete 
copies of each agreement, lease, plan or other document required to be disclosed 
in Section 3.12 of the Disclosure Schedule. 
 
     (b)  Each material contract, agreement or commitment to which the Company 
or any Subsidiary is a party or by which they or their assets are bound 
(including each agreement or contract required to be disclosed pursuant to this 
Agreement) was made in the ordinary course of business, is in full force and 
effect and is valid, binding and enforceable against the parties thereto in 
accordance with its terms, except as the same may be limited by applicable 
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws now or 
hereafter in effect relating to the enforcement of creditors' rights generally 
or by principles governing the availability of equitable remedies, and to the 
Knowledge of The Limited and Seller, there exists no default or event of default 
or event, occurrence, condition or act which, with the giving of notice, the 
lapse of time or the happening of any other event or condition, would become a 
default or event of default thereunder which would singly or in the aggregate 
constitute (or be reasonably likely to constitute) a Material Adverse Effect. 
None of the Company or any Subsidiary is now in violation of any of the terms or 
conditions of any material contract or agreement to which it is a party that 
would give the other party thereto the right to terminate, or charge any penalty 
or increased payment under, such contract or agreement, subject to all rights to 
cure under such contract or agreement, and, to the Knowledge of The Limited and 
Seller, all of the covenants to be performed by any other party thereto have 
been fully performed. 
 
     Section 3.13. Certain Related Party Contracts. Except as contemplated by 
any Transaction Document, there are no agreements, contracts, commitments or 
understandings (whether written or oral) by and between The Limited or its 
Affiliates, on the one hand, and the Company or any Subsidiary, on the other 
hand, including, without limitation, any such agreements, contracts, commitments 
or understandings pursuant to which The Limited or such Affiliate provides or 
receives any information, assets, properties, support or other services to or 
from the Company or any Subsidiary (including, but not limited to accounting, 
tax, data processing, information technology and legal services) (collectively, 
"Related Party Agreements"). 
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     Section 3.14. Litigation. Except for the Retained Litigation, there are no 
claims, actions, suits, investigations or proceedings (arbitration or otherwise) 
pending against, or to the Knowledge of The Limited and Seller, threatened 
against or affecting, the Company or any Subsidiary, or any of their respective 
properties or assets, or, to the extent relating to the Company or any 
Subsidiary or any of their respective properties or assets or to the 
transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents, The Limited or any of 
its Affiliates, before any court or arbitrator or any governmental body, agency 
or official where there is a reasonable possibility of a judgment adverse to the 
Company or any Subsidiary which would result in the Company or any Subsidiary 
suffering damages in excess of $25,000 or in any material injunctive or 
equitable relief. As of the date hereof, there are no claims, actions, suits, 
investigations (arbitration or otherwise) pending against, or to the Knowledge 
of The Limited and Seller, threatened, against the Company or any Subsidiary, 
The Limited or Seller, or any of their Affiliates, before any court or 
arbitrator or any governmental body or agency which in any manner challenges or 
seeks to prevent, enjoin, alter or materially delay the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement. To the Knowledge of The Limited and Seller, 
there are no facts which could reasonably serve as a basis for any claim, 
action, suit, investigation or proceeding which could be reasonably likely to 
cause a Material Adverse Effect, or which could in any manner challenge or seek 
to prevent, enjoin, alter or materially delay the transactions contemplated by 
this Agreement. There are no material unsatisfied judgments, penalties or awards 
against or affecting the Company or any Subsidiary or any of their businesses, 
properties or assets. 
 
     Section 3.15. Properties. (a) Section 3.15 of the Disclosure Schedule 
correctly lists each parcel of real property leased or subleased (including the 
real property to be subleased under the Master Sublease) by the Company or any 
Subsidiary (the "Real Property"). The Company and its Subsidiaries do not own 
any Real Property in fee simple. 
 
     (b)  Section 3.15 of the Disclosure Schedule contains (1) as of the date 
hereof, a complete and accurate list of every lease of Real Property, together 
with all amendments and modifications thereto and each agreement (written or 
oral) that affects the rights of any party to such leases (each, a "Lease"), and 
(2) as of the date hereof, a complete and accurate list of each Lease which by 
its terms expires on or before January 31, 2002 (the "Renewal Leases"). Each 
Lease is in full force and effect and, as of the date hereof, has not been 
modified by any agreement (written or oral); has not been assigned, transferred 
or hypothecated by the tenant thereunder; all material amounts due and payable 
as rent or additional rent (including any percentage rents) due under each such 
Lease have been paid in full (except that routine reconciliations of typical 
lease charges such as taxes, common area maintenance payments, insurance and the 
like may still be owed for prior years if such amounts have not been billed by 
landlords or are in the routine process of payment on the date hereof); in each 
case the lessee has been in peaceable possession since the commencement of the 
original term of such Lease 
 
                                       20 



 
 
and no material waiver, indulgence or postponement of the lessee's obligations 
thereunder has been granted by the lessor; and there exists no default or event, 
occurrence, condition or act which, with the giving of notice or the lapse of 
time or both, would become a default under such Lease which would give the 
lessor the right to terminate the Lease, charge any increased rent or require 
any penalty or similar payment, subject to all rights to cure under such Lease. 
Neither the Company, any Subsidiary nor any party leasing Real Property for the 
benefit of the Company or any Subsidiary has violated any of the terms or 
conditions under any such Lease in any material respect, and, to the Knowledge 
of The Limited and Seller, all of the covenants to be performed by any other 
party under any such Lease have been fully performed. The Company and its 
Subsidiaries have adequate rights of ingress and egress and adequate electric, 
light, telephone and water utilities with respect to all Real Property for 
operation of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries in the ordinary 
course and consistent in all material respects with past practice and with the 
business plans of the Company and its Subsidiaries as in effect on the date 
hereof. No condemnation proceeding or other litigation is pending or, to the 
Knowledge of The Limited and Seller, threatened which would preclude or impair 
the use of any such Real Property by the Company and its Subsidiaries for the 
purposes for which it is currently used or proposed to be used. To the Knowledge 
of The Limited and Seller, the buildings and structures in which the premises 
leased pursuant to a Lease are situated are structurally sound with no known 
material defects that are not being addressed in the ordinary course by the 
Company or its Subsidiaries (either directly or through The Limited and its 
Affiliates or the relevant landlord) and are in good operating condition and 
repair (except for repairs being undertaken in the ordinary course by the 
Company or its Subsidiaries (either directly or through The Limited and its 
Affiliates) or the relevant landlord) in each case to the extent necessary for 
the continued operation of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries, in 
all material respects consistent with past practice. The Company and its 
Subsidiaries (directly or through The Limited and its Affiliates) maintain store 
maintenance programs that are consistent with sound business practices. 
 
     Section 3.16. Licenses and Permits. Section 3.16 of the Disclosure 
Schedule correctly sets forth all material Permits necessary for the operation 
of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries in the same manner in all 
material respects as such business is being conducted as of the date hereof. 
Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is in default in any material respect or 
material noncompliance under any of such Permits. 
 
     Section 3.17. Environmental Matters.  (a) No written notice, request for 
information, order, complaint or penalty has been received by The Limited or any 
of its Affiliates, the Company or any Subsidiary within the two years preceding 
the date hereof or as to matters that have not been resolved, and there are no 
judicial, administrative or other actions, suits or proceedings pending or, to 
the Knowledge of The Limited and Seller, threatened which allege a violation of 
any Environmental Law, in each case relating to the Company or any Subsidiary or 
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any property formerly or currently owned, leased or operated by the Company or 
any Subsidiary and arising out of any Environmental Law; 
 
     (b)  The Company and each Subsidiary, any property currently owned or 
operated by the Company or any Subsidiary and, to the Knowledge of The Limited 
and Seller, any property currently leased by the Company or any Subsidiary, have 
in full force and effect all material Permits necessary for their operations to 
comply with all applicable Environmental Laws and are, and during the last five 
years have been, in material compliance with the terms of such Permits and with 
all other applicable Environmental Laws; and 
 
     (c)  There has been no environmental audit, investigation, report, sampling 
report, remediation report or other related report conducted within the past ten 
years by or on behalf of The Limited, Seller, the Company or any Subsidiary or, 
to the Knowledge of The Limited and Seller, by any governmental agency or other 
third party of or related to the environmental condition of any property 
formerly or currently owned, leased or operated by the Company or any Subsidiary 
which has not been delivered or made available to Buyer prior to the date hereof 
and listed on Section 3.17 of the Disclosure Schedule. 
 
     Section 3.18. Compliance with Laws and Court Orders. The Company and each 
Subsidiary are, and at all times since January 1, 2000 have been, in compliance 
in all material respects with all applicable Laws, and neither the Company nor 
any Subsidiary has any basis to expect any notice, order or other written 
communication from any governmental agency or instrumentality thereof alleging 
any actual or potential material violation of or failure to comply with any Law. 
 
     Section 3.19. Intellectual Property. (a) Section 3.19 of the Disclosure 
Schedule sets forth each material (1) registered trademark, service mark and 
related application (the "Marks"), (2) internet domain name registration and 
related application (the "Domain Names") and (3) license and permit issued or 
granted by any Person relating to any of the foregoing; in each case owned, 
leased, used or held by, granted to or licensed by the Company or any Subsidiary 
as either licensor or licensee, together with all other interests therein 
granted by the Company or any Subsidiary to any other Person and all agreements, 
including but not limited to Liens, consents and coexistence or settlement 
agreements, with respect to any of the foregoing to which the Company or any 
Subsidiary is a party. The Company or one of its Subsidiaries are the sole 
owners of or have the exclusive perpetual right to use without consideration, 
all Intellectual Property, free and clear of any Lien. None of the Marks are 
abandoned and all Marks are subsisting. The Intellectual Property is sufficient 
for the continued conduct of the respective businesses of the Company and the 
Subsidiaries after the Closing in the same manner as such businesses were 
conducted prior to the Closing in all material respects. Neither the Company nor 
any Subsidiary has granted or licensed to any Person any rights with respect to 
any Intellectual Property or other 
 
                                       22 



 
 
proprietary information of the Company or its Subsidiaries and no other Person 
has any material rights in or to any Intellectual Property or other proprietary 
information of the Company or its Subsidiaries (including, without limitation, 
any rights to exploit in any manner any of such Intellectual Property, including 
but not limited to, through marketing or distributing goods or services under 
any of the Marks). The rights of the Company and the Subsidiaries in and to any 
of the Intellectual Property will not be limited or otherwise affected by reason 
of any of the transactions contemplated hereby. 
 
     (b)  The list of Marks set forth in Section 3.19 of the Disclosure Schedule 
sets forth: (1) the name of the owner of the Mark; (2) the jurisdictions by or 
in which such Mark has been issued or registered or in which an application for 
such issuance or registration has been filed, (3) the registration or 
application numbers, (4) the next action deadline and (5) a list of all 
licenses, sublicenses and other agreements as to which the Company or any 
Subsidiary is a party and pursuant to which any other Person is authorized to 
use any Mark. None of the Intellectual Property is the subject of any 
outstanding judgment, legal action, proceeding, injunction, order, decree or 
agreement restricting the use thereof by the Company or any Subsidiary or 
restricting the licensing thereof by the Company or any Subsidiary to any 
Person. To the Knowledge of The Limited and Seller, no Intellectual Property has 
been infringed, or challenged, or made the subject of an adverse claim or 
threatened in any way. None of the Intellectual Property nor any services or 
products manufactured, rendered or sold by the Company or any Subsidiary under 
or incorporating the Intellectual Property infringe or violate, or, to the 
Knowledge of The Limited and Seller, are alleged to materially infringe or 
violate any trademark, patent, copyright, or other proprietary right of any 
Person, including but not limited to any domain registrations, and neither the 
Company nor any Subsidiary has received any notice of such infringement or 
alleged infringement, violation or proceeding of any nature, whether judicial, 
arbitral or otherwise, relating to any of the Intellectual Property. Under any 
license, sublicense or other agreement as to which the Company or any Subsidiary 
is a party and pursuant to which any other Person is authorized to use any Key 
Trademark, each such Person authorized under any such license, sublicense or 
agreement is a "related company" (as such term is defined under Sections 5 and 
45 of the Trademark Act of 1946, as amended), and the Company and its 
Subsidiaries, to the extent a party to such license, sublicense or agreement, 
have at all times overseen such Person's use of the Key Trademark and the nature 
and quality of the goods and services offered under such Key Trademark and no 
such Key Trademark has been used in a manner that is "deceptive" (as such term 
is used under Section 5 of the Trademark Act of 1946, as amended). As used 
herein, "Key Trademark" means "Lane Bryant," "Venezia" and "Cacique" and any 
logos with respect to the foregoing. 
 
     (c)  Except as would not be material, all personnel, including employees, 
agents, consultants, and contractors, who have contributed to or participated in 
the conception and development of Intellectual Property on behalf of the Company 
or 
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any of its Subsidiaries either (1) have been part of a "work-for-hire" 
arrangement or agreement with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, in 
accordance with applicable federal and state law, that has accorded to the 
Company or any of its Subsidiaries, full, effective, exclusive, and original 
ownership of all tangible and intangible property thereby arising, or (2) have 
executed appropriate instruments of assignment in favor of the Company or any of 
its Subsidiaries as assignee(s) that have conveyed to the Company or any of its 
Subsidiaries full, effective, and exclusive ownership of all tangible and 
intangible property thereby arising. 
 
     (d)  Neither The Limited or any of its Affiliates, nor the Company or any 
of its Subsidiaries, has, by agreement (written or oral), course of conduct or 
otherwise, waived, modified or terminated any material rights in favor of the 
Company or any of its Subsidiaries set forth in the Trademark License Agreement 
dated August 20, 1993, as amended on December 9, 1996, February 18, 1998 and 
July 9, 2001, among Lanco, Inc., Lernco, Inc., Limited Stores, Inc., Lane 
Bryant, Inc., Lane Bryant Direct, Inc. and Lerner Direct, Inc., the Electronic 
Media Trademark License Agreement dated August 20, 1993 among Lanco, Inc., 
Lernco, Inc., Limited Stores, Inc., Lane Bryant, Inc., Lane Bryant Direct, Inc. 
and Lerner Direct, Inc. or the Consumer Marketing Database Services Agreement 
among ADS Alliance Data Systems, Inc., Intimate Brands, Inc. and The Limited, 
Inc. dated September 1, 2000 (the "Database Services Agreement"). 
 
     Section 3.20. Personal Property; Bank Accounts. (a) The Company and each 
Subsidiary have good and marketable title to all of the material properties and 
assets used by Company and each Subsidiary in the conduct of their respective 
businesses (not including real property) free and clear of any Lien other than 
Permitted Liens and Exceptions, and all material properties and assets owned or 
leased by the Company or any Subsidiary are in the possession or under the 
control of the Company or a Subsidiary and are, in the aggregate, in good 
condition and repair, ordinary wear and tear excepted, are suitable for the 
purposes for which they are being used and are of a condition, nature and 
quantity sufficient for the conduct of the business of such entity. Together 
with the services to be provided under the Services Agreement, the properties 
and assets of the Company and the Subsidiaries are sufficient for the continued 
conduct of their respective businesses after the Closing in substantially the 
same manner as conducted prior to the Closing. 
 
     (b)  Section 3.20 of the Disclosure Schedule contains a complete and 
accurate list of each bank, checking, money market, investment or similar 
account, excluding individual store deposit accounts (each, a "Company 
Account"), owned by or used for the business and operations of the Company and 
its Subsidiaries and each individual authorized to have access to and make 
transactions under each Company Account. 
 
     Section 3.21. Suppliers. Section 3.21 of the Disclosure Schedule lists (a) 
the names of the twenty suppliers and vendors from whom the Company and the 
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Subsidiaries made the most purchases during the most recently completed fiscal 
year and the aggregate expenditures attributable to each in such year and (b) 
each outstanding purchase order commitment to purchase inventory with any 
supplier or vendor that is outstanding as of the second Business Day prior to 
the date hereof, the products subject to such purchase order and the applicable 
supplier or vendor.   To the Knowledge of The Limited and Seller, the Company 
and each Subsidiary enjoys good working relationships under all arrangements and 
agreements with their current suppliers (including each of the suppliers listed 
in clause (a) of this Section) sufficient to the normal operation of their 
businesses. 
 
     Section 3.22. Labor Matters. (a) No application or petition for 
certification of a collective bargaining agent is pending and none of the 
employees of the Company or any Subsidiary is represented by any union or other 
bargaining representative; (b) since January 1, 2000, no union has attempted to 
organize any group of the Company's or any Subsidiary's employees, and, to the 
Knowledge of The Limited and Seller, no group of the Company's or any 
Subsidiary's employees has sought to organize themselves into a union or similar 
organization for the purpose of collective bargaining; (c) since January 1, 
2000, there has not been and there is not currently pending any material labor 
arbitration or proceeding in respect of the grievance of any employee, any 
application, charge or complaint filed by any employee or union with the 
National Labor Relations Board or any comparable state or local agency, any 
strike, slowdown, picketing or material work stoppage by any employees at any 
facility of the Company or any Subsidiary, any lockout of any such employees or 
any labor trouble or other labor-related controversy, occurrence or condition. 
 
     Section 3.23. Books and Records. True, complete and correct copies of the 
certificates or articles of incorporation and bylaws of the Company and each 
Subsidiary (or other comparable organizational documents) have been delivered or 
made available to Buyer and such documents, in the form delivered to Buyer, are 
in full force and effect as of the date hereof. The minute books of the Company 
and each Subsidiary contain complete and accurate records of all meetings held 
of, and corporate action taken by, the shareholders, the boards of directors and 
each committee of the boards of directors of the Company and the Subsidiaries 
and no meetings or actions of such shareholders or of any such board of 
directors or committee have been held for which minutes or other appropriate 
records have not been prepared and included in such minute books. Complete and 
accurate copies, as of the date hereof, of all such minute books and stock 
records have been made available to Buyer. The books and records of the Company 
and each Subsidiary have been maintained in accordance with sound business 
practices. The Company and each Subsidiary maintains internal accounting 
controls which, in its reasonable judgment, provide reasonable assurance that: 
(a) transactions are executed in accordance with management's authorization; and 
(b) transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of reliable 
financial statements and to maintain accountability for earnings and assets. 
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     Section 3.24. Finders' Fees. Except for Lazard Freres & Co., LLC, whose 
fees will be paid by The Limited, there is no investment banker, broker, finder 
or other intermediary which has been retained by or is authorized to act on 
behalf of Seller, The Limited, the Company or any Subsidiary which might be 
entitled to any fee or commission in connection with the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement. 
 
     Section 3.25. Securities Matters. (a) The Limited and Seller acknowledge 
that the shares of Stock Consideration and the shares of Adjustment Stock 
Consideration if any (the "Parent Shares") have not been registered under the 
1933 Act, on the grounds that the issuance thereof to Seller in connection with 
the transactions contemplated in this Agreement is exempt from registration 
pursuant to Section 4(2) of the 1933 Act, and that the reliance of Parent on 
such exemption is predicated in part on the acknowledgements, representations 
and warranties set forth in this Section 3.25. Any references to the Adjustment 
Stock Consideration in this Section 3.25 are included for the convenience of the 
parties and are not intended to limit the general applicability of Section 
2.04(d)(ii). 
 
     (b)  The Parent Shares will be acquired by Seller for investment for its 
own account and not with a view to, or for sale in connection with, any 
distribution thereof in violation of the 1933 Act. 
 
     (c)  The Limited and Seller: (1) acknowledge that the Parent Shares to be 
issued to Seller are not registered under the 1933 Act and may not be 
transferred unless the Parent Shares are subsequently registered under the 1933 
Act or an exemption from registration is available, and (2) are aware that 
Parent is not obligated to register any sale, transfer or other disposition of 
the Parent Shares except as contemplated by this Agreement. 
 
     (d)  Seller (either alone or together with its advisors) has sufficient 
knowledge and experience in financial and business matters so as to be capable 
of evaluating the merits and risks of its investment in Parent Shares and is 
capable of bearing the economic risks of such investment. 
 
     (e)  The Limited and Seller acknowledge that the certificates representing 
the Parent Shares will contain restrictive legends noting the restrictions on 
transfer described in this Section 3.25 and in Section 5.10 and under federal 
and applicable state securities laws, and that appropriate "stop-transfer" 
instructions will be given to Parent's stock transfer agent. It is understood 
that such legends and "stop-transfer" instructions will be removed at the time 
and to the extent the Parent Shares are registered under the 1933 Act. 
 
     (f)  The Limited and Seller are informed and sophisticated purchasers, and 
have engaged expert advisors, experienced in the evaluation and purchase of 
securities such as the Parent Shares as contemplated hereunder. The Limited and 
Seller have undertaken such investigation as they have deemed necessary to 
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enable them to make an informed and intelligent decision with respect to the 
execution, delivery and performance of the Transaction Documents. The Limited 
and Seller acknowledge that Parent and its Affiliates have given The Limited and 
Seller access to key employees, documents and facilities of Parent and its 
subsidiaries. The Limited and Seller will undertake prior to Closing such 
further investigation and request such additional documents and information as 
they deem necessary. The Limited and Seller agree to accept the Stock 
Consideration in the condition it is in on the Closing Date, and the Adjustment 
Stock Consideration in the condition it is in on the Adjustment Closing Date, 
based upon their own inspection, examination and determination with respect 
thereto as to all matters, and without reliance upon any express or implied 
representations or warranties of any nature, whether in writing, oral or 
otherwise, made by or on behalf of or imputed to Parent or any of its 
Affiliates, except as expressly set forth in this Agreement. Without limiting 
the generality of the foregoing, The Limited and Seller acknowledge that Parent 
and its Affiliates make no representation or warranty with respect to any 
projections, estimates or budgets delivered to or made available to The Limited 
and Seller of future revenues, future results of operations (or any component 
thereof), future cash flows or future financial condition (or any component 
thereof) of Parent and its subsidiaries or the future business and operations of 
Parent and its subsidiaries or any other information or documents made available 
to The Limited, Seller or their counsel, accountants or advisors with respect to 
Parent and its subsidiaries or any of the foregoing business, assets, 
liabilities or operations, except as expressly set forth in this Agreement. 
 
     Section 3.26. Guarantees. Appendix 6.05 sets forth a complete and accurate 
list of each Financial Support Arrangement. The Limited has furnished Parent and 
Buyer with true and correct copies of each such Financial Support Arrangement. 
 
                                   ARTICLE 4 
              Representations and Warranties of Parent and Buyer 
 
     Parent and Buyer each represent and warrant to The Limited and Seller, as 
of the date hereof and as of the Closing, that: 
 
     Section 4.01. Corporate Existence and Power.  Parent is a corporation duly 
incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its 
jurisdiction of incorporation and has all necessary corporate power and 
authority, and all material Permits, required to carry on its business as now 
conducted, to own and lease assets which it owns and leases and to perform all 
of its obligations under each agreement to which it is a party or by which it is 
bound.  Parent is duly qualified to do business as a foreign corporation and is 
in good standing in each jurisdiction in which its ownership of or leasing of 
assets or properties or the 
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nature of its activities requires such qualification, except for those 
jurisdictions in which the failure to be so qualified would not, individually or 
in the aggregate, have, or be reasonably likely to have a material adverse 
effect on the business, properties, assets, results of operations, prospects or 
condition (financial or otherwise) of Parent and its subsidiaries, taken as a 
whole, except any such effect resulting from (1) this Agreement or the 
transactions specifically contemplated hereby, (2) changes or conditions in 
either the women's apparel sector or retail sector generally or (3) changes or 
conditions arising from economic, market, regulatory or political conditions 
generally (a "Parent Material Adverse Effect"). Buyer is a corporation duly 
incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its 
jurisdiction of incorporation. Buyer is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent and 
was formed solely for the purposes of engaging in the transactions contemplated 
by this Agreement, and has engaged in no other business activities and has 
conducted its operations only as contemplated hereby. As used in this Article 4 
the term "subsidiary" shall mean any entity of which securities or other 
ownership interests having ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the 
board of directors or other persons performing similar functions are at the time 
directly or indirectly owned by the Parent. 
 
     Section 4.02. Corporate Authorization. The execution, delivery and 
performance by each of Parent and Buyer of the Transaction Documents to which it 
is a party and the consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby are 
within the corporate powers and authority of each of Parent and Buyer and have 
been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of Parent and 
Buyer. To the extent a party thereto, each of the Transaction Documents 
constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of Parent and Buyer, as 
applicable, and is enforceable against each of Parent and Buyer, as applicable, 
in accordance with its respective terms, (1) except as enforcement may be 
limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or 
similar laws now or hereafter in effect relating to or affecting creditors' 
rights generally, including the effect of statutory and other laws concerning 
fraudulent conveyances and preferential transfers, and (2) subject to the 
limitations imposed by general equitable principles (regardless of whether such 
enforceability is considered in a proceeding at law or in equity). 
 
     Section 4.03. Governmental Authorization. To the extent a party thereto, 
the execution, delivery and performance by Parent and Buyer, as applicable, of 
each of the Transaction Documents and the consummation of the transactions 
contemplated thereby require no material action, consent or approval by or in 
respect of, material filing with or material notice to, any governmental body, 
agency or official other than (1) compliance with any applicable requirements of 
the HSR Act; (2) compliance with any applicable requirements of the 1933 Act and 
the 1934 Act; and (3) any required filings with or approvals from The Nasdaq 
National Market. 
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     Section 4.04. Noncontravention. The execution, delivery and performance by 
Parent and Buyer, as applicable, of any of the Transaction Documents to which it 
is a party and the consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby do not 
and will not (1) violate or conflict with the certificate of incorporation or 
bylaws (or other organizational documents) of Parent or Buyer, (2) assuming 
compliance with the matters referred to in Section 4.03, contravene or conflict 
with or constitute a violation of any provision of any Law binding upon or 
applicable to Parent or Buyer, or (3) with or without the giving of notice or 
the lapse of time, or both, constitute a default under or give rise to any right 
of termination, cancellation or acceleration of any right or obligation of 
Parent or Buyer, or to a loss of any benefit to which Parent or Buyer is 
entitled under any provision of any agreement, contract or other instrument to 
which Parent or Buyer is a party or by which either of them or their respective 
properties or assets is bound, or give to others any rights (including rights of 
termination, foreclosure, cancellation or acceleration) in or with respect to 
any of their respective properties or assets except for any such default, 
termination, cancellation, acceleration or loss that would not be material. 
 
     Section 4.05. Financing. Parent has received the commitment letter dated 
May 31, 2001 from the signatories thereto, a true and correct copy of which is 
set forth in Appendix 4.05 (the "Commitment Letter"). Upon satisfaction of the 
conditions precedent set forth in the Commitment Letter, Buyer will have prior 
to the Closing sufficient cash, available lines of credit or other sources of 
immediately available funds necessary to enable it to make the Cash Payment at 
Closing. Parent has no reason to believe that any of the conditions precedent 
set forth in the Commitment Letter will not be satisfied prior to Closing. 
 
     Section 4.06. Purchase and Investment. Buyer is purchasing the Shares for 
investment for its own account and not with a view to, or for sale in connection 
with, any distribution thereof. Buyer (either alone or together with its 
advisors) has sufficient knowledge and experience in financial and business 
matters so as to be capable of evaluating the merits and risks of its investment 
in the Shares and is capable of bearing the economic risks of such investment. 
 
     Section 4.07. Litigation; Compliance with Laws. Except as disclosed in the 
Parent Commission Reports, there are no claims, actions, suits, investigations 
or proceedings (arbitration or otherwise) pending against, or to the knowledge 
of Parent, threatened against or affecting, Parent or any subsidiary of Parent, 
any of their respective properties or assets, or the transactions contemplated 
by the Transaction Documents before any court or arbitrator or any governmental 
body, agency or official where there is a reasonable possibility of a judgment 
adverse to Parent or its subsidiaries which would result in a Parent Material 
Adverse Effect or which in any manner challenges or seeks to prevent, enjoin, 
alter or materially delay the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. To 
the knowledge of Parent, there are no facts which could reasonably serve as a 
basis for any such claim, action, suit, investigation or proceeding. There are 
no material unsatisfied 
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judgments, penalties or awards against or affecting Parent or any subsidiary or 
any of their businesses, properties or assets. Parent and its subsidiaries are 
in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws, and neither 
Parent nor any subsidiary of Parent has any basis to expect any notice, order or 
other written communication from any governmental agency or instrumentality 
thereof alleging any actual or potential material violation of or failure to 
comply with any Law. 
 
     Section 4.08. Finders' Fees. Except for J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., whose 
fees will be paid by Parent, there is no investment banker, broker, finder or 
other intermediary which has been retained by or is authorized to act on behalf 
of Parent or Buyer who might be entitled to any fee or commission from The 
Limited or any of its Affiliates upon consummation of the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement. 
 
     Section 4.09. Inspections; No Other Representations. Parent and Buyer are 
informed and sophisticated purchasers, and have engaged expert advisors, 
experienced in the evaluation and purchase of companies such as the Company and 
its Subsidiaries as contemplated hereunder. Parent and Buyer have undertaken 
such investigation as they have deemed necessary to enable them to make an 
informed and intelligent decision with respect to the execution, delivery and 
performance of the Transaction Documents. Buyer and Parent acknowledge that The 
Limited and its Affiliates have given Parent and Buyer access to key employees, 
documents and facilities of the Company and its Subsidiaries and, to the extent 
related to the Company or any Subsidiary, The Limited and its Affiliates. Parent 
and Buyer will undertake prior to Closing such further investigation and request 
such additional documents and information as they deem necessary. Buyer and 
Parent agree to accept the Shares and the Company in the condition they are in 
on the Closing Date based upon their own inspection, examination and 
determination with respect thereto as to all matters, and without reliance upon 
any express or implied representations or warranties of any nature, whether in 
writing, oral or otherwise, made by or on behalf of or imputed to The Limited or 
any of its Affiliates, except as expressly set forth in this Agreement. Without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, Parent and Buyer acknowledge that The 
Limited and its Affiliates make no representation or warranty with respect to 
any projections, estimates or budgets delivered to or made available to Parent 
or Buyer of future revenues, future results of operations (or any component 
thereof), future cash flows or future financial condition (or any component 
thereof) of the Company and its Subsidiaries or the future business and 
operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries or any other information or 
documents made available to Buyer, Parent or their counsel, accountants or 
advisors with respect to the Company, its Subsidiaries, The Limited, any of The 
Limited's Affiliates or any of the foregoing business, assets, liabilities or 
operations, except as expressly set forth in this Agreement. 
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     Section 4.10. Commission Reports; Financial Information. (a) Since January 
1, 2000, Parent has filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the 
"Commission") all forms, statements, reports and documents required to be filed 
by it under each of the 1933 Act and the 1934 Act (collectively, the "Parent 
Commission Reports"). The Parent Commission Reports have been made available to 
The Limited and Seller. The Parent Commission Reports (i) at the time filed, 
complied in all material respects with the applicable requirements of the 1933 
Act and the 1934 Act, as applicable, and (ii) did not at the time they were 
filed (or if amended or superseded by a filing prior to the date of this 
Agreement, then on the date of such amending or superseding filing) contain any 
untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to 
be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the 
light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. 
 
     (b)  Each of the financial statements (including, in each case, any related 
notes) contained in the Parent Commission Reports complied as to form in all 
material respects with the applicable published rules and regulations of the 
Commission with respect thereto, was prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on 
a consistent basis throughout the periods involved (except as may be indicated 
in the notes to such financial statements or, in the case of unaudited 
statements, as permitted by Regulation S-X promulgated by the Commission) and 
include all adjustments, consisting only of normal accounting adjustments, that 
the Parent reasonably considers necessary for a fair presentation of its 
financial position at the respective dates and the results of its operations and 
cash flows for the periods indicated. Except as disclosed in the Parent 
Commission Reports filed with the Commission prior to the date hereof, since 
February 3, 2001, taking into account the cumulative effect of all developments 
and events since such date, there has not been any development or event that has 
had a Parent Material Adverse Effect. 
 
     Section 4.11.  Capitalization.  The authorized capital stock of the Parent 
as of the date hereof consists of 300,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.10 par 
value per share, of which 102,042,492 shares were outstanding on April 27, 2001, 
and 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $1.00 par value per share, of which 
500,000 shares have been designated as Series A Junior Participating Preferred 
Shares, none of which are outstanding. All issued and outstanding shares of 
capital stock of Parent have been duly authorized and validly issued, are fully 
paid and non-assessable and were issued in compliance with all applicable Laws 
concerning the issuance of securities. 
 
     Section 4.12.  Valid Issuance of Stock Consideration.  The shares of Stock 
Consideration, when issued in accordance with this Agreement, (a) will be duly 
authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable, and (b) will be free 
of any Liens other than as a result of any action by The Limited or its 
Affiliates; provided, however, that the shares of Stock Consideration may be 
subject to restrictions on transfer under applicable securities laws, under this 
Agreement or under other Transaction Documents.  The issuance of the shares of 
Stock 
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Consideration is not and will not be subject to any preemptive rights or rights 
of first refusal applicable to the Parent that have not been properly waived or 
complied with. 
 
                                   ARTICLE 5 
                      Covenants of Seller and the Limited 
 
     The Limited and Seller agree that: 
 
     Section 5.01.  Conduct of The Company.  From the date hereof until the 
Closing Date, except as set forth in the Disclosure Schedule or as expressly 
contemplated by any of the Transaction Documents, The Limited and Seller shall 
cause the Company and its Subsidiaries to (1) conduct their respective 
businesses solely in the ordinary course in a manner consistent with past 
practice and in material compliance with all applicable Laws, Permits, 
agreements and commitments, (2) use their reasonable efforts to preserve intact 
their business relationships and goodwill with third parties and to keep 
available the services of their present employees, (3) maintain their facilities 
and assets in the same state of repair, order and condition as they were on the 
date hereof, ordinary wear and tear excepted, and (4) maintain their corporate 
existence and pay and discharge all debts, liabilities and obligations of the 
Company and its Subsidiaries as they become due, other than debts that are 
disputed in good faith. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, from 
the date hereof until the Closing Date, except as expressly contemplated by the 
Transaction Documents, The Limited and Seller will not, and will cause the 
Company and its Subsidiaries not to: 
 
     (a)  knowingly take any action that would make any representation or 
warranty of The Limited or Seller untrue as of the Closing; 
 
     (b)  adopt or propose any change in its certificate of incorporation or 
bylaws; 
 
     (c)  merge or consolidate with any other Person or acquire a material 
amount of assets from any other Person other than (1) pursuant to existing 
contracts, agreements or commitments that are disclosed herein or in the 
Disclosure Schedule and (2) the acquisition of inventory in the ordinary course 
of business; 
 
     (d)  sell, lease, license or otherwise dispose of any material assets or 
property except (1) pursuant to existing contracts or commitments, or (2) for 
the sale of inventory in the ordinary course of business or (3) for the sale, 
lease, disposition or encumbrance of amounts of assets no longer used in the 
ordinary course of business in amounts that are not material; 
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     (e)  make any material change in inventory policies or procedures, 
operating policies or procedures, or advertising and promotion policies or 
procedures; 
 
     (f)  increase the rates of compensation or vacation or other benefits of 
employees earning less than $75,000 per year, except (1) as required by any Law, 
(2) in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice or (3) as 
required by any contract in effect on the date hereof; 
 
     (g)  increase the rates of compensation or vacation or other benefits of 
employees earning $75,000 per year or more, except (1) as required by any Law or 
(2) as required by any contract in effect on the date hereof and identified in 
the Disclosure Schedule; 
 
     (h)  make any loan, advance or capital contribution to or investment in any 
Person, except for travel, relocation and similar advances in the ordinary 
course of business and in an amount less than $25,000 for any employee; 
 
     (i)  incur, assume or guarantee any debt for borrowed money, other than 
letters of credit incurred or entered into in the ordinary course of business; 
 
     (j)  adopt any change in method of accounting or accounting practice except 
as required by Law or GAAP; 
 
     (k)  enter into any new lease or sublease of Real Property or terminate, 
amend or cause or permit the extension of the term of any Lease, without first 
consulting with and obtaining the consent of Buyer (which consent shall not 
unreasonably be withheld, conditioned or delayed); 
 
     (l)  enter into any contract with The Limited or any Affiliate of The 
Limited; or 
 
     (m)  enter into a binding agreement to do any of the foregoing. 
 
     Section 5.02.  Cooperation On Certain Matters. 
 
     (a)  Access to Information Prior to Closing. From the date hereof until the 
Closing Date, The Limited and Seller will (1) give, and will cause the Company 
and its Subsidiaries to give, Buyer and its counsel, financial advisors, 
auditors and other authorized representatives, and Buyer's sources of funding 
under the Commitment Letter (the "Banks"), reasonable access to the offices, 
properties, books and records of the Company and its Subsidiaries and, to the 
extent related primarily to the Company and its Subsidiaries, to the books and 
records of The Limited and Seller, during normal business hours and upon 
reasonable prior notice, (2) furnish, and will cause the Company and its 
Subsidiaries to furnish, to Buyer and its counsel, financial advisors, auditors 
and other authorized representatives, and to the Banks, such financial and 
operating 
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data and other information relating to the Company and its Subsidiaries as such 
Persons may reasonably request and (3) instruct the employees, counsel and 
financial advisors of The Limited, Seller, the Company and the Subsidiaries to 
cooperate with Buyer in its investigation of the Company and its Subsidiaries. 
Any investigation pursuant to this Section 5.02(a) shall be conducted in such a 
manner as not to interfere unreasonably with the conduct of the business of The 
Limited or any of its Affiliates, the Company or any Subsidiary. Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, Buyer shall not have access to personnel records relating to 
individual performance or evaluation records, medical histories or other 
information which in The Limited's good faith opinion the disclosure of which 
could subject The Limited or any of its Affiliates, the Company or any 
Subsidiary to risk of liability. 
 
     (b)  Access to Information Following Closing. From and after the Closing 
Date, The Limited and Seller will afford promptly to Parent and its Affiliates 
and their counsel, auditors and other authorized representatives reasonable 
access to their books of account, financial and other records, employees and 
auditors to the extent they relate to the Company or its Subsidiaries and to the 
extent necessary to permit Parent and its Affiliates to determine any matter 
relating to their rights and obligations in connection with any audit, 
investigation, dispute or litigation or any other reasonable business purpose 
relating to the Company or its Subsidiaries or Parent's or any of its 
Affiliate's rights or obligations under any of the Transaction Documents; 
provided that any such access by Parent and its Affiliates and their counsel, 
auditors and other authorized representatives shall not unreasonably interfere 
with the conduct of the business of The Limited or any of its Affiliates. 
 
     (c)  Litigation Cooperation. The Limited shall, and shall cause its 
Affiliates to, use reasonable efforts to make available to Parent and its 
Affiliates and their accountants, counsel, and other designated representatives, 
upon written request, the officers, employees and representatives of The Limited 
and its Affiliates as witnesses, and shall otherwise cooperate with Parent and 
its Affiliates, and furnish or cause to be furnished such records, information 
and testimony, and attend such conferences, discovery proceedings, hearings, 
trials or appeals, in each case to the extent reasonably required in connection 
with any legal, administrative or other proceeding arising out of the Company's 
or any of its Subsidiaries' business and operations prior to the Closing Date in 
which Parent or its Affiliates may from time to time be involved or otherwise 
related to any of the Transaction Documents (other than with respect to 
proceedings involving disputes between Parent and its Affiliates, on the one 
hand, and The Limited and its Affiliates, on the other hand); provided that any 
such cooperation shall not unreasonably interfere with the conduct of the 
business of The Limited or any of its Affiliates. 
 
     (d)  Cooperation on Tax Matters. The Limited shall furnish or cause to be 
furnished to Parent, upon request, as promptly as practicable, such information 
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(including access to books and records) and assistance as is reasonably 
necessary for the filing of any Return (including without limitation the Returns 
specified in Sections 8.02(c), 8.02(d) and 8.02(e)), for the preparation for any 
audit, and for the prosecution or defense of any claim, suit or proceeding 
relating to any proposed Tax adjustment; provided that any such cooperation 
shall not unreasonably interfere with the conduct of the business of The Limited 
or any of its Affiliates. The Limited shall cooperate with Parent in the conduct 
of any audit or other proceeding involving the Company or any Subsidiary for any 
Tax purposes and shall execute and deliver such powers of attorney and other 
documents as are necessary to carry out the intent of this subsection. 
 
     (e)  Retention of Records. From and after the Closing Date, except as 
otherwise required by law or agreed to in writing, The Limited and its 
Affiliates shall retain all information and records relating to the businesses 
of the Company and its Subsidiaries. In addition, The Limited and its Affiliates 
shall retain all information and records relating to any matter as to which 
Parent seeks or may seek indemnification from The Limited hereunder until final 
resolution of the matter to which such information and records relate. 
Notwithstanding the prior two sentences of this Section 5.02(e), The Limited and 
its Affiliates may destroy or otherwise dispose of any such information and 
records at any time, provided that, prior to such destruction or disposal, (1) 
The Limited shall provide not less than 90 days' prior written notice to Parent, 
specifying the information and records proposed to be destroyed or disposed of, 
and (2) if Parent shall request in writing prior to the scheduled date for such 
destruction or disposal that any of the information and records proposed to be 
destroyed or disposed of be delivered to Parent, The Limited shall promptly 
arrange for the delivery of such of the information and records as was 
requested. 
 
     (f)  Reimbursement. Parent and Buyer shall bear all reasonable out-of- 
pocket costs and expenses of The Limited and its Affiliates (excluding general 
overhead, salaries and employee benefits), upon presentation of invoices 
therefor, which are reasonably incurred by The Limited and its Affiliates in 
connection with the provision of information, witnesses or cooperation pursuant 
to Sections 5.02(b)-(e). 
 
     Section 5.03.  Maintenance of Insurance Policies.  Prior to the Closing, 
The Limited and its Affiliates will use reasonable efforts to maintain insurance 
policies for the Company and its Subsidiaries and their assets, properties and 
employees in an amount and scope consistent with any such insurance policies in 
effect as of the date hereof. The Company and its Subsidiaries shall after the 
Closing continue to have coverage under any such insurance policies in effect at 
the Closing with respect to, but only with respect to, events occurring prior to 
the Closing, and it is understood that the Company and its Subsidiaries shall 
continue to be responsible for amounts (including deductibles) not covered by 
such insurance policies, it being further understood that the provisions of this 
Section 
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5.03 shall not obligate The Limited or any of its Affiliates to pay any money 
with respect to any insurance policies after the Closing. 
 
     Section 5.04.  Non-solicitation; Non-competition.  (a)  From, and until the 
expiration of 18 months from the date of this Agreement, The Limited shall not, 
and shall cause its Affiliates not to, without the prior written approval of 
Buyer, directly or indirectly: (1) hire any person who, at any time on or after 
the date of this Agreement, provides service as an employee of the Company or 
any of its Subsidiaries and who during such time (x) is or was a store manager 
or is or was employed at or above the level of district manager or (y) works or 
worked in the home office of the Company and its Subsidiaries in Columbus, Ohio 
and earns or earned an annual salary in excess of $70,000, (2) solicit for 
employment any employee of Parent or any of its Affiliates with whom The 
Limited, its Affiliates or its representatives had contact at any time during 
the process of Parent considering, investigating, negotiating and consummating 
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, or (3) solicit for employment 
any person who, at any time on or after the date of this Agreement, provides 
service as an employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries; provided that 
the foregoing restrictions on solicitation shall not prohibit solicitation 
conducted through an independent employment or recruitment firm (so long as the 
firm was not directed to solicit such person or the personnel of the Company or 
its Subsidiaries generally) or as a result of the use of a general solicitation 
(such as an advertisement) not specifically directed to employees of the Company 
or its Subsidiaries. 
 
     (b)  From, and until the fifth anniversary of, the Closing, The Limited 
shall not, and shall cause its Affiliates not to, directly or indirectly: (1) 
own, control, lease, operate or manage any retail store (including any "niche" 
store, "store within a store" or outlet store) anywhere in the United States 
(including, without limitation, internet web-sites accessible to persons in the 
United States) which are focused primarily on the sale of Large Size Women's 
Clothing (such stores and web-sites are referred to herein as "Facilities"), (2) 
distribute anywhere in the world any mail order catalogue focused primarily on 
the sale of Large Size Women's Clothing, or (3) be or become a stockholder, 
partner, member or owner of, or give financial or other assistance to, any 
Person owning, controlling, leasing, operating or managing any Facility or 
engaging in any activity referred to in clause (2) of this Section 5.04(b), 
except that The Limited may maintain, at or below its current level, its equity 
investment in United Retail Group, Inc. (as such investment may be modified as a 
result of a reclassification, recapitalization, stock split or combination, 
exchange or adjustment of shares, stock dividend, merger, business combination 
or similar transaction), it being understood that in no event shall The Limited 
be obligated to dispose of any interests if The Limited's ownership interest 
increases other than as a result of The Limited's acquisition of any equity 
interests or other actions taken to implement the relevant transaction (for 
example, no such disposition shall be required if The Limited's percentage 
ownership interest increases as a result of a United Retail Group, Inc. share 
repurchase effected without The Limited's assistance). "Large Size 
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Women's Clothing" means (1) apparel (including intimate apparel) of sizes 14 and 
above and any other extra large size (which, as of the date hereof, generally is 
designated by an "X," "XX" or larger size) and (2) brassieres of sizes 42 and 
above. It is understood that the restrictions set forth in the immediately 
preceding sentence will not apply to any Person that acquires (by acquisition, 
merger or otherwise) an interest in The Limited or any of its Affiliates so long 
as such Person was not an Affiliate of The Limited at any time prior to the 
entry into an agreement for such an acquisition, merger or other acquisitive 
transaction (it being further understood that, following the aforementioned 
acquisition, merger or other acquisitive transaction, such restrictions will 
continue to apply to The Limited and any Person who was an Affiliate of The 
Limited at any time prior to such acquisition, merger or other transaction). 
 
     (c)  Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of Section 5.04(b), nothing 
herein shall prohibit The Limited or any of its Affiliates from: (i) owning up 
to 5% of the outstanding shares entitled to vote generally in the election of 
directors or similar persons of any Person engaged in the activities described 
in clauses (1), (2) or (3) of Section 5.04(b) above; (ii) acquiring any business 
that includes operations the conduct of which by The Limited or its Affiliates 
would otherwise violate clauses (1), (2) or (3) of Section 5.04(b) above, 
provided that (x) such operations do not, in the aggregate, represent more than 
15% of the consolidated assets or contribute more than 15% of the consolidated 
revenues of the overall business so acquired, measured at the time of acquiring 
such business (based on the most recent financial statements of the business so 
acquired) and (y) the revenues of such operations after their acquisition by The 
Limited or any of its Affiliates do not increase by more than 5% per annum; 
(iii) acquiring any business that includes operations the conduct of which by 
The Limited or its Affiliates would otherwise violate clauses (1), (2) or (3) of 
Section 5.04(b) above, provided that (x) such operations, in the aggregate, 
represent more than 15% but less than 40% of the consolidated assets or 
contribute more than 15% but less than 40% of the consolidated revenues of the 
overall business so acquired, measured at the time of acquiring such business 
(based on the most recent financial statements of the business so acquired), and 
(y) The Limited or its Affiliate, as applicable, promptly following such 
acquisition announces publicly its intention to dispose of such operations 
within 24 months of such acquisition (and completes such disposition within such 
time period); or (iv) owning, controlling, leasing, operating or managing any 
department store or similar general merchandise store. 
 
     (d)  The Limited and Seller acknowledge that in the event of a breach of 
any of the noncompetition or nonsolicitation covenants contained in this Section 
5.04, the damage or imminent damage to the value and the goodwill of the Company 
and its Subsidiaries shall be inestimable and that therefore any remedy at law 
or in damages would be inadequate. Accordingly, following at least 30 days prior 
written notice to The Limited and a reasonable opportunity to cure, Parent and 
Buyer shall, in addition to damages incurred by reason of any such breach, be 
entitled to injunctive relief, including specific performance, with 
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respect to any such breach in any court of competent jurisdiction against The 
Limited or any Affiliate of The Limited, without proof of actual damages and 
without the requirement of posting a bond or other security. The invalidity or 
unenforceability of any provision of this Section 5.04 shall not affect the 
validity or enforceability of any other provision of this Section 5.04, which 
shall remain in full force and effect, and in the event that any provision of 
this Section 5.04 shall be determined to be invalid or unenforceable for any 
reason, such provision shall be construed by limiting it so as to be valid and 
enforceable to the fullest extent compatible with and possible under applicable 
law. The Limited shall be liable for any breach of this Section 5.04 by its 
Affiliates. 
 
     Section 5.05.  Lease Consents; Commitment Letter.  (a)  From and after the 
date hereof (including after the Closing Date), The Limited and Seller shall use 
their reasonable best efforts to obtain (and cooperate with Parent and Buyer in 
obtaining) any consents, approvals and authorizations required under each Lease 
as a result of the transactions contemplated in this Agreement, in each case 
without payment of any penalty, premium or other amounts to any other party to 
such Lease.  It is understood and agreed that in no event shall The Limited or 
any Affiliate or the Company or a Subsidiary or Seller be obligated to pay any 
money to any Person to obtain any such consent, approval or authorization. 
 
     (b)  From and after the date hereof, The Limited and Seller shall cooperate 
with Parent and Buyer in satisfying the conditions precedent set forth in the 
Commitment Letter. 
 
     Section 5.06.  No Shop.  Until such time, if any, as this Agreement is 
terminated pursuant to Article 12, The Limited and Seller will not, and will 
cause their Affiliates, the Company and each Subsidiary not to, directly or 
indirectly, solicit, initiate or encourage any inquiries or proposals from, 
discuss or negotiate with, or provide any non-public information to, any Person 
(other than Parent and Buyer) relating to any transaction involving the sale of 
the business or assets of the Company or any Subsidiary (other than sales of 
assets in the ordinary course of business as permitted by Section 5.01 hereof), 
or any of the capital stock of the Company or any Subsidiary, or any merger, 
consolidation, business combination or similar transaction involving the Company 
or any Subsidiary.  To the extent applicable, The Limited and Seller shall 
immediately cease any such discussions or negotiations currently in progress and 
the provision of any information regarding any such transaction. 
 
     Section 5.07.  Future Auditor Consent.  The Limited shall cooperate 
reasonably with Parent in connection with (a) Parent's effort to obtain any 
required consent from PriceWaterhouseCoopers in connection with the inclusion of 
the Audited Financial Statements in any filings by Parent under the 1933 Act or 
1934 Act and (b) Parent's effort to prepare financial statements for any period 
commencing on or after the date of the Balance Sheet for inclusion by Parent in 
any filing under the 1933 Act or the 1934 Act. 
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     Section 5.08.  Mast Purchase Orders.  (a) From and after the Closing, The 
Limited shall cause Mast Industries, Inc. ("Mast") to fulfill its obligations to 
the Company and any Subsidiary for any purchase orders in effect on the Closing 
Date. 
 
     (b)  From and after the Closing, The Limited shall cause Mast to continue 
to supply the Company and its Subsidiaries with merchandise and supplies through 
the Spring 2002 retail season in a manner consistent with the past practices 
between Mast on the one hand, and the Company and its Subsidiaries, on the other 
hand, prior to the date of this Agreement. 
 
     Section 5.09.  Trademarks, etc.  Prior to the Closing, The Limited shall 
cause (a) its Affiliates to execute an assignment agreement in form and 
substance reasonably satisfactory to Buyer transferring to the Company or any 
Subsidiary identified by Buyer all such Affiliate's rights in and to the Domain 
Names and Marks identified on Section 3.19 to the Disclosure Schedule (and the 
goodwill associated therewith) owned by, or held in the name of, such Affiliate 
(b) its Affiliates to take such further action as Buyer may reasonably request 
in connection with such Affiliate's performance under such assignment agreement 
and (c) Caciqueco, Inc. to execute and file with all necessary governmental 
entities any and all forms, notices or other filings required to change the name 
of Caciqueco, Inc. to a name that does not use the word "Cacique" or any 
derivation thereof. 
 
     Section 5.10.  Restricted Securities.  Seller shall not sell, assign, 
transfer or otherwise dispose of any of the shares of Stock Consideration or any 
interest therein unless such sale, transfer or disposition has been registered 
under the 1933 Act or unless an exemption from registration is available. In 
addition, for a period of one year after the Closing, Seller shall not, directly 
or indirectly, sell, assign, pledge, hypothecate or otherwise dispose of or 
encumber any or all of the shares of Stock Consideration issued to Seller 
pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or any interest therein without Parent's 
prior written consent. 
 
     Section 5.11.  Standstill.  For a period of two years from the Closing, 
neither The Limited nor any of its Affiliates shall, directly or indirectly, 
without the prior written consent of Parent: (a) in any manner acquire, agree to 
acquire, or make any proposal to acquire any voting securities of Parent, or any 
rights or options to acquire that ownership, except pursuant to a stock split, 
stock dividend, rights offering, recapitalization, reclassification or similar 
transaction, (b) propose to enter into any merger or business combination 
involving Parent or to purchase a material portion of the assets of Parent, (c) 
make, or in any way participate in, any solicitation of "proxies" (as such term 
is used in Regulation 14A under the 1934 Act), to vote or seek to advise or 
influence any person with respect to the voting of any securities of Parent, (d) 
form, join, or in any way participate in a group (within the meaning of Section 
13(d) of the 1934 Act) with respect to any voting securities of Parent, except 
any such arrangement solely among The 
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Limited and its Affiliates, (e) otherwise act, alone or in concert with others, 
to seek to control the management, Board of Directors, or policies of Parent, 
except as insofar as the enforcement of rights arising under any of the 
Transaction Documents (which The Limited and its Affiliates are free to do) may 
be deemed to effect the management or policies of Parent or its Board of 
Directors, or (f) publicly disclose any intention, plan or arrangement 
inconsistent with any of the foregoing. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary 
contained in this Section, nothing shall prohibit The Limited and its Affiliates 
from maintaining its ownership of the shares of Stock Consideration. 
 
     Section 5.12.  Purchase Order Information.  At the Closing, The Limited 
shall provide the Buyer with a list setting forth (1) each outstanding purchase 
order commitment for inventory with any supplier or vendor that is outstanding 
as of the second Business Day prior to the Closing and (2) the products subject 
to such purchase order and the applicable supplier or vendor. 
 
     Section 5.13. Confidentiality.  All information provided or made available 
to The Limited, Seller or any of their Representatives (as such term is defined 
in the Confidentiality Agreement dated as of June 18, 2001 between Parent and 
The Limited (the "Limited Confidentiality Agreement")) will be subject to the 
Limited Confidentiality Agreement, which agreement shall remain in full force 
and effect until and following the Closing. 
 
     Section 5.14.  Litigation Update.  From the date hereof until the Closing 
Date, The Limited agrees to promptly notify Parent of any claims, actions, suits 
or investigations (arbitration or otherwise) commenced against, or to the 
Knowledge of The Limited and Seller, threatened, against the Company or any 
Subsidiary, The Limited or Seller, or any of their Affiliates, before any court 
or arbitrator or any governmental body or agency which in any manner challenges 
or seeks to prevent, enjoin, alter or materially delay the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement. 
 
 
                                   ARTICLE 6 
                         Covenants of Parent and Buyer 
 
     Parent and Buyer agree that: 
 
     Section 6.01.  Conduct of the Parent and Buyer.  From the date hereof until 
the Closing Date, except as expressly contemplated by the Transaction Documents, 
Parent and Buyer shall (1) conduct their respective businesses in the ordinary 
course in a manner consistent with past practice and in material compliance with 
all applicable Laws, Permits, agreements and commitments, (2) use their 
reasonable best efforts to preserve intact their business relationships and 
goodwill with third parties and to keep available the services of their present 
employees, (3) maintain their facilities and assets in the same state of repair, 
order 
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and condition as they were on the date hereof, ordinary wear and tear excepted, 
and (4) maintain their corporate existence and pay and discharge all of their 
debts, liabilities and obligations as they become due, other than debts that are 
disputed in good faith. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, from 
the date hereof until the Closing Date, Parent and Buyer will not: 
 
     (a) knowingly take any action that would make any representation or 
warranty of Parent or Buyer untrue as of the Closing; 
 
     (b) adopt or propose any change in their certificate of incorporations or 
bylaws; 
 
     (c) merge or consolidate with any other Person (other than an Affiliate) or 
acquire a material amount of assets from any other Person (other than an 
Affiliate) other than the acquisition of inventory and other assets in the 
ordinary course of business; 
 
     (d) adopt any change in method of accounting or accounting practice except 
as required by Law or GAAP; or 
 
     (e) enter into any binding agreement to do any of the foregoing. 
 
     Section 6.02. Confidentiality. All information provided or made available 
to Parent, Buyer or any of their Representatives (as such term is defined in the 
Confidentiality Agreement) will be subject to the Confidentiality Agreement 
dated February 14, 2001 between Parent and The Limited (the "Confidentiality 
Agreement"), which agreement shall remain in full force and effect until the 
Closing and shall thereupon terminate except that the disclosure, but not the 
use (to the extent necessary to operate the Company and the Subsidiaries in the 
ordinary course) of any Confidential Information (as defined in the 
Confidentiality Agreement) to the extent related solely to The Limited or its 
Affiliates shall continue to be governed by the terms of the Confidentiality 
Agreement. 
 
     Section 6.03. Cooperation on Certain Matters. 
 
     (a) Access to Information Prior to Closing.  From the date hereof until the 
Closing Date, Parent and Buyer will (1) give The Limited and its Affiliates and 
their counsel, financial advisors, auditors and other authorized representatives 
reasonable access to their offices, properties, books and records, during normal 
business hours and upon reasonable prior notice, (2) furnish to The Limited and 
its Affiliates and their counsel, financial advisors, auditors and other 
authorized representatives, such financial and operating data and other 
information relating the Parent and its Affiliates as such Persons may 
reasonably request and (3) instruct their employees, counsel and financial 
advisors to cooperate with The Limited and its Affiliates in their investigation 
of Parent and Buyer.  Any 
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investigation pursuant to this Section 6.03(a) shall be conducted in such a 
manner as not to interfere unreasonably with the conduct of the business of 
Parent or its Affiliates. Notwithstanding the foregoing, The Limited and its 
Affiliates shall not have access to personnel records. 
 
    (b)  Access to Information Following Closing.  From and after the Closing 
Date, Parent and Buyer will afford, and will cause the Company and each 
Subsidiary to afford, promptly to The Limited and its Affiliates and their 
counsel, auditors and other authorized representatives reasonable access to 
their books of account, financial and other records, employees and auditors to 
the extent they relate to the Company or its Subsidiaries and to the extent 
necessary to permit The Limited and its Affiliates to determine any matter 
relating to their rights and obligations in connection with any audit, 
investigation, dispute or litigation or any other reasonable business purpose 
relating to the Company or its Subsidiaries or The Limited's or any of its 
Affiliate's rights or obligations under any of the Transaction Documents; 
provided that any such access by The Limited and its Affiliates and their 
counsel, auditors and other authorized representatives shall not unreasonably 
interfere with the conduct of the business of Parent, its Affiliates, the 
Company or any of its Subsidiaries. 
 
    (c)  Litigation Cooperation.  Parent shall, and shall cause its Affiliates 
to, use reasonable efforts to make available to The Limited and its Affiliates 
and their accountants, counsel, and other designated representatives, upon 
written request, the officers, employees and representatives of Parent and its 
Affiliates as witnesses, and shall otherwise cooperate with The Limited and its 
Affiliates, and furnish or cause to be furnished such records, information and 
testimony, and attend such conferences, discovery proceedings, hearings, trials 
or appeals, in each case to the extent reasonably required in connection with 
any legal, administrative or other proceeding arising out of the Company's or 
any of its Subsidiaries' business and operations prior to the Closing Date in 
which The Limited or any of its Affiliates may from time to time be involved or 
otherwise related to any of the Transaction Documents (other than with respect 
to proceedings involving disputes between Parent and its Affiliates, on the one 
hand, and The Limited and its Affiliates, on the other hand); provided, however, 
that The Limited shall use its reasonable best efforts to pursue the Retained 
Landlord Claims in a manner that does not involve Parent, the Company or any of 
their Affiliates, or their respective directors, officers, employees or 
representatives (including, without limitation, to the extent feasible, pursuing 
litigation or similar proceedings in the name of The Limited or one of its 
Affiliates); and provided further that any such cooperation by Parent and its 
Affiliates shall not unreasonably interfere with the conduct of the business of 
Parent or any of its Affiliates.  Without limiting the generality of the 
foregoing, it is understood that, notwithstanding use of its best efforts as 
contemplated above, if The Limited is unable to pursue the Retained Landlord 
Claims without involving Parent or its Affiliates, Parent and its Affiliates 
will execute all complaints and other court or 
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similar papers reasonably requested in order to assist The Limited and its 
Affiliates in their efforts to pursue the Retained Landlord Claims. 
 
    (d)  Cooperation on Tax Matters.  Parent shall furnish or cause to be 
furnished to The Limited, upon request, as promptly as practicable, such 
information (including access to books and records) and assistance as is 
reasonably necessary for the filing of any Return (including without limitation 
the Returns specified in Section 8.02(c), 8.02(d) and 8.02(e)), for the 
preparation for any audit, and for the prosecution or defense of any claim, suit 
or proceeding relating to any proposed Tax adjustment; provided that any such 
cooperation by Parent and its Affiliates shall not unreasonably interfere with 
the conduct of the business of Parent or any of its Affiliates.  Parent shall 
cooperate with The Limited in the conduct of any audit or other proceeding 
involving the Company or any Subsidiary for any Tax purposes and shall execute 
and deliver such powers of attorney and other documents as are necessary to 
carry out the intent of this subsection. 
 
    (e)  Retention of Records. From and after the Closing Date, except as 
otherwise required by law or agreed to in writing, Parent and its Affiliates 
shall, and shall cause the Company and its Subsidiaries to, retain all 
information and records (including, without limitation, records relating to 
Taxes) relating to the businesses of the Company and its Subsidiaries that were 
in the possession of the Company or any Subsidiary as of the Closing Date and, 
with respect to Taxes, all records related to Returns for Straddle Periods. In 
addition, Parent and its Affiliates shall retain all information and records 
relating to the Retained Litigation, the Retained Landlord Claims, the Credit 
Card Litigation or any matter as to which The Limited seeks or may seek 
indemnification from Parent hereunder, in each case until final resolution of 
the matter to which such information and records relate. Notwithstanding the 
prior two sentences of this Section 6.03(e), Parent and its Affiliates may 
destroy or otherwise dispose of any such information and records at any time, 
provided that, prior to such destruction or disposal, (1) Parent shall provide 
not less than 90 days' prior written notice to The Limited, specifying the 
information and records proposed to be destroyed or disposed of, and (2) if The 
Limited shall request in writing prior to the scheduled date for such 
destruction or disposal that any of the information and records proposed to be 
destroyed or disposed of be delivered to The Limited, Parent shall promptly 
arrange for the delivery of such of the information and records as was 
requested. 
 
    (f)  Reimbursement. The Limited shall bear all reasonable out-of-pocket 
costs and expenses of Parent and its Affiliates (excluding general overhead, 
salaries and employee benefits), upon presentation of invoices therefor, which 
are reasonably incurred by Parent and its Affiliates in connection with the 
provision of information, witnesses or cooperation pursuant to Sections 
6.03(b)-(e). 
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     Section 6.04. Insurance. Buyer agrees that, subject to Section 5.03, all 
insurance policies covering the Company or any Subsidiary maintained by or on 
behalf of The Limited or its Affiliates shall be terminated following the 
Closing and that, after the Closing, The Limited and its Affiliates shall have 
no obligation of any kind to maintain any form of insurance covering the Company 
or any Subsidiary. 
 
     Section 6.05. Guarantees. (a) From and after the date hereof (including 
after the Closing Date), Parent and Buyer shall use their reasonable best 
efforts to cause the unconditional release with effect at the Closing Date of 
The Limited and its Affiliates from their obligations under any guarantees 
(including, without limitation, guarantees of lease obligations), letters of 
credit, surety bonds and other financial support arrangements maintained by The 
Limited or any of its Affiliates in connection with the business or operations 
of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and listed on Appendix 6.05 hereto 
(collectively, the "Financial Support Arrangements"). It is understood and 
agreed that in no event shall Parent, Buyer, the Company or any Subsidiary be 
obligated to pay any money to any Person to obtain any such unconditional 
release. 
 
     (b)  If, from and after the Closing, (1) any amounts are drawn or required 
to be paid under any Financial Support Arrangement by The Limited or any of its 
Affiliates in connection with events or other matters occurring after the 
Closing Date or (2) The Limited or any of its Affiliates is required to pay any 
fees, costs or expenses under the terms of any Financial Support Arrangement, 
then The Limited shall promptly provide Buyer with written evidence of the 
underlying payment obligation. Upon receipt of such notice, Parent shall 
promptly satisfy such payment obligation on behalf of The Limited or its 
Affiliates, or, if The Limited or any of its Affiliates has made such payments 
itself, Parent shall reimburse The Limited for such amounts promptly after 
receipt from The Limited of proof of payment. 
 
     Section 6.06. Outstanding Checks; Reimbursement of Payments by The Limited. 
(a) The Limited shall ensure that checks written but not cashed before the 
Closing in respect of obligations of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries 
shall be paid. 
 
     (b)  It is the intent of the parties that, except as contemplated by any of 
the Transaction Documents, all invoices relating to the Company or any of its 
Subsidiaries received after the Closing be paid by the Company or a Subsidiary 
(as opposed to The Limited or any of its Affiliates) and, in furtherance of such 
intent, The Limited will use its reasonable commercial efforts to promptly 
forward to the Company all invoices relating to the Company or any of its 
Subsidiaries which are received by The Limited or any of its Affiliates after 
the Closing ("Post-Closing Invoices"). It is understood, however, that there may 
be circumstances in which, notwithstanding the use of such reasonable commercial 
efforts, The Limited or one of its Affiliates will pay a Post-Closing Invoice on 
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behalf of the Company or one of its Subsidiaries. It is agreed that Parent shall 
reimburse The Limited, or an Affiliate of The Limited, as The Limited may 
designate, for all amounts paid by The Limited or any of its Affiliates in 
respect of Post-Closing Invoices within ten (10) days after receipt from The 
Limited of a notice thereof accompanied by written evidence of the underlying 
payment (each, a "Payment Date"). If the Parent fails to pay any payment within 
thirty (30) days of the relevant Payment Date, Parent shall be obligated to pay, 
in addition to the amount due on such Payment Date, interest on such amount at 
the Reference Rate, plus 3% per annum compounded monthly from the relevant 
Payment Date through the date of payment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Parent 
shall have no obligation to reimburse The Limited or any of its Affiliates for 
any payment made by The Limited or any of its Affiliates in respect of any Post- 
Closing Invoice if Parent or any of its Affiliates paid the same Post-Closing 
Invoice. 
 
     Section 6.07. Non-solicitation. From, and until the expiration of 18 months 
from the date of this Agreement, Parent shall not, and shall cause its 
Affiliates not to, without the prior written approval of The Limited, directly 
or indirectly solicit for employment any person who is an employee of The 
Limited or any of its Affiliates with whom the Parent, its Affiliates or its 
representatives had contact at any time during the process of Parent 
considering, investigating, negotiating and consummating the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement; provided that the foregoing shall not prohibit 
solicitation conducted through an independent employment or recruitment firm (so 
long as the firm was not directed to solicit such person or the personnel of The 
Limited or its Affiliates generally) or as a result of the use of a general 
solicitation (such as an advertisement) not specifically directed to employees 
of The Limited or its Affiliates. 
 
     Section 6.08. Proceeds from Credit Card Litigation. Parent and Buyer agree 
that The Limited shall be entitled to all proceeds, awards, judgments and 
settlements which are attributable to The Limited, any of its Affiliates, the 
Company or any of its Subsidiaries in connection with the matters described in 
Appendix 6.08 (the "Credit Card Litigation"). The Limited, at its expense, shall 
control the prosecution of the Credit Card Litigation. 
 
     Section 6.09. Reverse Break-up Fee. If on or prior to the Termination Date 
(A) the condition in Section 10.02(c) hereof shall not have been satisfied, (B) 
all other conditions to Parent's and Buyer's obligation to consummate the 
Closing have been satisfied or are then capable of being satisfied (other than 
any failure of a condition to be satisfied or capable of being satisfied for 
reasons that are directly or indirectly a consequence of the failure to be 
satisfied of the condition set forth in Section 10.02(c)) and (C) Parent and 
Buyer do not proceed with the Closing, then Parent shall promptly pay to the 
Seller as a non-refundable fee an aggregate of $8,500,000 in immediately 
available funds by wire transfer to an account designated by Seller, such 
payment to be made not more than two Business Days following any termination of 
this Agreement. The $8,500,000 fee referred to in the preceding sentence shall 
be payable as liquidated damages, and 
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neither The Limited, Seller nor any of their Affiliates shall be entitled to any 
further remedy for the failure of the condition in Section 10.02(c) to be 
satisfied. 
 
     Section 6.10. Shelf Registration Statement. (a) Parent shall prepare and 
file with the Commission a shelf registration statement (as amended and 
supplemented from time to time, the "Shelf Registration Statement") with respect 
to the Registrable Securities (as such term is defined in the Registration 
Agreement) in accordance with Rule 415 under the 1933 Act and will use its 
reasonable best efforts to cause such Shelf Registration Statement to be 
declared effective no later than 11 months from the Closing Date and to keep 
such Shelf Registration Statement continuously effective and in compliance with 
the 1933 Act and usable for resale or hedging of the Registrable Securities in 
accordance with the terms of the Registration Agreement. If the Shelf 
Registration Statement has been declared effective prior to the issuance of 
shares of Parent Common Stock constituting the Adjustment Stock Consideration, 
Parent shall prepare and file with the Commission a post-effective amendment to 
such Shelf Registration, and use its reasonable best efforts to have such post- 
effective amendment declared effective as promptly as possible, to include such 
shares of Parent Common Stock within the scope of the Shelf Registration 
Statement. 
 
     (b)  Listing. Parent shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause the 
Stock Consideration to be listed on the Nasdaq National Market at the Closing, 
subject to official notice of issuance. 
 
     Section 6.11. Litigation Update. From the date hereof until the Closing 
Date, Parent agrees to promptly notify The Limited of any claims, actions, suits 
or investigations (arbitration or otherwise) commenced against, or to the 
knowledge of Parent or Buyer, threatened, against, Parent or Buyer or any of 
their Affiliates, before any court or arbitrator or any governmental body or 
agency which in any manner challenges or seeks to prevent, enjoin, alter or 
materially delay the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. 
 
                                   ARTICLE 7 
              Covenants of Parent, Buyer, The Limited and Seller 
 
     Parent, Buyer, The Limited and Seller agree that: 
 
     Section 7.01. Further Assurances. Subject to the terms and conditions of 
this Agreement, Parent, Buyer, The Limited and Seller will use their reasonable 
best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and to do, or cause to 
be done, all things necessary or desirable to consummate the transactions 
contemplated by any of the Transaction Documents. The Limited, Seller, Parent 
and Buyer shall execute and deliver, and The Limited and Seller, prior to the 
Closing, and Parent and Buyer, after the Closing, shall cause the Company and 
each Subsidiary to execute and deliver, such other documents, certificates, 
agreements and other 
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writings and to take such other actions as may be necessary or appropriate in 
order to consummate or implement expeditiously the transactions contemplated by 
any of the Transaction Documents. 
 
     Section 7.02. Certain Filings. The Limited, Seller, Parent and Buyer shall 
cooperate with one another (1) in determining whether any action by or in 
respect of, or filing with, any governmental body, agency, official or authority 
is required, or any actions, consents, approvals or waivers are required to be 
obtained from parties to any material contracts, in connection with the 
consummation of the transactions contemplated by any of the Transaction 
Documents and (2) subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, in 
taking such actions or making any such filings, furnishing information required 
in connection therewith and seeking timely to obtain any such actions, consents, 
approvals or waivers. 
 
     Section 7.03. Public Announcements. The parties shall consult with each 
other before issuing any press release or making any public statement with 
respect to any Transaction Document or the transactions contemplated thereby and 
will not issue any such press release or make any such public statement prior to 
such consultation. Notwithstanding the foregoing, except as provided by Section 
6.02, no provision of this Agreement shall relieve Parent or any of its 
Representatives (as such term is defined in the Confidentiality Agreement) from 
any of its obligations under the Confidentiality Agreement. 
 
     Section 7.04. HSR Filings.  The parties shall promptly make the filing 
required by the HSR Act. 
 
     Section 7.05. Transition Services. At the Closing, the parties will enter 
into a Transition Services Agreement (the "Services Agreement"), the form of 
which is attached as Exhibit A. 
 
     Section 7.06. Store Leases Agreement. At the Closing, the parties will 
enter into a Store Leases Agreement (the "Store Leases Agreement"), the form of 
which is attached as Exhibit B. 
 
     Section 7.07. Intentionally Omitted. 
 
     Section 7.08. Headquarters and Distribution Center Lease. At the Closing, 
the parties thereto will enter into a lease with respect to the headquarters and 
distribution facilities of the Company (the "HQ Lease"), the form of which is 
attached as Exhibit D. 
 
     Section 7.09. Registration Agreement. At the Closing, the parties will 
enter into a Registration Agreement (the "Registration Agreement"), the form of 
which is attached as Exhibit E. 
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     Section 7.10. Access and Waiver Agreement. At the Closing, the parties 
thereto will enter into an Access and Waiver Agreement (the "Access and Waiver 
Agreement"), the form of which is attached as Exhibit F. 
 
     Section 7.11. Covenant Agreement. At the Closing, the parties thereto will 
enter into a Covenant Agreement (the "Covenant Agreement"), the form of which is 
attached as Exhibit G. 
 
     Section 7.12. Master Sublease. At the Closing, the parties thereto will 
enter into a Master Sublease (the "Master Sublease"), the form of which is 
attached as Exhibit H. 
 
     Section 7.13. Cancellation of Related Party Contracts. Except as 
contemplated by any of the Transaction Documents, all Related Party Agreements 
shall be cancelled as of the Closing Date. 
 
     Section 7.14. Intercompany Accounts.  Except as contemplated by any of 
the Transaction Documents, (1) all intercompany accounts payable by The Limited 
or any of its Affiliates, on the one hand, to the Company or any of its 
Subsidiaries, on the other hand, shall, immediately prior to the Closing, be 
distributed by the Company to The Limited as a dividend, and (2) all 
intercompany accounts payable by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, on the 
one hand, to The Limited or any of its Affiliates, on the other hand, shall, 
immediately prior to Closing, be contributed by The Limited to the capital of 
the Company. 
 
     Section 7.15. Mutual Release.  (a)  Effective immediately prior to the 
Closing, The Limited hereby irrevocably waives, releases and discharges the 
Company and its Subsidiaries from any and all liabilities and obligations to The 
Limited and its Affiliates of any kind or nature whatsoever (including, without 
limitation, in respect of rights of contribution or indemnification), in each 
case whether absolute or contingent, liquidated or unliquidated, and whether 
arising under any agreement or understanding, or the articles, bylaws, or other 
constitutive documents of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or otherwise at 
law or equity.  The foregoing waiver, release and discharge shall not apply in 
respect of any liability or obligation arising under (1) any of the Transaction 
Documents (including, without limitation, indemnification obligations arising 
under Article 8 or Article 11 of this Agreement) or (2) any agreement entered 
into on or after the Closing Date. 
 
     (b)  At the Closing, Buyer shall cause the Company to irrevocably waive, 
release and discharge The Limited and its Affiliates from any and all 
liabilities and obligations to the Company and its Subsidiaries of any kind or 
nature whatsoever (including, without limitation, in respect of rights of 
contribution or indemnification), in each case whether absolute or contingent, 
liquidated or unliquidated, and whether arising under any agreement or 
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understanding, or the articles, bylaws, or other constitutive documents of the 
Company or any of its Subsidiaries or otherwise at law or equity.  The foregoing 
waiver, release and discharge shall not apply in respect of any liability or 
obligation arising under (1) any of the Transaction Documents (including, 
without limitation, indemnification obligations arising under Article 8 or 
Article 11 of this Agreement) or (2) any agreement entered into on or after the 
Closing Date. 
 
     Section 7.16. Certain Contracts. (a) On behalf of itself and its 
Affiliates, effective as of the Closing, The Limited forever releases, and 
irrevocably assigns to Buyer, any and all rights that The Limited or any of its 
Affiliates have (whether as a third party beneficiary or otherwise) in, to and 
under any agreement, contract or commitment to which the Company or any 
Subsidiary is a party or is otherwise bound to the extent that such rights 
relate solely to (1) the Company or any Subsidiary or (2) the properties, 
assets, rights or business of the Company or any Subsidiary. If the assignment 
to the Company or any Subsidiary of such rights is not permitted under any such 
agreement, contract or commitment, The Limited shall, and shall cause its 
Affiliates to, use its reasonable best efforts to pass through to the Company 
and its Subsidiaries the benefits associated with such rights, and exercise such 
rights pursuant to the reasonable instructions of the Company or its 
Subsidiaries. Parent and Buyer shall cause the Company and its Subsidiaries, to 
assume, satisfy and discharge all of the obligations of The Limited and its 
Affiliates and the Company and the Subsidiaries (1) arising under or in 
connection with any agreement, contract or commitment assigned to the Company or 
any Subsidiary pursuant to this Section 7.16 or (2) in connection with any 
rights or benefits passed through to the Company or any Subsidiary pursuant to 
this Section 7.16, in each case to the extent that such obligations relate to 
the rights assigned or benefits passed through to the Company or any Subsidiary 
pursuant to this Section 7.16. 
 
     (b)  Notwithstanding the provisions of clause (a) of this Section 7.16, 
with respect to the Database Marketing Agreement, the parties agree as follows: 
(1) upon the request of Parent, and subject to the written approval of ADS 
Alliance Data Systems, Inc., The Limited shall enter into an amendment to the 
Database Marketing Agreement such that the Company shall no longer be involved 
in any manner in the matters addressed by that Agreement and all proprietary 
information of the Company utilized in connection with the Database Marketing 
Agreement ("Company Proprietary Information") shall be delivered to the Company 
and (2) until the Database Marketing Agreement is amended as contemplated by 
clause (1), (x) The Limited shall pass through the benefits of the Database 
Marketing Agreement (insofar relating to the Company Proprietary Information) to 
the Company to the extent reasonably requested by the Company, (y) the Company 
shall make to ADS Alliance Data Systems, Inc. all payments allocated under that 
Agreement to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and (z) no Company 
Proprietary Information shall be used by The Limited or any of its Affiliates in 
any manner in connection with any business or operation of The 
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Limited or any of its Affiliates and all such information shall be deemed to be 
subject to the provisions of the Limited Confidentiality Agreement. 
 
     (c) It is further understood and agreed that (i) effective at Closing, the 
Company and its Subsidiaries shall assign to The Limited all of their rights to 
pursue claims for overpayments in respect of  any of the Leases to the extent, 
but only to the extent, such overpayments relate to payments made prior to the 
Closing in respect of periods prior to the Closing (the "Retained Landlord 
Claims") and (ii) at and after the Closing, the Company and its Subsidiaries 
shall execute such additional written assignments or other agreements as The 
Limited shall reasonably request to implement or evidence the assignment of the 
Retained Landlord Claims.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, it 
is understood and agreed that The Limited (i) at its expense, shall control the 
pursuit of any and all Retained Landlord Claims and shall be entitled to pursue 
and control the prosecution of litigation or similar proceedings in respect of 
any such Claim and (ii) shall be entitled to all proceeds, awards, judgments and 
settlements in respect of any Retained Landlord Claims; provided that if, in 
connection with the pursuit of a Retained Landlord Claim, it is determined that 
rent, additional rent or percentage rent (however characterized) due and payable 
prior to the Closing in respect of the relevant lease was not paid in full prior 
to the Closing (a "Delinquent Payment"), The Limited shall be responsible for 
such Delinquent Payment. 
 
     Section 7.17. Financing Statements. It is understood that Parent's lenders 
under the credit and security arrangements to be entered into by Parent in 
connection with the Closing intend to file the UCC-1 financing statements 
required by such arrangements prior to the Closing. The Limited agrees to cause 
the Company to cooperate in connection with the filing of such financing 
statements insofar as they relate to the assets of the Company or any of its 
Subsidiaries (including by executing such financing statements or authorizations 
therefor); provided that, concurrently with the execution of these financing 
statements by the Company or a Subsidiary, Parent's lenders simultaneously 
deliver effective termination statements (and hold under escrow arrangements 
satisfactory to The Limited) for such UCC-1 financing statements and agree in 
writing (in a manner satisfactory to The Limited) that The Limited shall be 
entitled to file such termination statements on October 1, 2001 if the Closing 
has not been consummated on or prior to September 30, 2001. 
 
     Section 7.18  Store No. 2.  From and after the date hereof (including 
after the Closing if the construction referred to in this Section 7.18 is not 
completed by such time), The Limited will continue to work in good faith to 
complete any construction necessary to ensure that the Store No. 2 building 
satisfies all applicable legal requirements (determined in light of the current 
use of the Store No. 2 building), with respect to structural, health and safety 
and similar matters (as such legal requirements are in effect as of the Closing 
Date, and taking into account all "grandfather" and similar provisions) and 
during such construction 
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shall provide reasonable access thereto to Parent's engineers and other 
representatives. The Limited will be entitled to control the administration of 
the construction process and, in doing so, will act in a manner intended to 
complete the construction as promptly as possible at the same standards of 
workmanship and quality as it employs for its own stores while attempting to 
minimize disruption and cost, all as if The Limited were the owner of, and 
responsible for, Store No. 2. The Company shall be responsible for all such 
construction costs up to $998,000, and The Limited shall be responsible for any 
such costs in excess of such budgeted costs. It is understood that any such 
costs for which the Company is responsible that are capitalized on the Closing 
Statement of Net Tangible Assets shall reduce the Company's obligations to make 
payments after the Closing pursuant to this Section 7.18 on a dollar-for-dollar 
basis. It is understood and agreed that the agreements set forth in this Section 
7.18 are agreements between Parent and The Limited only and should be considered 
agreements independent of, and not as modifying or increasing in any respect any 
obligation of any Person under, the lease of the Store No. 2 building. 
 
                                   ARTICLE 8 
                                  Tax Matters 
 
     Section 8.01. Tax Representations. (a) The Limited and Seller represent and 
warrant to Parent and Buyer as of the date hereof that, except as set forth in 
the Balance Sheet (including the notes thereto) or in Section 8.01 of the 
Disclosure Schedule, (1) all Tax returns, statements, reports and forms 
(collectively, "Returns") that are material and have been or are required to be 
filed with any Taxing Authority by, or with respect to, the Company or any 
Subsidiary (including Returns of any Limited Tax Group of which the Company or 
any Subsidiary is a member (a "Target Group")) on or before the Closing Date 
(taking into account any duly obtained extensions) have been, or will be, timely 
filed, (2) the Company and the Subsidiaries (or, in the case of a Return of a 
Target Group, each member of such group) have timely paid in all material 
respects all Taxes shown as due and payable on the Returns that have been filed, 
or on subsequent assessments and no other material Taxes are payable by the 
Target Group with respect to items or periods covered by such Returns (whether 
or not shown or reportable on such Returns), (3) the Returns that have been 
filed are true, correct and complete in all material respects, (4) there are no 
current extensions of time within which to file any material Returns required to 
be filed by or on behalf of members of any Target Group, (5) there are no Liens 
with respect to Taxes existing, threatened or pending on any of the assets of 
the Company or any Subsidiary, except Permitted Liens and Exceptions and (6) 
there is no action, suit, proceeding, investigation, audit or claim now proposed 
or pending against or with respect to the Company or any Subsidiary in respect 
of any Tax. The Limited and Seller further represent that neither the Company 
nor any Subsidiary is a party to any agreement, contract, arrangement or plan 
that has 
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resulted, or could result separately or in the aggregate, in the payment of any 
"excess parachute payments" within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code or 
any similar provision of applicable foreign, state or local law. 
 
     (b)  As of February 3, 2001, no member of any Target Group has participated 
in an international boycott as defined in Code Section 999. None of the assets 
of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries are "tax-exempt use property" within 
the meaning of Section 168(h) of the Code, and neither the Company nor any of 
its Subsidiaries has benefited from the issuance of bonds, the interest of which 
is tax-exempt pursuant to Section 103(a) of the Code. Except as otherwise set 
forth in Section 8.01 of the Disclosure Schedule, the books and records of the 
Company and the Subsidiaries are sufficient to prove the correctness in all 
material respects of all Returns for open tax years. 
 
     (c)  The Limited represents that it has filed a consolidated federal income 
tax return with the Company and the Subsidiaries for the taxable year 
immediately preceding the current taxable year (provided, however, that the 
Company and LBH, Inc. both were formed after the close of the taxable year 
immediately preceding the current taxable year, and thus were not included in 
The Limited's consolidated federal income tax return for such year, but will be 
included (for the period ending on the Closing Date) in The Limited's 
consolidated federal income tax return for the current taxable year) and that 
The Limited is eligible to make an election under Section 338(h)(10) of the Code 
(and any comparable election under state, local or foreign tax law) with respect 
to the Company. 
 
     (d)  Except as set forth on Section 8.01 of the Disclosure Schedule, there 
are no outstanding rulings of, or requests for rulings with, any Tax Authority 
addressed to the Company that are, or if issued would be, binding on the 
Company. 
 
     Section 8.02. Tax Covenants. (a) Parent and The Limited agree to make a 
timely, effective and irrevocable election under Section 338(h)(10) of the Code 
and under any comparable statutes in any other jurisdiction with respect to the 
Company and each of its Subsidiaries (the "Section 338(h)(10) Election"), and to 
file such election in accordance with applicable regulations. The Section 
338(h)(10) Election shall properly reflect the Price Allocation (as hereinafter 
defined). Within 90 days after the Closing Date, Parent shall deliver to The 
Limited a statement (the "Allocation Statement") allocating the ADSP (as such 
term is defined in Treasury Regulations Section 1.338-4) of the assets of the 
Company and its Subsidiaries in accordance with the Treasury regulations 
promulgated under Section 338(h)(10). If within 30 days after receipt of the 
Allocation Statement The Limited notifies Parent in writing that in The 
Limited's judgment, the allocation of one or more items reflected in the 
Allocation Statement is not a reasonable allocation, Parent and The Limited will 
use their reasonable best efforts to resolve such dispute. If Parent and The 
Limited fail to 
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resolve such dispute within 30 days, then: (1) Parent and The Limited within 5 
days after such 30-day period expires shall select a nationally recognized 
accounting firm which is reasonably acceptable to Parent and The Limited and 
which has no material relationship with Parent or The Limited (the "Accounting 
Referee"); (2) the Accounting Referee shall determine whether the allocation was 
reasonable and, if not reasonable, shall appropriately revise the Allocation 
Statement; and (3) the costs, fees and expenses of the Accounting Referee shall 
be borne equally by Parent and The Limited. If The Limited does not respond 
within 30 days, or upon resolution of the disputed items, the allocation 
reflected on the Allocation Statement (as such may have been adjusted) shall be 
the "Price Allocation" and shall be binding on the parties hereto. The Limited 
and Parent agree to act, and cause their Affiliates to act, in accordance with 
the Price Allocation in the preparation, filing and audit of any Return. 
 
     (b) Parent and Buyer covenant that they will not and will not cause or 
permit the Company, any Subsidiary or any Affiliate of Buyer to (1) take any 
action on the Closing Date other than in the ordinary course of business, 
including but not limited to the distribution of any dividend or the 
effectuation of any redemption, that could give rise to any Tax liability or 
reduce any Tax Asset of The Limited, Seller or any Limited Tax Group or give 
rise to any loss of The Limited, Seller or any Limited Tax Group, or (2) make 
any election or deemed election under Section 338 of the Code other than the 
Section 338(h)(10) Election, or (3) make (other than the Section 338(h)(10) 
Election) or change any Tax election, amend any Return or take any Tax position 
on any Return, take any action, omit to take any action or enter into any 
transaction, merger or restructuring that ipso facto results in any increase in 
any Tax liability or any reduction of any Tax Asset of The Limited, Seller or 
any Limited Tax Group. Notwithstanding Section 8.04(a), Buyer and Parent agree 
that The Limited and its Affiliates are to have no liability for any Tax 
resulting from any action referred to in the preceding sentence of the Company, 
any Subsidiary, Buyer, Parent or any Affiliate of Parent, and agree to indemnify 
and hold harmless The Limited and its Affiliates against any such Tax and any 
liabilities, costs, expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable expenses 
of investigation and attorney's fees and expenses), losses, damages assessments, 
settlements or judgments arising out of or incident to the imposition, 
assessment or assertion of any such Tax. The Limited agrees to give prompt 
notice to Buyer of the assertion of any claim, or the commencement of any action 
or proceeding, in respect of which indemnity may be sought under this Section 
8.02(b). 
 
     (c) The Limited shall prepare (in a manner that complies with its 
obligations under Section 8.02(a)) and timely file (1) all Returns of any Target 
Group and (2) all separate Returns required to be filed by the Company or any 
Subsidiary for Pre-Closing Tax Periods (other than Pre-Closing Tax Periods 
described in clause (2) of the definition of such term). To the extent such an 
election is available under applicable law, The Limited may, at its option, 
elect to allocate items of the Company and the Subsidiaries in accordance with 
Treasury 
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Regulation Section 1.1502-76(b)(2)(ii) or 1.1502-76(b)(2)(iii) (or any 
corresponding provision of state, local or foreign law relating to a Combined 
Tax of a Limited Tax Group) for purposes of filing a Limited Tax Group's Return, 
and if The Limited so elects, then The Limited shall allocate the items of the 
Company and the Subsidiaries in accordance with the applicable election. Parent 
shall, and shall cause its Affiliates, the Company and the Subsidiaries to (1) 
cooperate in the making of, and take all steps necessary to assure the 
effectiveness of, any election described in the preceding sentence (it being 
understood that Parent will cause the Company, each Subsidiary and the parent of 
the consolidated group (if any) of which the Company and the Subsidiaries are 
members following the Closing to sign the statement described in Treasury 
Regulation Section 1.1502- 76(b)(2)(ii)(D) and any similar statement required 
under state, local or foreign law), (2) provide any information and records 
reasonably requested by The Limited for purposes of preparing the Returns of The 
Limited Tax Group in accordance with any such election and (3) file the Returns 
of Parent, Parent's Affiliates, the Company and the Subsidiaries in accordance 
with any allocation of items made by The Limited in connection with any such 
election. 
 
     (d) The Limited shall (1) prepare (in a manner that complies with its 
obligations under Section 8.02(a)) and timely file all Returns with respect to 
Indemnified Taxes required to be filed by the Company or any Subsidiary for 
Straddle Periods, (2) prepare such Returns in a manner consistent with past 
practice and without a change of any election or any accounting method, and (3) 
submit to Parent such Returns (together with any accompanying schedules, 
statements and, to the extent requested by Parent, supporting documentation) at 
least 30 days prior to the due date for such Return (except with respect to 
Returns relating to estimated Tax payments, which shall be provided to Parent at 
least 7 days prior to the due date for such Return). Parent shall (1) provide 
The Limited such information as The Limited may reasonably require in the 
preparation of such Returns, (2) pay to The Limited the portion of the Taxes due 
with respect to such Returns which is not payable by The Limited pursuant to 
Section 8.04, at least 3 days prior to the due date of the payment relating to 
such Return and (3) cause the appropriate person or persons to execute such 
Returns. 
 
     (e) Parent shall (1) prepare (in a manner that complies with its 
obligations under Section 8.02(a)) and timely file all separate Returns required 
to be filed by the Company or any Subsidiary for Straddle Periods (other than 
Returns with respect to Indemnified Taxes covered by Section 8.02(d)), (2) 
prepare such Returns in a manner consistent with past practice and without a 
change of any election or any accounting method, (3) submit to The Limited such 
Returns (together with any accompanying schedules, statements and, to the extent 
requested by The Limited, supporting documentation) at least 30 days prior to 
the due date for such Return and (4) prior to filing, make any changes to the 
Returns requested by The Limited within 15 days following delivery of such 
Returns to 
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The Limited if Parent consents to such changes (such consent not to be 
     unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed). 
 
     (f)  Parent shall promptly pay or cause to be paid to The Limited all 
refunds of Indemnified Taxes and interest thereon received by Buyer, Parent, any 
Affiliate of Parent, the Company, or any Subsidiary from a Taxing Authority that 
are attributable to Indemnified Taxes paid by The Limited, Seller, the Company 
or any Subsidiary (or any predecessor or Affiliate of The Limited) with respect 
to any Pre-Closing Tax Period. If, in lieu of receiving a refund for Indemnified 
Taxes with respect to a Pre-Closing Tax Period, Parent (i) is required by a 
Taxing Authority to reduce a Tax liability or increase a Tax Asset, Parent shall 
pay or cause to be paid to The Limited the amount of such reduction or increase, 
provided that such reduction or increase shall be calculated on the same basis 
as Tax benefits related to Tax Allowances pursuant to Section 8.04(e) and, in 
the event of a dispute between Parent and The Limited regarding the calculation 
of the amount of such reduction or increase, Parent and The Limited shall 
resolve such dispute by appointing an Accounting Referee in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 8.04(e), and (ii) elects to reduce a Tax liability or 
increase a Tax Asset, Parent shall pay or cause to be paid to The Limited the 
amount of such reduction or increase. 
 
     (g)  All transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration and other 
such Taxes and fees (including any penalties and interest) incurred in 
connection with transactions contemplated by this Agreement (including any real 
property transfer Tax and any similar Tax) (all such Taxes, excluding Other 
Taxes (as defined below), "Transfer Taxes") shall be paid by the party having 
liability therefor under applicable law (or, if both Parent or one of its 
Affiliates, on one hand, and The Limited or one of its Affiliates, on the other 
hand, have liability under applicable law, then 50% of such Tax shall be paid by 
Parent and the remaining 50% shall be paid by The Limited), and such party (or, 
in the case of Taxes paid by both Parent and The Limited, both parties) will 
file all necessary Returns and other documentation with respect to all such 
Taxes and fees, and, if required by applicable law, the other party will, and 
will cause its Affiliates to, join in the execution of any such Returns and 
other documentation; provided, that Parent, on one hand, and The Limited, on the 
other hand, will each bear 50% of the economic burden of any Transfer Tax and of 
the expenses of preparing and filing all necessary Transfer Tax returns and 
other documentation, and The Limited and Parent shall make all such payments to 
one another as are necessary to achieve such allocation of such economic burden; 
and provided further, that a reasonable period of time in advance of paying any 
Transfer Tax or filing any related return or other documentation, the parties 
will consult with one another in good faith in order to agree whether the 
payment of such Transfer Tax or filing of such return or other documentation is 
required under applicable law. Notwithstanding any other provision of this 
Agreement, Parent and its Affiliates shall be liable for and bear the entire 
economic burden of any Taxes or other payments to be made to a governmental 
authority as a result of the transactions 
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contemplated by this Agreement for the purpose of having the Parent, any of its 
Affiliates, the Company or any Subsidiary qualify to do business in a 
jurisdiction, be authorized to collect sales tax, receive applicable vendors' or 
other licenses, or receive other, similar authorizations, licenses, 
qualifications or permissions ("Other Taxes"). The provisions of this Section 
8.02(g), and no other provision (including Section 8.04), will govern the 
allocation between the parties of the economic burden of Transfer Taxes and 
Other Taxes. 
 
     Section 8.03. Tax Sharing. Any and all existing Tax sharing, Tax indemnity, 
Tax allocation agreements or arrangements between the Company or any Subsidiary 
and any member of any Limited Tax Group shall be terminated as of the Closing 
Date. After such date neither the Company, any Subsidiary, The Limited nor any 
Affiliate of The Limited shall have any further rights or liabilities 
thereunder. This Agreement shall be the sole Tax sharing agreement relating to 
the Company or any Subsidiary for all Pre-Closing Tax Periods and Straddle 
Periods. 
 
     Section 8.04. Indemnification by The Limited. (a) The Limited hereby 
indemnifies Parent and Buyer against and agrees to hold them harmless on an 
after-Tax basis as provided in Section 8.04(e) from any (1) Indemnified Tax of 
the Company or any Subsidiary or any Target Group relating to a Pre-Closing Tax 
Period, (2) any Indemnified Tax (other than Transfer Taxes and Other Taxes, 
which are governed by Section 8.02(g)) resulting from the Section 338(h)(10) 
Election including any state, local or foreign Indemnified Tax attributable to 
an election under the state, local, or foreign law similar to the election 
available under Section 338(h)(10) (including, for avoidance of doubt, (i) any 
Federal Tax or Combined Tax for which the Company or any Subsidiary has 
liability under Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6 or a corresponding 
provision of state, local or foreign law, which Indemnified Tax results from the 
Section 338(h)(10) Election and (ii) any liability for an Indemnified Tax which 
results from the Section 338(h)(10) Election, to extent such Election is made 
under a state, local or foreign law) and (3) liabilities, costs and expenses 
(including, without limitation, reasonable expenses of investigation and 
attorneys' fees and expenses) arising out of or incident to the imposition, 
assessment or assertion of any Indemnified Tax described in (1) or (2), 
including those liabilities, costs and expenses incurred in the contest in good 
faith in appropriate proceedings relating to the imposition, assessment or 
assertion of any such Indemnified Tax, in each case incurred or suffered by 
Buyer, Parent any of their Affiliates or, effective upon the Closing, the 
Company or any Subsidiary (the sum of (1), (2) and (3) being referred to as a 
"Tax Loss"). Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, this Section 
8.04 provides the exclusive remedy for Parent's, Buyer's and their Affiliates' 
(and, after the Closing, the Company's and its Subsidiaries') recovery of any 
Tax Loss from The Limited and its Affiliates. 
 
     (b) For purposes of this Section 8.04, in the case of any Indemnified Tax, 
that is payable for a Straddle Period, the portion of such Indemnified Tax 
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related to the portion of such Straddle Period ending on the Closing Date shall 
(x) in the case of any Indemnified Tax that is based on or related to income, be 
deemed equal to the amount which would be payable if the relevant period ended 
on the Closing Date, (y) in the case of any Indemnified Tax that is a sales or 
use tax, be determined based on a closing of the books, and (z) in the case of 
any Indemnified Tax that is a personal property tax, be determined using a pro 
rata method based on the number of days in each portion of the Straddle Period. 
All determinations necessary to give effect to the foregoing allocations shall 
be made in a manner that is consistent with any election described in the second 
sentence of Section 8.02(c) and with the prior practice of the Company and the 
Subsidiaries. 
 
     (c)  Any payment by The Limited pursuant to this Section 8.04 shall be made 
not later than 30 days after receipt by The Limited of written notice from Buyer 
stating that any Tax Loss has been paid by Buyer, any of its Affiliates or 
former Affiliates or, effective upon the Closing, the Company or any Subsidiary 
and the amount thereof and of the indemnity payment requested. 
 
     (d)  If any claim or demand for Indemnified Taxes in respect of which 
indemnity may be sought pursuant to this Section 8.04 is asserted against 
Parent, Buyer, any of their Affiliates or, effective upon the Closing, the 
Company or any Subsidiary, Buyer shall notify The Limited of such claim or 
demand within 10 days of receipt thereof, or such earlier time that would allow 
The Limited to timely respond to such claim or demand, and shall give The 
Limited such information with respect thereto as The Limited may reasonably 
request. The Limited may discharge, at any time, its indemnification obligation 
under this Section 8.04 by paying to Parent the amount of the applicable Tax 
Loss, calculated on the date of such payment. The Limited shall assume and 
control, and Parent and Buyer shall take all steps reasonably requested by The 
Limited in order to fully effectuate The Limited's assumption and control of, 
the conduct of any contest or proceeding (including, without limitation, a Tax 
audit) relating to Federal Taxes, Combined Taxes or any other Taxes for which 
indemnification may be sought from The Limited under this Section 8.04. Parent 
shall have the right, but not the duty, to participate in such contest or 
proceeding at its own expense. The Limited shall not be liable under this 
Section 8.04 for any amount arising out of a contest or proceeding of which The 
Limited was not notified as required under this Section 8.04(d) to the extent 
that the failure to so notify The Limited materially prejudiced The Limited. 
 
     (e)  If The Limited's indemnification obligations under this Section 8.04 
or Section 11.02 arise in respect of an adjustment that makes allowable to 
Parent, Buyer, any of their Affiliates or, effective upon the Closing, the 
Company or any Subsidiary any deduction, amortization, exclusion from income or 
other allowance (a "Tax Allowance") that would not, but for such adjustment, be 
allowable, (x) the party or parties entitled to the Tax Allowance shall claim 
such Tax Allowance to the maximum extent possible and (y) Parent shall pay to 
The 
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Limited the Tax benefit received by the party or parties entitled to the Tax 
Allowance from the use of such Tax Allowance, net of all Tax costs resulting 
from the payment of the indemnification obligations. The net Tax benefit 
received from the use of the portion of a Tax Allowance that is used in the 
taxable year in which the related indemnification payment is made, or in an 
earlier taxable year, shall be considered equal to the excess of (i) the amount 
of Taxes that would have been payable (or of the Tax refund that would have been 
receivable) by the party or parties entitled to the Tax Allowance, in the 
absence of such Tax Allowance and any Tax increase or other Tax adjustment that 
arises as a result of The Limited's indemnification obligation, the payment 
thereof or the events creating such obligation, for such taxable year over (ii) 
the amount of Taxes actually payable (or of the Tax refund actually receivable) 
by, or taken into account in determining any adjustment arising on audit of, the 
party or parties entitled to the Tax Allowance for such taxable year. The net 
Tax benefit received shall take into account, among other things, a reasonable 
assumption regarding the risk of disallowance of a Tax Allowance on audit and 
with respect to the use of the portion of a Tax Allowance that is not used 
either in the taxable year in which the related indemnification payment is made 
or, in an earlier taxable year, such amount shall be determined by (i) 
multiplying such portion of the Tax Allowance by the highest corporate Tax rate 
applicable to the party or parties entitled to the Tax Allowance in the absence 
of such Tax Allowance or, in the case of a credit 100%, (ii) using a discount 
rate equal to the mid-term applicable federal rate in effect at that time, (iii) 
using reasonable assumptions regarding the taxable year or years in which the 
party or parties entitled to the Tax Allowance will utilize such portion of the 
Tax Allowance and (iv) taking into account on a basis consistent with clauses 
(i) through (iii) of this sentence any Tax increase or other Tax adjustments 
that arise as a result of The Limited's indemnification obligation, the payment 
thereof or the events creating such obligation. In the event that The Limited 
and Parent are unable to agree on the amount of any Tax benefit attributable to 
any Tax Allowance, The Limited and Parent shall engage an Accounting Referee to 
determine the amount of the Tax benefit. The Accounting Referee (x) shall be 
chosen within 10 days of the date on which the need to choose it arises and (y) 
shall determine the amount of the Tax benefit within 30 days of having the item 
referred to it. The decision of the Accounting Referee shall be final and 
binding upon The Limited and Parent. Parent shall pay the amount of the Tax 
benefit so determined by the Accounting Referee to The Limited within 15 days of 
the date on which the Accounting Referee has made its determination. The costs, 
fees and expenses of the Accounting Referee shall be borne equally by The 
Limited and Parent. 
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                                   ARTICLE 9 
                               Employee Benefits 
 
     Section 9.01. Employee Benefits. (a) The following terms, as used herein, 
having the following meanings: 
 
     "Benefit Arrangement" means each material employment, severance, 
continuation pay, termination pay, layoff, or other similar written contract, 
arrangement or policy and each written plan or arrangement providing for health, 
medical, life or other welfare benefit insurance coverage (including any 
insured, self-insured or other arrangements), workers' compensation, disability 
benefits, supplemental unemployment benefits, holiday, dependent care 
assistance, education or vacation benefits, retirement benefits or deferred 
compensation, profit-sharing, bonuses, stock options, stock purchase, stock 
appreciation or other forms of incentive compensation or post-retirement 
insurance, compensation or benefits which (1) is not an Employee Plan, (2) is or 
has been entered into, maintained, administered or contributed to, as the case 
may be, by The Limited, any of its Affiliates, the Company or any Subsidiary and 
(3) covers any Company Employee. 
 
     "Company Employee" means each individual who is a current or former 
employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries but shall not include any 
individual who, on the Closing Date, is employed, or performing services, at the 
Distribution Center (as such term is defined in the Services Agreement). 
 
     "Employee Plan" means each material "employee benefit plan," as such term 
is defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA, which (1) is subject to any provision of 
ERISA, (2) is or has been entered into, maintained, administered or contributed 
to, as the case may be, by The Limited, any of its Affiliates or the Company or 
any Subsidiary and (3) covers any Company Employee. 
 
     "ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as 
amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. 
 
     "ERISA Affiliate" of any entity means any other entity which, together with 
such entity, would be treated as a single employer under Section 414 of the 
Code. 
 
     "Vested Options" means those Company Employee Options that, immediately 
prior to the Closing Date, are exercisable by the holder thereof. 
 
     (b) Each of the following terms is defined in the Section set forth 
opposite such term: 
 
 
                   Term                                   Section 
                   Accelerated Options                      9.07 
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Term 
Buyer's Welfare Benefit Plans                                  9.03 
Company Employee Options                                       9.07 
Covered Employee                                               9.03 
Defined Benefit Plan                                           9.02 
HIPAA                                                          9.02 
Multiemployer Plan                                             9.02 
Savings and Retirement Plan                                    9.04 
SRDCP                                                          9.05 
Successor Plan                                                 9.04 
 
     Section 9.02. ERISA Representations. The Limited and Seller represent and 
warrant to Parent and Buyer that: 
 
     (a)  Section 9.02(a) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth each Employee 
Plan. With respect to each such Employee Plan, The Limited has furnished or made 
available to Buyer and/or Parent a true and complete copy of the plan document 
and any associated trust agreement, the most current summary plan description 
(and any summary of material modifications thereto), the most recently filed 
Form 5500 (and any schedules attached thereto), and the most recent Internal 
Revenue Service determination letter, as applicable, of each such Plan. Each 
Employee Plan has been maintained in compliance with its terms and with the 
requirements prescribed by any and all applicable statutes, orders, rules and 
regulations, including but not limited to ERISA and the Code. 
 
     (b)  Section 9.02(b) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth each Benefit 
Arrangement. The Limited has furnished or made available to Buyer and/or Parent 
true and complete copies of each such Benefit Arrangement and the most current 
summary (if any) distributed to Company Employees of each such Benefit 
Arrangement. Each Benefit Arrangement has been maintained in compliance with its 
terms and with the requirements prescribed by any and all applicable Laws. 
 
     (c)  The Internal Revenue Service has issued a favorable determination 
letter with respect to each Employee Plan that is intended to qualify under 
Section 401(a) of the Code, and no event has occurred before or after the date 
of such letter that would disqualify such Employee Plan. 
 
     (d)  The Limited, the Company and/or the Subsidiaries have each made full 
payment of all amounts each is required, under applicable Law or the terms of 
each Employee Plan and Benefit Arrangement, to have contributed thereto before 
the Closing Date (including any employee salary reduction contributions 
described in Section 125 or Section 401(k) of the Code) for all periods through 
and including the close of the last plan year ending prior to the Closing Date, 
or proper accruals for such contributions have been made and are reflected on 
the Company's Balance Sheet and books and records. The Limited, the Company 
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and/or the Subsidiaries will pay such contributions to the Employee Plans and 
the Benefit Arrangements in respect of benefits payable, or otherwise made 
available, to the Company Employees for the period beginning immediately after 
the close of such last plan year and ending on the Closing Date, or, if any such 
contributions will not be due prior to the Closing Date, adequate provision for 
reserves therefor shall be made on the Closing Statement of Net Tangible Assets. 
 
     (e)  Neither The Limited, the Company nor any Subsidiary has within the 
past six years made any contributions (or has been obligated to make any 
contributions) to a "Multiemployer Plan," as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA 
or to a "Defined Benefit Plan," as defined in Section 3(35) of ERISA. Neither 
The Limited, the Company nor any Subsidiary has any outstanding liability with 
respect to a Multiemployer Plan or a Defined Benefit Plan. 
 
     (f)  There are no plans that provide (or will provide) medical, life 
insurance or death benefits with respect to former employees (including 
retirees) of the Company, other than benefits that are required to be provided 
pursuant to Section 4980B of the Code or state Law continuation coverage rights. 
 
     (g)  There are no inquiries, proceedings, claims, or lawsuits which have 
been asserted, instituted, or threatened by the Internal Revenue Service, the 
Department of Labor, the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, or any 
participant, beneficiary, or any other person or entity involving any aspect of 
any Employee Plan or Benefit Arrangement (other than routine benefit claims). 
 
     (h)  There is not now, and has never been, any material violation of the 
Code or ERISA with respect to the filing of applicable reports, documents, and 
notices with the Department of Labor and the Internal Revenue Service regarding 
any Employee Plan, or the furnishing of such documents to the participants or 
beneficiaries of the Employee Plans. 
 
     (i)  Any bonding required with respect to the Employee Plans in accordance 
with the applicable provisions of ERISA has been obtained and is in full force 
and effect. 
 
     (j)  Neither The Limited, the Company, any Subsidiary nor any "party in 
interest" (as defined in Section 3(14) of ERISA) or "disqualified person" (as 
defined in Section 4975(e)(2) of the Code) with respect to any Employee Plan has 
engaged in a "prohibited transaction" within the meaning of Part 4 of Subtitle B 
of Title I of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code for which a statutory, 
administrative, or regulatory exemption is not available. 
 
     (k)  There has been no material violation of the "continuation coverage 
requirements" of "group health plans" as set forth in Section 4980B of the Code 
and Part 6 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA (sometimes referred to as "COBRA") 
with respect to any Employee Plan to which such continuation coverage 
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requirements apply. There has been no material violation of the health insurance 
obligations imposed by Section 9801 of the Code and Part 7 of Subtitle B of 
Title I of ERISA (sometimes referred to as "HIPAA") with respect to any Employee 
Plan which is a "group health plan" (as defined in Section 5000(b)(1) of the 
Code and Section 706 of ERISA) to which such insurance obligations apply 
(including the requirement that certificates of creditable coverage be provided 
to certain employees and their dependents). 
 
     (l)  The consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement 
will not, separately or together, (1) except as set forth on Section 9.02(l) of 
the Disclosure Schedule, entitle any Company Employee to receive from the 
Company or any Subsidiary severance pay, unemployment compensation, or any other 
payment, or (2) except as set forth in Section 9.07, accelerate the time of 
payment or vesting of, or increase the amount of, compensation due to any such 
Company Employee or director of the Company or any Subsidiary. 
 
     Section 9.03. Welfare Plans Following the Closing. (a) Effective January 1, 
2002, or such earlier dates as may be agreed upon by the parties to this 
Agreement, Parent and Buyer shall provide the Covered Employees (as defined 
herein) with coverage under the applicable employee welfare benefit plans (as 
defined in Section 3(l) of ERISA) sponsored by Parent and/or Buyer (collectively 
called "Buyer's Welfare Benefit Plans"). For purposes of this Agreement, a 
"Covered Employee" means each individual who is employed by the Company or its 
Subsidiaries on the Closing Date, including any such individual on approved 
leave of absence (including maternity and paternity leave, vacation, sick leave, 
short-term disability, long-term disability, military leave, jury duty, or death 
leave, but shall not include individuals employed or performing services at the 
Distribution Center, if any). Covered Employees shall be eligible to participate 
in Buyer's Welfare Benefit Plans on such date(s) subject in each case to Parent 
and/or Buyer's right to modify or eliminate any employee benefit plan or program 
maintained by it at any time. 
 
     (b)  Parent and Buyer shall credit the Covered Employees for service with 
the Company and its Subsidiaries prior to the Closing Date for purposes of 
eligibility to participate in, and to receive benefits under, Buyer's Welfare 
Benefit Plans; provided, however, that all Company Employees shall be employees 
at will of the Company, and nothing contained in this Section 9.03 or elsewhere 
in this Agreement shall be construed to prevent the termination of employment of 
any Company Employee, any change in the compensation or employee benefits 
available to any Company Employee, or the amendment or termination of any 
particular employee benefit plan to the extent permitted by its terms. 
 
     (c)  Parent and Buyer covenant that Buyer's Welfare Benefit Plans shall 
credit each Covered Employee for any coinsurance or deductibles paid prior to 
the date the Covered Employee becomes a participant in Buyer's Welfare Benefit 
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Plans, if any, with respect to the calendar year in which such participation 
commences. Such credit shall be given for the purpose of satisfying any 
applicable coinsurance or deductible requirements under any of Buyer's Welfare 
Benefit Plans in which the Covered Employee is eligible to participate after the 
Closing Date. 
 
     (d)  Parent and Buyer covenant that Buyer's Welfare Benefit Plans shall not 
treat any transaction contemplated hereby as an event which, in and of itself, 
would cause the Company Employees to be subject to any preexisting condition 
limitation and shall otherwise satisfy the requirements of Section 4980B(f) of 
the Code (solely with respect to the Company Employees). 
 
     (e)  Effective as of the Closing Date and except as provided in Section 
9.03(f) below, Parent and Buyer shall cause the Company to assume all 
obligations and liabilities of The Limited and its ERISA Affiliates with respect 
to the following welfare benefit plans or programs maintained by The Limited and 
its ERISA Affiliates, but only to the extent such liabilities and obligations 
relate to benefits for Covered Employees: (1) life insurance benefits; (2) 
short- and long-term disability benefits, including disability benefits payable 
after the Closing Date with respect to disabilities incurred on or prior to the 
Closing Date; (3) medical benefits; (4) dental benefits; (5) COBRA health care 
continuation coverage benefits; and (6) any health insurance obligation imposed 
by HIPAA and/or applicable state Law (other than benefit claims incurred prior 
to the Closing Date with respect to the benefits listed in (3) and (4)). A 
medical or dental claim shall be "incurred" when the relevant service is 
provided or item is purchased. All life insurance and long-term disability 
benefits are fully insured and all premiums due and payable therefore have been 
paid by The Limited and/or its ERISA Affiliates, or will have been paid by The 
Limited and/or its ERISA Affiliates in the ordinary course, prior to the Closing 
Date. Accruals for long-term disability benefits in respect of Company Employees 
are reflected on the books and records of the Company. 
 
     (f)  The Limited and its ERISA Affiliates shall be responsible for all 
obligations and liabilities created or owing as a consequence of the employment 
of any Covered Employee by The Limited and its ERISA Affiliates prior to the 
Closing Date with respect to, but only with respect to, the following: (1) all 
liabilities, costs, claims and other obligations under any Employee Plan or 
Benefit Arrangement resulting from any deficiency in the administration or 
funding of any such Employee Plan or Benefit Arrangement; (2) all medical and 
dental benefit claims; (3) any workers' compensation claims; (4) any severance 
pay benefits arising out of employment terminations prior to the Closing Date; 
(5) COBRA health care continuation coverage with respect to qualifying events 
occurring on or prior to the Closing Date, including COBRA continuation coverage 
for any "M&A qualified beneficiary" as defined in Treas. Reg. (S) 54.4980B-9, A- 
4(b); and (6) any health insurance obligation imposed by HIPAA (including the 
requirement that certificates of creditable coverage be 
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provided to certain employees and their dependents) and/or applicable state law. 
A workers compensation claim shall be deemed to relate to the period prior to 
the Closing Date if the event giving rise to the claim occurs prior to the 
Closing Date. 
 
     (g)  The Company's obligations under this Section 9.03 are in addition to 
the Company's obligations under Section 9.04 and Section 9.05. 
 
     Section 9.04. Savings and Retirement Plan.  (a) On or prior to the Closing 
Date or as soon as practicable thereafter, The Limited shall cause the trustee 
of The Limited Savings and Retirement Plan (the "Savings and Retirement Plan") 
to segregate the assets of such Savings and Retirement Plan representing the 
full account balances of the Company Employees as of the Closing Date, make any 
and all filings and submissions to the appropriate governmental agencies arising 
in connection with such segregation of assets and make all necessary amendments 
to such Savings and Retirement Plan and related trust agreement to provide for 
such segregation of assets and the transfer of assets as described below.  The 
manner in which the account balances of the Company Employees under the Savings 
and Retirement Plan are transferred shall not be affected by such segregation of 
assets.  The Limited shall cause each Company Employee who is a participant in 
the Savings and Retirement Plan to be 100% vested in his or her account balances 
thereunder effective as of the Closing Date. 
 
     (b)  Parent and Buyer hereby designate the Charming Shoppes, Inc. 
Employees' Retirement and Savings Plan (the "Successor Plan") to accept the 
transfer of assets as described herein and agree to take all necessary action, 
if any, to qualify such plan under the applicable provisions of the Code and 
shall make any and all filings and submissions to the appropriate governmental 
agencies required to be made by it in connection with the transfer of assets 
described below. The transfer shall not occur until (1) Buyer shall have 
provided The Limited with a certification from Buyer, with appropriate 
indemnities, as to such qualified status satisfactory to The Limited and (2) The 
Limited shall have issued comparable indemnities as to the qualified status of 
the Savings and Retirement Plan satisfactory to Buyer. The Limited and Buyer 
shall act expeditiously and in good faith in satisfying, and shall satisfy, the 
above conditions prior to January 1, 2002. As soon as practicable following the 
satisfaction of the conditions set forth above and in any event prior to January 
1, 2002, The Limited shall cause the trustee of the Savings and Retirement Plan 
to transfer (in the form of cash, marketable securities, including shares of The 
Limited and Intimate Brands, Inc., and, to the extent practicable, in the same 
relative proportions as the account balances of the Company Employees are 
invested as of the date of the special valuation conducted in connection with 
such transfer) the full account balances of Company Employees under the Savings 
and Retirement Plan, as well as actual earnings (including, but not limited to, 
any losses or expenses related thereto) attributable to the period from the 
Closing Date to the date of transfer described herein, reduced by any necessary 
benefit or withdrawal payments to or in respect of the Company Employees 
occurring during the period from the Closing Date to 
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the date of transfer described herein, to the appropriate trustee as designated 
by Buyer under the trust agreement forming a part of the Successor Plan. 
 
     (c)  In consideration for the transfer of assets described herein, Buyer 
shall, and shall cause the Company to, effective as of the date of transfer 
described herein, assume all of the obligations of The Limited and its ERISA 
Affiliates in respect of the account balances accumulated by the Company 
Employees under the Savings and Retirement Plan (exclusive of any portion of 
such account balances which are paid or otherwise withdrawn prior to the date of 
transfer described herein) on or prior to the Closing Date. Buyer shall not 
assume any other obligations or liabilities arising under or attributable to the 
Savings and Retirement Plan. 
 
     Section 9.05.  Other Employee Plans And Benefit Arrangements.  (a) On or 
prior to the Closing Date, Parent shall, or shall cause the Company to, 
establish a nonqualified deferred compensation plan that mirrors The Limited 
Supplemental Retirement and Deferred Compensation Plan (the "SRDCP"). Effective 
as of the Closing Date, and except as provided in Section 9.05(b) below, Parent 
shall cause the Company to (1) accept the transfer of participant account 
balances from the SRDCP to the mirror plan with respect to benefits payable to 
Covered Employees who are participants in the SRDCP as of the Closing Date, and 
(2) assume all obligations and liabilities attributable to the period prior to 
the Closing date in respect of the Covered Employees who were participants in 
the SRDCP as of the Closing Date. The account of each Covered Employee under the 
mirror plan shall be 100% vested and shall be paid to him/her by the Company 
and/or its Subsidiaries following the Covered Employee's termination of 
employment with the Company and its Subsidiaries pursuant to the terms of the 
mirror plan. On the Closing Date, The Limited shall provide Parent with a true 
and correct schedule setting forth the following information regarding each 
Covered Employee who is a participant in the SRDCP on the Closing Date: the name 
of the Covered Employee, his/her job title, and the total amount credited to 
his/her SRDCP account as of the Closing Date. 
 
     (b)  Effective as of the Closing Date, The Limited shall assume and retain 
all obligations and liabilities under the SRDCP including, without limitation, 
all obligations and liabilities attributable to the period prior to the Closing 
Date, with respect to benefits payable to (1) Kenneth B. Gilman and (2) all 
Company Employees who are not offered post-Closing employment by Parent, the 
Company or any of its Subsidiaries on or prior to the Closing Date. The SRDCP 
account maintained on behalf of Mr. Gilman and such Company Employees shall be 
paid to them by The Limited, pursuant to the terms of the SRDCP. The Limited 
shall take any action that may be necessary and/or desirable in its sole 
discretion to reflect that no Termination of Employment (as defined in the 
SRDCP) will occur with respect to any Covered Employee as a result of 
consummating the transaction contemplated by this Agreement. 
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     (c)  Prior to the Closing Date, neither The Limited, the Company nor any 
Subsidiary will establish any new employee benefit plan for the Company 
Employees, except with the written consent of Buyer (which consent may be 
withheld in Buyer's sole discretion), nor will The Limited, the Company or any 
Subsidiary amend or modify in any material way any existing Employee Plan or 
Benefit Arrangement with respect to the Company, any Subsidiary or any Company 
Employee as to any benefit or in any other material way, except with the written 
consent of Buyer (which consent may be withheld in Buyer's sole discretion). 
 
     Section 9.06.  Necessary Action.  The Limited, Seller, Parent and Buyer 
agree to take all action, or cause such action to be taken, which may be 
necessary in order to effectuate the transactions contemplated by this Article, 
including, without limitation, adopting any necessary amendments to the Employee 
Plans and Benefit Arrangements and making all filings and submissions to the 
appropriate governmental agencies required to be made in connection with the 
events contemplated by Section 9.04. 
 
     Section 9.07.  Stock Options.  Except as set forth on Section 9.07 to the 
Disclosure Schedule: 
 
     (a)  The Limited shall make an offer to the Company Employees such that 
options held by the Company Employees ("Company Employee Options") to purchase 
shares of The Limited's common stock under any of The Limited's Benefit 
Arrangements that, immediately prior to the Closing Date are not exercisable and 
that would, in the ordinary course and but for the consummation of the 
transactions contemplated under this Agreement, become exercisable on or prior 
to December 31, 2002, shall become exercisable on the Closing Date ("Accelerated 
Options"). The expiration of each Accelerated Option and Vested Option shall be 
determined in accordance with the terms thereof and the Benefit Arrangement 
pursuant to which such option was granted. 
 
     (b)  The foregoing obligation is subject to approval of the Compensation 
Committee of The Limited's Board of Directors. The Chief Operating Officer of 
The Limited will recommend that such Compensation Committee approve the 
foregoing. 
 
     (c)  For the avoidance of doubt, the parties agree that The Limited will be 
entitled to any tax deductions resulting from the exercise of the Vested Options 
or Accelerated Options. 
 
     Section 9.08.  Indemnification.  Parent hereby indemnifies, and shall cause 
the Company after the Closing to indemnify, The Limited and each of its ERISA 
Affiliates against and agrees, and shall cause the Company to agree after the 
Closing, to hold The Limited and each of its ERISA Affiliates harmless from any 
and all Damages that The Limited and each of its ERISA Affiliates may incur or 
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suffer as a result of any failure by Parent and the Company to satisfy and 
discharge their obligations under this Article.  The Limited and each of its 
ERISA Affiliates hereby indemnifies the Company against and agrees to hold the 
Company harmless from any and all Damages that the Company may incur as a result 
of any failure by The Limited to satisfy and discharge its obligations under 
this Article. 
 
     Section 9.09.  Third Party Beneficiaries.  No provision of this Article 
shall create any third party beneficiary rights in any Company Employee 
(including any beneficiary or dependent thereof). 
 
 
                                  ARTICLE 10 
                             Conditions to Closing 
 
     Section 10.01.  Conditions to Obligations of Parent, Buyer, The Limited and 
Seller.  The obligations of Parent, Buyer, The Limited and Seller to consummate 
the Closing are subject to the satisfaction (or, to the extent permitted by Law, 
waiver by the relevant party) of the following conditions: 
 
     (a)  Any applicable waiting period under the HSR Act relating to the 
transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents shall have expired or 
been terminated. 
 
     (b)  No provision of any applicable Law and no judgment, injunction, order 
or decree shall prohibit the consummation of the Closing. 
 
     (c)  No suit, action, proceeding or investigation shall have been brought 
or threatened by any Person which is reasonably likely to result in (i) an 
injunction preventing the consummation of the Closing or (ii) an order requiring 
that the Closing, if consummated, be rescinded. 
 
     Section 10.02.  Conditions to Obligation of Parent and Buyer.  The 
obligation of Parent and Buyer to consummate the Closing is subject to the 
satisfaction (or, to the extent permitted by Law, waiver by Buyer) of the 
following further conditions: 
 
     (a)  (1) The Limited and Seller shall have performed or complied in all 
material respects with all of the agreements and covenants required by the 
Transaction Documents to be performed or complied with by them at or prior to 
the Closing Date, (2) the representations and warranties of The Limited and 
Seller contained in this Agreement and in any certificate or other writing 
delivered by The Limited or Seller pursuant hereto shall be accurate at and as 
of the Closing Date, as if made at and as of such time, except for any 
inaccuracies which, individually or in the aggregate, would not constitute or, 
would not reasonably be expected to constitute, a Material Adverse Effect and 
(3) Buyer shall have 
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received a certificate signed by an executive officer of The Limited to the 
foregoing effect. 
 
     (b)  The Limited and Seller shall have caused the following documents to be 
delivered to Parent and Buyer: 
 
          (i)    an opinion of Davis Polk & Wardwell, dated the Closing Date, 
     the form of which is attached as Exhibit I; 
 
          (ii)   letters of resignation from the directors of the Company and 
     each Subsidiary; 
 
          (iii)  such other documents regarding the corporate organization, 
     existence, authorization and similar matters relating to The Limited, 
     Seller, the Company or any Subsidiary as Buyer may reasonably request; 
 
          (iv)   the Services Agreement; 
 
          (v)    the Store Leases Agreement; 
 
          (vi)   the HQ Lease; 
 
          (vii)  the Registration Agreement; 
 
          (viii) the Access and Waiver Agreement; 
 
          (ix)   the Covenant Agreement; and 
 
          (x)    the Master Sublease. 
 
     (c)  The conditions to the Banks' obligation to lend at least $285 million 
set forth in the Commitment Letter shall have been satisfied or waived. 
 
     Section 10.03.  Conditions to Obligation of The Limited and Seller.  The 
obligation of The Limited and Seller to consummate the Closing is subject to the 
satisfaction (or, to the extent permitted by Law, waiver by Seller) of the 
following further conditions: 
 
     (a)  (1) Parent and Buyer shall have performed or complied in all material 
respects with all of the agreements, covenants and conditions required by this 
Agreement to be performed or complied with by them on or prior to the Closing 
Date, (2) the representations and warranties of Parent and Buyer contained in 
this Agreement and in any certificate or other writing delivered by Parent or 
Buyer pursuant hereto shall be accurate at and as of the Closing Date, as if 
made at and as of such time, except for any inaccuracies which, individually or 
in the aggregate, would not have, or would not reasonably be expected to have, a 
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Parent Material Adverse Effect and (3) The Limited shall have received a 
certificate signed by an executive officer of Parent to the foregoing effect. 
 
     (b)  Parent and Buyer shall have caused the following documents to be 
delivered to The Limited and Seller: 
 
          (i)    an opinion of Drinker Biddle & Reath LLP, dated the Closing 
     Date, the form of which is attached as Exhibit J; 
 
          (ii)   such other documents regarding the corporate organization, 
     existence, authorization and similar matters relating to Parent or Buyer as 
     The Limited may reasonably request; 
 
          (iii)  the Services Agreement; 
 
          (iv)   the Store Leases Agreement; 
 
          (v)    the HQ Lease; 
 
          (vi)   the Registration Agreement; 
 
          (vii)  the Access and Waiver Agreement; 
 
          (viii) the Covenant Agreement; and 
 
          (ix)   the Master Sublease. 
 
     (c)  the Stock Consideration shall have been approved for listing on the 
Nasdaq Stock Market, subject to official notice of issuance. 
 
                                  ARTICLE 11 
                           Survival; Indemnification 
 
     Section 11.01.  Survival.  All of the representations and warranties of The 
Limited, Seller, Parent and Buyer contained in this Agreement shall survive the 
Closing Date for a period of 12 months from the Closing Date, except that the 
representations and warranties in Section 3.17 and Articles 8 (other than 
representations and warranties with respect to Indemnified Taxes) and 9 shall 
survive until the expiration of the statute of limitations applicable to the 
matters covered thereby (giving effect to any waiver, mitigation or extension 
thereof) and the representations and warranties contained in Sections 3.01 (as 
to corporate existence and power and authority), 3.02, 3.05, 3.06, 3.07, 3.13, 
3.24 3.25, 4.01 (as to corporate existence and power and authority), 4.02, 4.08, 
4.09, 4.11 and 4.12 shall survive indefinitely.  The period of survival of the 
representations and warranties prescribed by this Section 11.01 is referred to 
as the "Survival Period."  The liabilities of Parent, Buyer, The Limited and 
Seller under their 
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respective representations and warranties will expire as of the expiration of 
the Survival Period; provided, however, that such expiration will not include, 
extend or apply to any representation or warranty, the breach of which is the 
subject of a written claim for indemnification made pursuant to the provisions 
of this Article 11 prior to the expiration of the applicable Survival Period for 
such representation or warranty. Except for the covenants set forth in Section 
5.01(a) and Section 6.01(a) (which will survive for a period of 12 months from 
the Closing Date) and as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the covenants and 
agreements of Parent, Buyer, The Limited and Seller contained in this Agreement 
shall survive Closing and shall continue in full force and effect indefinitely. 
The representations and warranties contained in Article 8 related to Indemnified 
Taxes shall not survive the Closing Date. 
 
     Section 11.02.  Indemnification.  (a) The Limited hereby indemnifies Parent 
and its Affiliates against and agrees to hold each of them harmless from any and 
all damage, loss, liability and expense (including, without limitation, 
reasonable expenses of investigation and reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses 
in connection with any action, suit or proceeding) ("Damages") incurred or 
suffered by Parent or any of its Affiliates arising out of or related in any way 
to (1) any inaccuracy or breach of any representation or warranty (each such 
inaccuracy and breach, a "Warranty Breach") or breach of a covenant, in each 
case of The Limited or Seller contained in this Agreement, (2) the litigation 
matters identified in Appendix 11.02 (the "Retained Litigation"), (3) the Credit 
Card Litigation, (4) any escheat liabilities or similar items under state 
unclaimed property laws, in each case in respect of matters arising prior to the 
Closing (including, without limitation, sales of gift certificates, issuances of 
checks and other transactions occurring prior to Closing, regardless of when the 
obligation to file an unclaimed property report arises) and (5) the manner in 
which The Limited or any of its Affiliates prosecutes any Retained Landlord 
Claim (for example, sanctions imposed as a result of inappropriate litigation 
activities) (as opposed to the fact that the Retained Landlord Claim was 
pursued); provided that with respect to indemnification by The Limited and 
Seller for any Warranty Breaches pursuant to this Section 11.02(a), in the 
absence of fraud or a willful and knowing misrepresentation, (1) The Limited and 
Seller shall not be liable unless the aggregate amount of Damages with respect 
to all such Warranty Breaches exceeds $8,350,000 and then only to the extent of 
such excess, (2) The Limited and Seller shall have no liability for any 
individual claim for Damages that is less than $25,000 and (3) The Limited's and 
Seller's maximum liability shall not exceed $135,000,000; provided, however, 
that such limitations in clauses (1), (2) and (3) shall not be applicable to any 
Warranty Breach arising under Sections 3.01 (as to corporate existence and power 
and authority), 3.02, 3.05, 3.06, 3.07, 3.24 or 3.25. 
 
     (b)  Parent hereby indemnifies The Limited and its Affiliates against and 
agrees to hold each of them harmless from any and all Damages incurred or 
suffered by The Limited or any of its Affiliates arising out of or related in 
any 
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way to (1) any Warranty Breach or breach of a covenant, in each case of Parent 
or Buyer contained in this Agreement, (2) to the extent contemplated by Section 
6.05(b), any Financial Support Arrangements in connection with the business 
liabilities, obligations or operations of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries 
for which Parent or Buyer has not been able to secure the unconditional release 
of The Limited and its Affiliates from their obligations thereunder, and (3) 
except as expressly provided herein, the assets, business or operations of the 
Company or any of its Subsidiaries, whether before, at or after the Closing; 
provided that with respect to indemnification by Parent and Buyer for any 
Warranty Breaches pursuant to this Section 11.02(b), in the absence of fraud or 
a willful and knowing misrepresentation, (1) Parent and Buyer shall not be 
liable unless the aggregate amount of Damages with respect to all such Warranty 
Breaches exceeds $8,350,000 and then only to the extent of such excess, (2) 
Parent and Buyer shall have no liability for any individual claim for Damages 
that is less than $25,000 and (3) Parent's and Buyer's maximum liability shall 
not exceed $135,000,000; provided, however, that such limitations in clauses 
(1), (2) and (3) shall not be applicable to any Warranty Breach arising under 
Sections 4.01 (as to corporate existence and power and authority), 4.02, 4.06, 
4.08, 4.11 or 4.12. 
 
     (c)  Notwithstanding any of the provisions of this Article 11, Section 8.04 
shall provide the exclusive remedy for Parent's and its Affiliates' (and, after 
the Closing, the Company's and its Subsidiaries') recovery of any Tax Loss from 
The Limited and its Affiliates, and the procedures set forth in Section 8.04 
shall govern any claim for indemnification under such provision. 
 
     (d) It is understood and agreed that neither the $25,000 amount nor the 
$8,350,000 amount referred to in this Article 11 shall influence or affect, for 
any purpose under this Agreement, any determination as to whether an occurrence, 
event or matter is "material," whether a "Material Adverse Effect" has occurred 
or any similar matter. 
 
     Section 11.03. Procedures. (a) The party seeking indemnification under 
Sections 9.08 or 11.02 (the "Indemnified Party") agrees to give prompt notice to 
the party against whom indemnity is sought (the "Indemnifying Party") of the 
assertion of any claim, or the commencement of any suit, action or proceeding 
("Claim") in respect of which indemnity may be sought under such Section and 
will provide the Indemnifying Party such information with respect thereto that 
the Indemnifying Party may reasonably request. The failure to so notify the 
Indemnifying Party shall not relieve the Indemnifying Party of its obligations 
hereunder, except to the extent such failure shall have adversely prejudiced the 
Indemnifying Party. 
 
     (b) The Indemnifying Party shall be entitled to participate in the defense 
of any Claim asserted by any third party ("Third Party Claim") and, subject to 
the limitations set forth in this Section, shall be entitled to control the 
defense of such Third Party Claim and appoint lead counsel for such defense, in 
each case at 
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its expense; provided that it has acknowledged responsibility for the defense of 
such Claim; and provided further that The Limited shall control the defense of, 
and appoint the lead counsel in connection with, the Retained Litigation. 
 
 
     (c) If the Indemnifying Party shall assume the control of the defense of 
any Third Party Claim in accordance with the provisions of this Section 11.03, 
(1) the Indemnifying Party shall obtain the prior written consent of the 
Indemnified Party (which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or 
delayed) before entering into any settlement of such Third Party Claim and (2) 
the Indemnified Party shall be entitled to participate in the defense of such 
Third Party Claim and to employ separate counsel of its choice for such purpose. 
The fees and expenses of such separate counsel shall be paid by the Indemnified 
Party. 
 
     Section 11.04. Limitation on Damages. (a) The amount of any Damages payable 
under Section 11.02 by the Indemnifying Party shall be net of any amounts 
recovered by the Indemnified Party under applicable insurance policies. 
 
     (b) The Indemnifying Party shall not be liable under Section 11.02 for any 
(1) Damages relating to any matter to the extent that (A) there is included in 
the Closing Statement of Net Tangible Assets an identifiable liability or 
reserve (including liabilities or reserves that are not individual line items, 
but are identifiable components of a line item) specifically relating to such 
matter (it being understood that the Indemnifying Party shall be liable for the 
excess of the Damages over such identifiable liability or reserve) or (B) the 
Indemnified Party had otherwise been compensated for such matter pursuant to the 
purchase price adjustment mechanism contemplated by Sections 2.03 and 2.04 (it 
being understood that the Indemnifying Party shall be liable only for the excess 
of the Damages over such purchase price adjustment compensation) or (2) punitive 
Damages. 
 
     (c) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, except for 
Damages arising out of a breach of the representation set forth in the first 
sentence of Section 3.08, no Damages shall be determined or increased based on 
any multiple of any financial measure (including earnings, sales or other 
benchmarks) that might have been used by Parent or Buyer in the valuation of the 
Company and its Subsidiaries or their businesses and operations (it being 
understood that the foregoing exception for Damages arising out of a breach of 
the representation set forth in the first sentence of Section 3.08 shall not 
constitute an admission or acknowledgement that Damages in respect of such a 
breach should be determined or increased based on any such multiple, but instead 
is simply an exception to the prohibition on making such a claim in the case of 
such a breach). 
 
     Section 11.05. Assignment of Claims. If the Indemnified Party receives any 
payment from an Indemnifying Party in respect of any Damages pursuant to Section 
11.02 and the Indemnified Party could have recovered all or a part of such 
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Damages from a third party (other than from the Company, any Subsidiary, any 
Affiliate of the Company or any current or former employee or agent of any such 
Persons) (a "Potential Contributor") based on the underlying Claim asserted 
against the Indemnifying Party, the Indemnified Party shall assign such of its 
rights to proceed against the Potential Contributor as are necessary to permit 
the Indemnifying Party to recover from the Potential Contributor the amount of 
such payment. 
 
     Section 11.06. Exclusivity. Except as specifically set forth in this 
Agreement, Parent waives any rights and claims Parent and its Affiliates may 
have against The Limited and its Affiliates, whether in law or in equity, 
relating to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective 
assets, business or operations, the Shares or the transactions contemplated 
hereby, and The Limited waives any such rights and claims The Limited and its 
Affiliates may have against Parent and its Affiliates, the Company or any of its 
Subsidiaries. The rights and claims waived hereby include, without limitation, 
claims for contribution or other rights of recovery arising out of or relating 
to any Environmental Law, claims for breach of contract, breach of 
representation or warranty, negligent misrepresentation and all other claims for 
breach of duty. Notwithstanding the foregoing, it is understood that nothing 
herein shall prohibit any party hereto from exercising its rights to seek 
equitable relief with respect to a breach of covenant or agreement under any 
Transaction Document. 
 
                                  ARTICLE 12 
 
                                  Termination 
 
     Section 12.01. Grounds for Termination. This Agreement may be terminated 
and the transactions contemplated herein may be abandoned at any time prior to 
the Closing: 
 
     (a)  by mutual written agreement of Seller and Buyer; 
 
     (b) by either Seller or Buyer if the Closing shall not have been 
consummated on or before September 30, 2001 (the "Termination Date"); provided, 
however, that neither of the parties may terminate this Agreement pursuant to 
this clause if the Closing shall not have been consummated by the Termination 
Date by reason of the failure of such party or any of its Affiliates to perform 
in all material respects any of its or their respective covenants or agreements 
contained in this Agreement; 
 
     (c) by either Buyer, on the one hand, or Seller, on the other hand, if a 
material breach of any provision of this Agreement has been committed by the 
other party or any of its Affiliates and such breach is not capable of being 
satisfied or cured by the Termination Date; or 
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     (d) by either Seller or Buyer if consummation of the transactions 
contemplated hereby would violate any nonappealable final order, decree or 
judgment of any court or governmental body having competent jurisdiction. 
 
     The party desiring to terminate this Agreement pursuant to clauses 
12.01(b)-(d) shall give notice of such termination to the other party. 
 
     Section 12.02. Effect of Termination. If this Agreement is terminated as 
permitted by Section 12.01, such termination shall be without liability of any 
party (or any Affiliate, stockholder, director, officer, employee, agent, 
consultant or representative of such party) to any other party to this 
Agreement; provided that if such termination shall result from the (1) failure 
of any party to fulfill a condition to the performance of the obligations of the 
other parties that is within the control of such party, (2) failure of any party 
to this Agreement to perform a covenant or agreement contained in any 
Transaction Document, (3) breach by any party hereto of any representation or 
warranty contained herein made as of the date of this Agreement or (4) willful 
or negligent breach by any party to this Agreement of any representation or 
warranty (other than a breach of any representation or warranty specified in 
clause (3)) contained in any Transaction Document, such party shall be fully 
liable for any and all Damages incurred or suffered by any other party as a 
result of such failure or breach. The provisions of Sections 5.04(a)(2), 5.13, 
6.02 (it being understood that all provisions of the Confidentiality Agreement 
will remain in full force and effect), 6.07, 6.09, 12.02 and Article 13 shall 
survive any termination hereof pursuant to Section 12.01. 
 
                                  ARTICLE 13 
 
                                 Miscellaneous 
 
     Section 13.01. Notices. All notices, requests and other communications to 
any party hereunder shall be in writing (including facsimile transmission) and 
shall be given, 
 
          if to Parent or Buyer, to: 
 
               Charming Shoppes, Inc. 
               450 Winks Lane 
               Bensalem, PA 19020 
               Attention: Eric M. Specter 
               Fax: (215) 638-6648 
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               with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to: 
 
               Drinker Biddle & Reath LLP 
               One Logan Square 
               18/th/ and Cherry Streets 
               Philadelphia, PA 19103 
               Attention: Howard A. Blum 
               Fax: (215) 988-2757 
 
          if to The Limited or to Seller, to: 
 
               The Limited, Inc. 
               Three Limited Parkway 
               Columbus, Ohio 43230 
               Attention: Samuel P. Fried 
               Fax: (614) 415-7188 
 
               with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to: 
 
               Davis Polk & Wardwell 
               450 Lexington Avenue 
               New York, New York 10017 
               Attention: David L. Caplan 
               Fax: (212) 450-4800 
 
or to such other address or telecopy number and with such other copies, as such 
party may hereafter specify for the purpose by notice to the other parties.  All 
such notices, requests and other communications shall be deemed received on the 
date of receipt by the recipient thereof if received prior to 5 p.m.  in the 
place of receipt and such day is a Business Day in the place of receipt. 
Otherwise, any such notice, request or communication shall be deemed not to have 
been received until the next succeeding Business Day in the place of receipt. 
Each such notice, request or other communication shall be effective (1) if given 
by telecopy, when such telecopy is transmitted to the telecopy number specified 
in this Section and evidence of receipt is received or (2) if given by any other 
means, upon delivery or refusal of delivery at the address specified in this 
Section 13.01. 
 
     Section 13.02. Amendments and Waivers. (a) Any provision of this Agreement 
may be amended or waived if, but only if, such amendment or waiver is in writing 
and is signed, in the case of an amendment, by each party to this Agreement, or 
in the case of a waiver, by the party against whom the waiver is to be 
effective. 
 
     (b) No failure or delay by any party in exercising any right, power or 
privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof nor shall any single or 
partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the 
exercise of 
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any other right, power or privilege. The rights and remedies herein provided 
shall be cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by law. 
 
     Section 13.03. Expenses. Except to the extent otherwise expressly provided 
in any of the Transaction Documents: (1) all costs and expenses incurred in 
connection with this Agreement shall be paid by the party incurring such cost or 
expense and (2) The Limited shall be responsible for all out-of-pocket costs and 
expenses incurred by the Company and its Subsidiaries prior to the Closing Date 
in connection with the preparation, execution and delivery of the Transaction 
Documents and the consummation of the Closing. 
 
     Section 13.04. Successors and Assigns. The provisions of this Agreement 
shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their 
respective successors and assigns; provided that no party may assign, delegate 
or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement 
without the consent of each other party hereto; provided, further, that Parent 
may assign its rights to indemnification under Article 8 and 11 of this 
Agreement to Parent's lenders under the credit and security arrangements to be 
entered into by Parent in connection with the Closing. 
 
     Section 13.05. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the law of the State of New York, without regard to 
the conflicts of law rules of such state. 
 
     Section 13.06. Jurisdiction. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this 
Agreement, the parties hereto agree that any suit, action or proceeding seeking 
to enforce any provision of, or based on any matter arising out of or in 
connection with, any of the Transaction Documents or the transactions 
contemplated thereby shall be brought in the United States District Court for 
the Southern District of New York or any New York State court sitting in New 
York City, Borough of Manhattan, so long as one of such courts shall have 
subject matter jurisdiction over such suit, action or proceeding, and that any 
cause of action arising out of any of the Transaction Documents shall be deemed 
to have arisen from a transaction of business in the State of New York, and each 
of the parties hereby irrevocably consents to the jurisdiction of such courts 
(and of the appropriate appellate courts therefrom) in any such suit, action or 
proceeding and irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any 
objection that it may now or hereafter have to the laying of the venue of any 
such suit, action or proceeding in any such court or that any such suit, action 
or proceeding which is brought in any such court has been brought in an 
inconvenient forum. Process in any such suit, action or proceeding may be served 
on any party anywhere in the world, whether within or without the jurisdiction 
of any such court. Without limiting the foregoing, each party agrees that 
service of process on such party as provided in Section 13.01 shall be deemed 
effective service of process on such party. 
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     Section 13.07. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY 
IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING 
ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED 
HEREBY. 
 
     Section 13.08. Counterparts; Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement may 
be signed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, 
with the same effect as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same 
instrument. Each Transaction Document shall become effective when each party 
thereto shall have received a counterpart thereof signed by the other party 
thereto. No Transaction Document is intended to confer upon any Person other 
than the parties thereto any rights or remedies hereunder. 
 
     Section 13.09. Entire Agreement. The Transaction Documents, together with 
the Confidentiality Agreement and The Limited Confidentiality Agreement, 
constitute the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject 
matter of this Agreement and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, 
both oral and written, between the parties with respect to the subject matter of 
this Agreement. No representation, inducement, promise, understanding, condition 
or warranty not set forth herein has been made or relied upon by any party 
hereto. 
 
     Section 13.10. Captions; Certain Terms. The captions herein are included 
for convenience of reference only and shall be ignored in the construction or 
interpretation hereof. All references to "$" or "dollars" shall be to United 
States dollars and all references to "days" shall be to calendar days unless 
otherwise specified. Whenever the words "include," "includes" or "including" are 
used in this Agreement, they shall be deemed to be followed by the words, 
"without limitation." 
 
     Section 13.11. Disclosure Schedule. The parties acknowledge and agree that 
(1) the Disclosure Schedule to this Agreement may include certain items and 
information solely for informational purposes for the convenience of Buyer and 
(2) the disclosure by The Limited or Seller of any matter in the Disclosure 
Schedule shall not be deemed to constitute an acknowledgment by The Limited or 
Seller that the matter is required to be disclosed by the terms of this 
Agreement or that the matter is material. If any section of the Disclosure 
Schedule discloses an item or information in such a way as to make its relevance 
to the disclosure required by another section of the Disclosure Schedule readily 
apparent, the matter shall be deemed to have been disclosed in such other 
section of the Disclosure Schedule, notwithstanding the omission of an 
appropriate cross-reference to such other section of the Disclosure Schedule. 
 
   [Remainder of page intentionally left blank; next page is signature page] 
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     IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be 
duly executed by their respective authorized officers as of the day and year 
first above written. 
 
 
                                       CHARMING SHOPPES, INC. 
 
 
                                       By: /s/ Eric M. Specter 
                                            Name:  Eric M. Specter 
                                            Title: Executive Vice President 
 
 
                                       VENICE ACQUISITION CORPORATION 
 
 
                                       By: /s/ Eric M. Specter 
                                            Name:  Eric M. Specter 
                                            Title: Vice President 
 
 
                                       LFAS, INC. 
 
 
                                       By: /s/ Douglas L. Williams 
                                            Name:  Douglas L. Williams 
                                            Title: Vice President, Senior 
                                                      Counsel 
 
 
                                       THE LIMITED, INC. 
 
 
                                       By: /s/ Timothy J. Faber 
                                            Name:  Timothy J. Faber 
                                            Title: Vice President-Treasury, 
                                                      Mergers and 
                                                      Acquisitions 
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                                                                      EXHIBIT 11 
                                                                      ---------- 
 
                      THE LIMITED, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
                       COMPUTATION OF PER SHARE EARNINGS 
 
                     (Thousands except per share amounts) 
 
 
 
                                                                            Thirteen Weeks Ended 
                                                                        ----------------------------- 
 
                                                                         November 3,      October 28, 
                                                                            2001             2000 
                                                                         -----------      ----------- 
                                                                                    
Net income                                                               $   90,151       $    49,231 
Less:  impact of IBI dilutive options and restricted shares on 
       consolidated income*                                                       -              (468) 
                                                                         -----------      ----------- 
 
Adjusted net income                                                      $   90,151       $    48,763 
                                                                         ===========      =========== 
 
Weighted average common shares outstanding: 
       Basic shares                                                         428,591           425,578 
       Dilutive effect of stock options and restricted shares                 4,223            15,791 
                                                                         -----------      ----------- 
 
       Diluted shares                                                       432,814           441,369 
                                                                         ===========      =========== 
 
Net income per diluted share                                             $     0.21       $      0.11 
                                                                         ===========      =========== 
 
 
                                                                            Thirty-nine Weeks Ended 
                                                                         ---------------------------- 
 
                                                                         November 3,      October 28, 
                                                                            2001             2000 
                                                                         -----------      ----------- 
                                                                                     
Net income                                                               $  192,392       $   189,754 
Less:  impact of IBI dilutive options and restricted shares on 
       consolidated income*                                                    (303)           (2,319) 
                                                                         -----------      ----------- 
 
Adjusted net income                                                      $  192,089       $   187,435 
                                                                         ===========      =========== 
 
Weighted average common shares outstanding: 
       Basic shares                                                         427,506           428,226 
       Dilutive effect of stock options and restricted shares                 7,266            16,075 
                                                                         -----------      ----------- 
 
       Diluted shares                                                       434,772           444,301 
                                                                         ===========      =========== 
 
Net income per diluted share                                             $     0.44       $      0.42 
                                                                         ===========      =========== 
 
 
*Represents the impact of dilutive options and restricted shares at Intimate 
Brands as a reduction to income. 
 



 
 
                                                                      EXHIBIT 15 
                                                                      ---------- 
 
 
December 14, 2001 
 
Securities and Exchange Commission 
450 5th Street, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20549 
 
 
Commissioners: 
 
We are aware that our report dated November 20, 2001 on our review of interim 
financial information of The Limited, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the "Company") 
as of and for the period ended November 3, 2001 and included in the Company's 
quarterly report on Form 1O-Q for the quarter then ended is incorporated by 
reference in its Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Registration Nos. 33- 
44041, 33-18533, 33-49871, 333-04927 and 333-04941) and on Form S-3 
(Registration Nos. 33-43832 and 33-53366). 
 
Very truly yours, 
 
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
 
Columbus, Ohio 
 


